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Corporate Profile 2 @&/

China Everbright Environment Group Limited (“Everbright
Environment” or the “Company”) is a backbone enterprise of
China Everbright Group Ltd. Everbright Environment is listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) (257.HK), and has two listed subsidiaries:
China Everbright Greentech Limited, which is listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (1257.HK), and China Everbright
Water Limited, which is listed on the Mainboard of the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited and the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (U9E.SG & 1857.HK). Since shifting its business
focus to the environmental sector in 2003, the Company has
grown into the largest environmental enterprise in China, a leading
player in Asia’s environmental protection industry, the world’s
largest waste-to-energy investor and operator, and a world-
renowned environmental group.

As the first one-stop integrated environmental solution provider
in China, Everbright Environment focuses on the areas of
environment, resources, energy and climate. Its main businesses
cover waste-to-energy and integrated waste treatment, integrated
biomass utilisation, hazardous and solid waste treatment,
environmental remediation, water environment management,
equipment manufacturing, waste sorting, environmental sanitation
integration, resource recycling, development of zero-waste
cities, energy-saving lighting, analysis and testing, research
and development relating to green technologies, ecological and
environmental planning and designing, as well as environmental
protection industrial parks. The Company has a business presence
in more than 210 locations across 25 provinces, municipalities,
autonomous regions and special administrative region in China, as
well as overseas markets including Germany, Poland, Vietham and
Mauritius.

Everbright Environment is a strategic partner of the International
Coalition for Green Development on the Belt and Road and the
Ecological Protection and Green Development of the Yangtze River
Economic Belt. The Company adheres to its corporate mission of
being “Devoted to Ecology and Environment for a Beautiful China”,
with recognitions of ranking the top among the “Top Ten Influential
Solid Waste Treatment Enterprises in China” for 11 consecutive
years, the top on the list of China’s Top 50 Environmental Enterprises
for three consecutive years, and being included in the MSCI China
Index for nine consecutive years. With the aspiration to “Create Better
Investment Value and Undertake More Social Responsibility”, the
Company has been shortlisted among the Fortune China 500 list for
the first time in 2021, as well as a constituent member of Dow Jones
Sustainability Indices for six years running, Hang Seng Corporate
Sustainability Benchmark Index for 11 years running, FTSE4Good
Index for five years running, and a member of S&P Global’s
Sustainability Yearbook for multiple times.
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
WANG Tianyi (Chairman of the Board)
LUAN Zusheng (Chief Executive Officer)No® !
HU Yanguo (Vice President)
QIAN Xiaodong (Vice President)
AN Xuesong (Vice President and Chief Financial Officer)N°te 2

Independent Non-executive Directors
FAN Yan Hok, Philip
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ZHAI Haitao

SUO Xuquan

COMPANY SECRETARY
POON Yuen Ling

REGISTERED OFFICE
Room 27083, 27th Floor
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16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
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Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
China Construction Bank Corporation
China Development Bank
China Everbright Bank Company Limited
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.
CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited
China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd.
DBS Bank Limited
Far Eastern International Bank Co., Ltd.
Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
Hang Seng Bank Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
ING Bank N.V.
International Finance Corporation
Mizuho Bank, Limited
Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited
Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd.
Ping An Bank Co., Ltd.
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
Taipei Fubon Commercial Bank Co., Ltd.
The Bank of East Asia, Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

Notes:
1. was appointed with effect from 1 June 2021

2. was appointed with effect from 5 October 2021
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SOLICITORS
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Zhong Lun Law Firm

AUDITOR
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Certified Public Accountants
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Financial Highlights Efi#iR

2021 2020 Percentage
—EBEC-—F —E-THF Change
HK$’000 HK$’000 Aokt
BT T BT T b=
RESULTS E
Revenue s 49,895,384 42,926,426 16%
EBITDA* BRAE - B TER
AT B R 15,027,003 12,851,501 17%

Profit attributable to equity holders AR G#EZIFA A

of the Company fE{LEF 6,804,099 6,015,863 13%
Return on shareholders’ equity (%) RREZE LB (%) 14.05 14.78 -0.73 ppt*
Basic earnings per share FlREAREF

(HK cents) GBI 110.76 97.93 13%
FINANCIAL POSITION B & AR
Total assets BEBRE 200,235,628 158,187,110 27%
Total liabilities BERE 135,893,406 102,642,506 32%
Equity attributable to equity holders 7R A &l#Ez5158 A

of the Company B 51,777,487 45,062,057 15%
Net asset value per share RAREERFEA

attributable to equity holders EEEREEFE

of the Company (HK$) (B7m) 8.429 7.336 15%
Gearing ratio (%)" BEABLER(%)" 68 65 3 ppt*
Current ratio (%) MBI (%) 124 133 -9 ppt*

*  EBITDA is the profit for the year before deduction of interest, taxation, * B F| 2 « BIE  E LBEFAFN ANEBFE -

depreciation and amortisation. 18 - e R REERA o
¥ ppt - percentage point  ppt- BN
*  Gearing ratio means the ratio of total liabilities to total assets. - BEABHRIEABAREEEEMATE LK
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Corporate Milestone ‘+EXEHE

FIRST QUARTER OF 2021
B GE-FE

Launched the Group’s first national key research and development project, as a leading
participant, on the Development and Application of Safe, Clean and Efficient Technologies for
Incineration of General Flammable Industrial Solid Waste

Shortlisted in S&P Global’s Sustainability Yearbook 2021, representing another international
recognition for the Group’s sustainability performance

Secured Suzhou Shengze Waste Transfer Service Project, representing a crucial step forward in
the business layout for the Group’s “Five Points in One Line” technical process for waste sorting
Announced 2020 annual results, with profit attributable to equity holders of the Company up by
16% as compared with 2019

The Company’s listed subsidiary China Everbright Greentech Limited acquired 60% equity stake
in Kellon Green Energy Limited in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“Hong Kong”),
expanding the Group’s business footprint to Hong Kong

ERNASEEERREHMAEEIELR [ RAAMIXEELZD2FEZSRMERMMAE RER] EX
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SECOND QUARTER OF 2021
B -FE-EE

Jiangsu Zhenjiang Sponge City Construction Public-Private-Partnership (“PPP”) Project shortlisted
among Top 5 in the 2021 Building Back Better Infrastructure Award of the United Nations
Economic Commission for Europe and granted an “Honorary Mention” certificate

Convened the Company’s 2021 annual general meeting

Multiple waste-to-energy projects of the Group included in the first batch of demonstrative green
PPP projects, which was issued by the National Development and Reform Commission of the
People’s Republic of China

Announced the appointment of Mr. Luan Zusheng to replace Mr. Wang Tianyi as the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company (the “CEQ”). Mr. Luan Zusheng had also joined the board (the
“Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company as the Executive Director; while Mr. Wang
Tianyi remained as the Executive Director and Chairman of the Board of the Company

Signed a memorandum of understanding with Asian Development Bank for strategic cooperation
towards a circular economy and the reduction of marine debris, in an effort to foster ocean health
in Asia

Issued the 2021 medium-term notes (series 1) (bond connect) with a principal amount of RMB2
billion which was subscribed by the institutional investors in the national inter-bank bond market
in China, with a subscription rate of 2.2 times

/Iéﬁﬁ/lxti%ﬁmk EﬁzﬁfuziAéﬁAf”HrPPPJ)Iﬁa)\lﬁﬁﬁ 5 BN
BE | EMRGEIETER  WER 42 RR EE
E%:E:—iﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂikA

AREBEETZENRBEEHEE AZRPEARENBEREEMNELZE S S AL GPPPIE B HAIZ
WMARRRER([EF))G([ES

&l
5

REZEE_T_—F (84

SHECRBRALEETRR L EAAAL R @ BR]) -

BUREHOES TARTEREACELNOEERERELE \ o
RSB RTRIRR RS - R ERE RN D85 RERBRAERE - HBTNEE
RIESBARKOBANAAT - F-—EEE—MHBEE(ESE) - Lh2ARITHESETS
PEHIER A& R R - RIS B2.0fE

‘\i{{)UNECE

HONORARY MENTION

% HAIRIE DRI ) FIR AT

Annual Report 2021 | Z T = — 4%




Corporate Milestone 2% AEHE

THIRD QUARTER OF 2021
—E--FE=3E

* Ranked first place in the Top 50 Environmental Enterprises in China, launched by China Environment
Chamber of Commerce, for the third consecutive year

¢ Shortlisted in the Fortune China 500 list for the first time, ranking the 283rd place

* Included in the FTSE4Good Index for the fifth consecutive year

* Entered into a collaboration agreement with Hong Kong Science and Technology Parks Corporation
to launch a green technology incubation and commercialisation platform in a bid to foster the
development of green technological innovation in Hong Kong

* Included in the Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability Benchmark Index for the 11th consecutive year

* Announced the appointment of Mr. An Xuesong as the Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer
of the Company, to succeed Mr. Wong Kam Chung, Raymond, who retired from his roles at the
Company
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FOURTH QUARTER OF 2021
—EC-FENEE

The research project on “Key Technologies and Applications for Intelligent Monitoring and Optimal
Operation of Municipal Waste Water Treatment Plants”, in which Everbright Water (Shenzhen)
Limited, a subsidiary of the Company’s listed subsidiary China Everbright Water Limited
(“Everbright Water”) participated as a key participant, received the second prize of the 2020 State
Scientific and Technological Progress Award

Included in the Dow Jones Sustainability Indices for the sixth consecutive year

Everbright Water secured Hebei Cangzhou Huanghua Waste Water Treatment Plant PPP Project,
marking an entry into the water market of Hebei Province and further improvement of the Group’s
market layout in the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region

Secured Shihezi Integrated Waste Treatment PPP Project in Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region,
further improving the Group’s business layout in Northwest China

Ranked first place in the “Top 10 Influential Solid Waste Treatment Enterprises in China”, for the
11th consecutive year
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Chairman’s Statement E#HR%E

Chairman of the Board
EFELE

Wang Tianyi

FR=&

10

In 2021, despite the global upheaval, China continued to make remarkable achievements. The shadow
cast by the COVID-19 pandemic (the “Pandemic”) continued to linger, causing further complications in the
international situation and bringing unprecedented change. Under pressure from all sides, China remained the
global model for economic development, as well as for the Pandemic prevention and control. The country’s
economy and industry chain have become more resilient, and it has adopted steps to construct a new
development paradigm and realised a moderately prosperous society in all respects, marking an impressive start
for the 14th Five-Year Plan period.

In 2021, with escalating global concern for carbon reduction, China continued to demonstrate
accountability. Amid changes unseen in a century, tackling climate change became a vital challenge for
humanity to achieve sustainable development. China made a solemn commitment to the international community
on “Peaking Carbon Dioxide Emissions” and “Achieving Carbon Neutrality” (“Dual Carbons”), making it a
major initiative of China’s 14th Five-Year Plan. The country conducted comprehensive deployment, clarified
responsibilities of various parties, and paid close attention to the implementation of relevant work. Within a brief
period of time, the implementation of the “Dual Carbons” goals was met with favor across the country, lending
significant momentum to China’s green and low-carbon development, as well as demonstrating its strong
capability and sense of responsibility as a major country.

CEC-F 2REFEE  TEARSKEN  FEETARESIENMARB(HIETRENEBLEETH  BRREEE
BEM AFAAZERRILE TEHATEEER)  BEKAKEZRNHFTRBEHENEIREHE - LBEME
ERFUEE SR BEFLRBR/BHHFE  2HER/FEHE  EBERT [THORIRFFHBE -

ZECD-F ARBEAR PEHEREE - XAFARBEZERYT  RIRECENA/ARERHERREETRF
RS - PETAESBEBR ML [HoEE ] [P A (T8 ])WEEAG  EREERAER A JRENE
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In 2021, Everbright Environment forged through headwinds with more robust development activities.
Looking back at this extraordinary year, China Everbright Environment Group Limited (“Everbright Environment”
or the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) maintained strategic focus, looked for tailwinds,
and overcame obstacles, amongst the grim and complex operating environment. With the goal of becoming
“a world-leading ecological and environmental group”, the Group continued to grow bigger, steadier, stronger,
and better. As a result, it accomplished all tasks and saw improvements in core operational indicators, further
solidifying its industry-leading position.

e The Group’s market size, business scale and operating efficiency continued to grow. Over the past year,
the Group continued to pursue high-quality development, continuously solidified its business foundation,
and optimised business expansion strategies. As a result, it broke into new markets including Xinjiang Uygur
Autonomous Region, Hong Kong and Mauritius, with an aggregate investment exceeding RMB152.455
billion, total assets surpassing HK$200.236 billion, and profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
recording approximately HK$8.866 billion. Additionally, the Group’s designed daily waste processing
capacity remained top across the globe, while its waste water treatment capacity, the second major source
of growth, achieved solid progress.

e The Group carried out “Carbon Emission Reduction”-linked work in a steady manner to serve the
national strategies. With a focus on China’s “Dual Carbons” strategic goals, the Group advanced effort
in implementing its “Three Carbons” development targets and action plan, which refers to “Becoming a
Carbon-Negative Enterprise, Developing Zero-Carbon Plants, and Pursuing Low-Carbon Lifestyle”. By
following such targets and action plan, the Group established a carbon emission calculation model based on
the country’s conditions, established the Carbon-Neutrality Technology Research and Development Center,
independently drafted the Whitepaper on Environmental Protection and Carbon Neutrality, and carried out
pilot projects such as in-plant solar energy and greenhouse gas emission monitoring — putting “Carbon
Emission Reduction” into practices.
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Chairman’s Statement FEHE

e The Group accelerated the enhancement of its strategic transformation, as its technological innovation-
driven approach took effect. With a focus on areas like solid waste treatment and environmental protection
equipment manufacturing, the Group strengthened effort in tackling technological problems, applying and
commercialising technological research results, in a bid to facilitate the development of other business
sectors of the Group, further enhancing the role of technological innovation in driving the Group’s
development. As a result, the Group has gradually transformed into “A Technology-Based Enterprise” from
“An Enterprise Equipped with Technologies”. It was the only awardee from the environmental management
sector that was shortlisted in the list of “2021 Top 100 New Technology Organisations in China”.

e The Group boosted effort in diversifying its financing portfolio, which improved and optimised its financial
management. In 2021, the Group issued bonds of different types with an aggregate amount exceeding
RMBS5 billion. This ensured abundant liquidity and kept its financial costs within a reasonable range for the
year around. In the meantime, the Group explored new financing channels to further optimise its diverse
financing portfolio that includes both long- and short-term financing tools.

e The Group also made noteworthy progress in brand building, further improving its brand image. As of 2021,
the Group ranked at the top of the list in “China’s Top 50 Environmental Enterprises” for three consecutive
years, was shortlisted for the Fortune China 500 list for the first time, and ranked first place for the eleventh
consecutive year in the “Top 10 Influential Solid Waste Treatment Enterprises in China”. It was also included
in the Dow Jones Sustainability Indices for six consecutive years and awarded the “Social Responsibility
Brand of the Year” for 7 consecutive years.

Looking back at the long trek of development, since 2018, the Group achieved rapid, healthy and steady
development by overcoming domestic and international challenges. Over the past 4 years, the Company saw its
compound annual growth rate (“CAGR”) of total assets reach 29%, CAGR of revenue record 26%, and CAGR
of the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company stand at 18%. The double of its business scale and
profit symbolises developing another “Everbright Environment” within this period of time. In 2021, the Company’s
stock price and market capitalisation grew steadily, reflecting recognition and confidence of the capital market.
The hard-won achievements rely on the diligence and hard work of all staff, as well as the long-term attention,
support and trust in the Group from all social circles. On behalf of the Board and the management of the
Company, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to all of you!
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Looking ahead to gather strength and stride forward, in June 2021, Mr. Luan Zusheng joined the Group
as Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, who has brought valuable resources and
advantages to the Group by promoting business optimisation, as well as enhancing corporate vitality and
efficiency. In October 2021, Mr. An Xuesong, Vice President of the Company, was appointed as the Executive
Director and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, to succeed Mr. Wong Kam Chung, Raymond (“Mr. Wong”),
who retired from his roles at the Company. On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to Mr. Wong for his dedicated, diligent and detailed working manners, and thank him for his contributions to
the Group for more than 20 years. The Group is confident that the Company’s management team will make full
use of their knowledge, experience and strengths to lead all staff ahead in the steady progress of the Group.
Adhering to a business philosophy of sharing its development results with the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”), the Board has proposed to pay a final dividend of HK15.0 cents per share to the Shareholders
for the year of 2021 (2020: HK16.0 cents per share), with the total dividend for the year amounting to HK34.0
cents per share (2020: HK30.0 cents per share).

Let us persist on the long and hard road, for success and a promising future lay ahead. The Group
has been committed to green business for more than a decade and this is reflected brightly in the brand. As
China’s largest environmental enterprise, a world-renowned environmental group, and facing challenges from
unprecedented changes in a century alongside climate change, the Group will stay firm, maintain its original
aspiration, and prioritise stability. Stepping into a critical year of China’s 14th Five-Year Plan, it will closely follow
the national policies and grasp opportunities for development. In a vital year of corporate transformation and
development, it will be fully committed to solidifying its existing strength and seeking innovation, with a focus
on its new development paradigm that includes “Four Major Areas”, namely environment, resources, energy
and climate. The Group will firmly carry out strategic transformation and high-quality sustainable development,
to continue value creation for the Shareholders and all stakeholders. It will strive to reach new heights on the
journey to becoming a “world-leading ecological and environmental group”.

BARR > BHBHE - —T-—F XA SARTENMALESR  ETXARFRTEZHAH - ALEEBEBLIR
Fo e EENEREREFTATRTEENEREES AF+ A ARFRAH LTSN CEEBERIRNEREL
AEEREDNEIRARTNTEERUKLE - ELEHPET  BE2AL  RERREEERORFE-+2F
RAEAEEMENEZEER - A2BFE AR EEEKEAN ERSENEH  KRNEY  TEXEETESE
WEAREEEBL AR - BEFRF  AAFBRFHEEBRR(RED DO ZEHERENCEES ERMRIIRE -
- —FEEREREERI5.08I(ZE-ZF  FR16.081) - 2EREBABAERIA.0BIN(—E-ZTF : §K
30.071l) -

FEEE  TAKE, THAR  KRAY - AREBTHEEXTHE  SCREALEER - ERTPERKARE
T¥ - 2RALRREE  AEEEHEFERMRAEELCHBRRKE  SREER  RHEOL BFEHE: £H
RITORIRSNERE  BERER  ENWE REML  AEOXEURROBRZF - K200k - THA
o BEHKRE AR R RIRS (M8 IBRHFER  BEMERKEL  SEHEREUHERR  HERRR
EXFNEERTEE EXER[2HBLLERREEE INEMATETEESE |

Wane TiaNyi
EFX&

Chairman of the Board
EERTE

Hong Kong, 15 March 2022
BB —E-_F#=A+hA
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In 2021, the world was still undergoing accelerated changes unseen in a century, with continued attack brought
by the COVID-19 pandemic (the “Pandemic”). China maintained its leading position in economic development
as well as the Pandemic prevention and control worldwide. Moreover, the building of a moderately prosperous
society in all respects across China has started the country’s 14th Five-Year Plan off on the right foot. Under the
increasingly complex and severe external environment, as China’s largest environmental enterprise, a leading
player in Asia’s environmental protection industry, the world’s largest waste-to-energy investor and operator,
and a world-renowned environmental group, Everbright Environment insists on providing quality environmental
services as its top priority, cementing its original aspiration, mission and strategy, and working together with all
sectors to survive this unprecedented period. During the year under review, facing new situations, challenges
and opportunities, the Group closely followed the “Four Three Three”! strategic deployment of China Everbright
Group Ltd. (“China Everbright Group”). By upholding “Value Creation” as its core, it focused on “Reducing
Pollution and Carbon Emissions” and “Solidifying Existing Strength and Pursuing Innovation”. In addition to
setting the “Three Carbons” development targets and action plan, the Group implemented its “Three Five Eight
Seven” development strategies. By following the trends, striving despite the difficulties, and fighting against
various challenges, it steadily carried out the strategic transformation, and continued to achieve growth in both
scale and profit, which further built upon its overall competitiveness and solidified its industry-leading position.

R —F EHUERESIIENBARB((HERBEDOFEFTET  2RDAFEAFERINEEENBIE
o PEEEERMRBHIERFZREL WL - BREEAER/NELE  BRT [TORIRFFARE - EEBEMER
B SMNBIRIE T  (ERTBERARBELE  DNRFEFLE 2RFANPREREELHLERANLRAEEE
RARREBRURHEEBERERBLSEZMET - RO E e MBEEE N - BEFREFHRE —AIPTR R AR
H-@MBEFERN BHEHTE  FhBEMTHE  AEEZRDPEAAEEROAR(THELAEE DN [HM==]
EEEERE - DA [BEAE I RL - BE RO B [<TRRIF | - YT [ =i IBRBEMTEAE - AARE
[ZANEIBREE  BBMG  FBEN  ABRHE BRIHEDERREL  BSRERGDLERNES £ 518
BEEAES - BETREEMM

! China Everbright Group’s “Four Three Three” strategic deployment: To create “Four World-leading”, “Three Domestic First-class”, and
“Three Domestically Distinctive” Everbright companies within five to ten years. Among which, the deployment aims to develop Everbright
Environment into a world-leading ecological and environmental group.

T RBEDEREE (== JEEAE  RRRETF  ERA N [MERREL]  [ZETE—R]  [ZEBASE NES AL - &
T BBRARBITERASRHELNERIRTEE -
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The “Three Carbons” Development Targets

(= BRER

To become
a carbon-negative enterprise
ERABRDE

To develop
zero-carbon plants
1T T TR

To pursue
low-carbon lifestyle
BRIEIRAETE

The “Three Five Eight Seven” Development Strategies

[ZR Nt [EREERE

Three areas

Five capabilities

Eight business sectors

Seven aspects as safeguards

ZKREH BEKEED NREBRR t R RE
Environment Market Environmental Eco-recycling Finance Human
RIR expansion energy AR B 75 resources
miSHE RIRAEIR AT
Resources Project Greentech Greenergy Bidding and Efficiency
=V construction 4B IRT st K BR A procurement G
TR Ei=E2 S
Energy Project Environmental Envirotech Budget Corporate
BEIR operation water e Al = culture
HHES RIRKTE PEXE
Equipment Equipment Environmental Safety and
manufacturing manufacturing planning environmental
KERE EERE IRIBEHRE management
LR HERE
(TRIR])ER

Technological
innovation

R alH
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During the year under review, the Group actively followed the national strategic goals of “Peaking Carbon
Emissions” and “Achieving Carbon Neutrality” (“Dual Carbons”), and focused on the “Three Carbons”
development targets and action plan. It increased investment in and accelerated relevant works relating to
“Carbon Emission Reduction”, such as research and studies, technology research, pilot programmes and
relevant exploration, with satisfying progress. In terms of research and studies, the Group organised a number
of discussion and exchange activities around the “Dual Carbons” theme, such as lectures, seminars and
symposiums during the year under review, to enhance the knowledge, depth of understanding and breadth of
vision in the field of “Dual Carbons”; the Group also organised the drafting of reports, action plans and the White
Paper on Environmental Protection and Carbon Neutrality, relating to the “Dual Carbons” theme. In terms of
technology research, the Group independently developed and improved its carbon emission calculation model
in line with the domestic situation and its own condition, to assess the Group’s carbon emission level and
develop future carbon reduction plans; additionally, the Group established the Carbon-Neutrality Technology
Research and Development Center, in a bid to build an innovation platform for the “Dual Carbons” strategies; it
also carried out research into core technologies relating to the “Dual Carbons” theme, such as carbon capture
technology and equipment. In terms of pilot programmes and relevant practices, the Group undertook a pilot
project on the on-site monitoring of greenhouse gas emission monitoring, which was initiated by the Ministry of
Ecology and Environment of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) (“MEE”), helping to lay a solid foundation
for the national carbon emission calculation for relevant industries; in addition, China Everbright Water Limited
(“Everbright Water”), a listed subsidiary of the Company, launched an “in-plant solar energy” pilot programme at
its waste water treatment project in Zibo, Shandong Province, and such solar energy facilities were connected to
the power grid in August 2021; in the meantime, the Group’s equipment manufacturing sector built solar energy
facilities on the roof of its plants, which were also connected to the power grid as early as in July 2021, laying a
good foundation for future expansion of such pilot projects.

In terms of operating results, during the year under review, the Group’s traditional business sectors continued
to develop and progress steadily, while the emerging business sectors gained momentum through active
exploration. Operating indicators, including revenue and profit attributable to equity holders of the Company,
recorded significant growth. The Group proceeded with project construction in a safe and orderly manner,
continuing to drive the growth of construction service revenue. Meanwhile, operation service revenue saw a
continued increase due to various measures taken to expand revenue streams, reduce expenditure and improve
efficiency, in addition to the increase in the number of operating projects. With regard to finance, the Group had
diverse access to financing channels, including both short- and long-term financing tools, with abundant capital
and good results across all financial indicators.

CEFEAR  AEBEEGEREZR (g ] - [P ([ DEKER T [ ZRIBRBFEMTEFE - mA
[FORBE IBRMMERE MR  AMRRETENRANENHRERE  YERERIFER - AREB @ -
AEEREBEFEAZXEZ SR I TERMRAEE M BRESSIAWNEE - 058 [ EHR R H FBH
B RBRENEHFRE  @RRS (BRI TERS - T8 CREFREERTN)ARES - RMHRT®E -
HBABEBRESER  BEMECTEMINZERL - BTGB S BUK T UL I RE R RFORBERES © BCIZHKH M
RO RO - STEER [ R BBNAF TS BRMBERMMEES (SR HEERRRRIIKE - AHE
BOH AEPEARRES(ERRER D EEREBHNEHEANSAMRE  SERETHBITERFRZESE
A ARBEWMBARFERXARKBEERIR ([ AR DRILREENSKERREBFART [BRAYKIARE
B ZRBENR-FT_—F)\AKNHERE  AKERERERRTANAABHEETREE T RIRRE - ZRiEh
ER-ZZF-_—FLAIBFHRAEE  RORE-FPEANVEAM TFEEE T RIFERE -

REFELE  DEFEARN AREEREBRRFERD  BPALE  HEEGRABERR BRI - Kamk
ARAEEFAABRERNELLEREGRELER  SHEBIEEREETYR L2648  FETHASENEE
R RSIER  BERBREEBEN KA A BERARER - BAEXN  HBELREEEHELA - MBS
| ARERERERERE  ZUBE Ben#  SHEMBERREBRL -
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Major operating indicators in 2021 are summarised in the table below:

TR -FIBRREXRERERENT

2021 2020 Percentage
—E-—F —E-EF Change
HK$°000 HK$'000 BAOLL
BETT BT g
Revenue WS 49,895,384 42,926,426 16%
Earnings before interest, taxes, BH &8 - FHIE - FER
depreciation and amortisation B HRI AR
(“EBITDA”) 15,027,003 12,851,501 17%
Profit attributable to RATERFB ABIERR
equity holders of the Company 6,804,099 6,015,863 13%
Basic earnings per share FREREF (EIW)
(HK cents) 110.76 97.93 13%

During the year under review, the Group recorded a total revenue of HK$48,363,852,000 from its environmental
energy, greentech and environmental water sectors, of which revenue from construction services increased by
5% from 2020 to HK$26,839,586,000, and revenue from operation services increased by 35% from 2020 to
HK$16,604,952,000. The revenue from construction services, operation services and finance income accounts
for 56%, 34% and 10% of the total, respectively.

During the year under review, with an aim to better align the capital needs for development in a timely and flexible
approach, the Group paid close attention to market dynamics, continued to explore and diversify financing
channels, balanced the expansion of long-term and short-term financing tools, enhanced liquidity management
proficiency, optimised its financing structure, and kept financial costs within reasonable levels, in order to further
improve financial security for the Group’s future development. In addition, the Group actively collected accounts
receivable, negotiated with banks to secure additional facility support, and obtained various domestic subsidies
worth RMB677 million in total. As of 31 December 2021, the Group had cash on hand amounting to HK$15.605
billion, with a reasonable gearing level and healthy financial position.

CEFEAN  AEEETRRER - FRIIRR - REKBIRBAOUKZE S HLiEHE848,363,852,0007T + E A @#EiERE
W %5 A7 #26,839,586,0000T * BR-FE_ZTFIERSY% ¢ BERENE BB 16,604,952,00070 ' R-ZE-_FFIER
35% ° FM L ER « BERBWE - BERBWE X BWAD BE56% * 34%K%10% o

EEFER > STENEE BEIMHEAZRRNESHR  AEEEVBIVRAFMATZEE  FHEFRIMESE
BRENZTCER  FTEREHBETANGDR H BARSHUHERKT  BLRERE  SEBEEMBRA  FE&
FEAEEHRNOMBRE o I NREBRERESBREER - BRTEFESHEREE  UIRFERSHEE
CHPEARBTTRT - R-Z-_—F+-A=1+—8B  AEEFHELEFEK156.0587T  BEKFEE - M5
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The Group’s major financing arrangements in 2021 are summarised in the table below:

R AEEXERETHRENT

Issue date
HITHH

Financing activities and uses of proceeds
MERUNESEETRE

Issue size (RMB)
ETRE(ARKE)

December 2021
—E—F+=A

Everbright Environmental Protection (China) Limited* (“EEP
China”), the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, issued
Series 1 Green Private Placement Asset-backed Notes
(Carbon Neutrality Bond)* for the year 2021 in the national
inter-bank bond market. The proceeds were used by EEP
China and its subsidiaries for replenishment of working
capital, repayment of debts to financial institutions and/or any
other purposes in compliance with relevant national industrial
policies and applicable laws and regulations.
RARZEMBRRIKAREBR(PE)BRAF(HKRERF
R EBRBRTRESTSET S —FEE—B&KEEM
BEXHERIRFNE)  SEESARBRARNRERPER
HMBRARMRBE W EEELSRBBERR SHEMRFE
Bl X 8 B EE X BUR A E A ERERAE -

approximately
672 million
#6.7218 7T

August 2021
—E-—%)1\A

Everbright Water issued its first tranche of RMB-
denominated super & short-term commercial papers in
the national inter-bank bond market. The proceeds were
used to replenish the working capital of Everbright Water’s
subsidiaries.
KARKBREBERITEESFTSETE—PHARKAEBEH
MES  BEETHARBRAANKBHBRARTNEEESD -

800 million
8187T

July 2021
ZEZ—F+A

China Everbright Greentech Limited (“Everbright Greentech”),
the Company’s listed subsidiary, issued the Green Medium-
Term Notes (“MTN”) (Series 1) (Bond Connect/Carbon-
Neutral Bond/Rural Vitalisation), China’s first green MTN
relating to carbon neutrality and rural vitalisation in the
national inter-bank bond market. The proceeds were used
to repay project loans of relevant agricultural and forestry
biomass projects of Everbright Greentech.

RRARW ETHBARPEAARGERRBER OB ([ SAZE
BRDPRE2ERTEESTSETE - RRETHRER(ES
B WA RE, BN IRE) - IR B B R A K B A 4R
HERETHRERE S£EeARNEEXRGERRFEETEMN
EYMEEBHIERER o

1 billion
10187

June 2021
—E-—%FHAH

The Company issued its first tranche of 2021 MTN (Bond
Connect) in the national inter-bank bond market. The
proceeds were used to replenish the daily working capital
for the Company’s subsidiaries and repayment of bank
borrowings.
RARNEBEBRITHRESFTBET S —FEF—HTHR
B(EFR)  BEECANMRAARFNBARIEFTELES
MEERITER -

2 Dillion
2018 7T

*  For identification purpose only
* EBHEFI S
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Issue date Financing activities and uses of proceeds Issue size (RMB)

BITEHH MERLNEEES AR BITHRR(ARE)
April 2021 Everbright Greentech’s subsidiary issued its first asset- 589 million
—ZE-_—FMA backed notes in the national inter-bank bond market, with 5.89187T

receivables relating to the national subsidies for renewable
energy power prices as the underlying assets. The proceeds
were used to replenish the general working capital of
Everbright Greentech or repayment of borrowings.

KRG EBRRHOME A RN EERITEBSMIHETE B AR
XA BERREENINEE 2 REERAERNEEXHRE
B BEEcARNMAAARERERR—REEETHEES

January 2021 Everbright Water issued its second tranche of MTN in 1 billion
—_E-_—F—A the national inter-bank bond market. The proceeds were 10187t
used to replenish the working capital of Everbright Water’s
subsidiaries.

RAKBREBRTEESTSETE BT HRE  58E&
ERARBRARKEHBARNEEES

The Group remains dedicated to creating value for and sharing development returns with the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”). To reward the Shareholders for their support, and taking into account the
Group’s long-term development, the Board proposed to pay a final dividend of HK15.0 cents per share as of
31 December 2021 to the Shareholders (2020: HK16.0 cents per share), with the total dividend for the year
amounting to HK34.0 cents per share (2020: HK30.0 cents per share).

As of 31 December 2021, the Group had a business presence in more than 210 locations across 25 provinces,
municipalities, autonomous regions and special administrative region in China, with overseas business markets
in Germany, Poland, Vietnam and Mauritius. The Group secured a total of 528 environmental protection
projects, with an aggregate investment of approximately RMB152.455 billion. It also undertook 42 environmental
remediation services, 2 waste sorting services, 22 engineering, procurement and construction (“EPC”) projects,
5 energy management contract (“EMC”) projects and 4 operation and management (“O&M”) projects. As the
world’s largest waste-to-energy investor and operator, the Group had a total of 176 waste-to-energy projects
under its environmental energy and greentech sectors, with an aggregate designed daily household waste
processing capacity of 150,300 tonnes.

AEERNRRARRBRR(TERDAEEE  AFHRERAR - ROERRIHEREASEREZLR  EF22F
REE_T - —F+_A=1T—BHULEFERERARESFRI5.0EWTFRR(ZZ_ZF : 5KR16.0/8(l) - 2FRE
FRB4.08 (=T =FF : B&30.0/8l) -

HE-_T-—F+-A=+—H A£EEZEGREHEEZ2E25EE () « BRARMERNTHE - BM210Z AR
S BN S RER K MERTENREY  CEEREMNIRFEE A H528(E 0 BRIREHARE1,524.55(%
UL BAEEZAERIBEERS - 2@ RO ERE - 22 TELB(EPC))IEE « 5EARERERE(TEMC])EE I
MABZTEZREE - ARBIEARHGAMNNBEEREELE  HETRRERRBEECRRIRRE XA T L
FIEA 1761 - Rat B EIE A1/ 150,300M °
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During the year under review, the Group made steady progress against fierce market competition. While steadily
expanding its traditional businesses such as waste-to-energy and water treatment, the Group also actively
made a great effort in developing synergistic businesses such as food and kitchen waste treatment, sludge
treatment and disposal, as well as waste sorting and transfer, and fully promoted the expansion of emerging
businesses such as resource recycling, energy-saving lighting and environmental planning and design. In
doing so, the Group aims to build a business portfolio with the co-development of asset-light and asset-heavy
businesses, co-development of municipal and consumer businesses, and expansion of domestic and overseas
businesses. During the year under review, the Group made breakthroughs in the solid waste treatment market
in the Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region (“Xinjiang”), the water services markets in Tianjin Municipality, Hebei
Province and Mauritius, the solar energy market in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
(“Hong Kong”), and the waste sorting market in Changzhou City and Wujiang District of Suzhou City, Jiangsu
Province, further improving the Group’s domestic and overseas market presence. In 2021, the Group signed
69 new projects (including projects secured through acquisitions) and 2 supplementary agreements on existing
projects, commanding a total investment of approximately RMB13.248 billion, covering various business areas
such as waste-to-energy, food and kitchen waste treatment, waste sorting, solar energy and water treatment. It
also undertook 2 waste sorting services, 6 environmental remediation services, 8 EPC projects, 2 EMC projects,
1 O&M project and 1 equipment supply service, with an aggregate contract value of approximately RMB331
million.

BEFEN  ARETEIZOMSHEFREPEILET LTAE EETHENREE KEEBSEREBNR
B AEERGZEEERESRNIFEE  SREEEE MBS EMEBEHRER U OHBERBENA
EIRERRAR  RIBMRBEIRA ST EEBNBERE  BONITE—EAREWR - IRWE - AINSBINEBKEAS - BE
Er;m REBFRE THEEEREBE(HNE)BEREMS - REM - ﬂit%&%i?iﬁﬁﬁw}@‘x?ﬁ% FEE
BEAINTHRE(EED)ARBETS  UAIHEMNT SNTRIENESE CE—HEREAREEEAN
MMEHE - S —F AEERFFCENEE (BEKREEE ) U K2H fﬁﬁl&iaﬁwﬁ}fﬁ% CRIEENARE
182481870 + W RNIREE BEF LB REE kDB - RREE  KEERSE  AE2EMRDERE - 6ER
RIEERY - 8EEPCIEE - 2(AEMCIEH  1AZFEZIAE - UR1REREHRHERY  6RARBEHARES31E
5T e
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The major designed treatment and supply capacities of the new projects secured in 2021 are summarised as
below:

TR FEMERRIRRGIREREEARHEAT

Project Category Designed Treatment/Supply Capacity
EA &R RETERIEHERIE
Household waste 13,100 tonnes/day
HTEBIIR 13,100W8,H

Food and kitchen waste 1,780 tonnes/day
BB I BT A B IR 1,780W8, A
Hazardous and solid waste 100,000 tonnes/year
15 B I [ FE 100,000M8 /4
Steam supply 598,800 tonnes/year
2L 598,800M /4
Water treatment* 543,000 m¥/day
KRR 543,00037 753K/ H

*  Including various types of water business, such as water supply, waste water treatment and reusable water.

Y BERK TR AKEKEEREHES

In terms of safety and environmental management, during the year under review, the Group focused on one
overall target, two critical areas, four integrated aspects and six key work priorities, making every effort to
provide solid safety and environmental protection to achieve high-quality transformation and development. In
2021, while continuously improving the safety and environmental protection management system, the Group
organised training and examinations for safety and environmental management qualifications, which further
strengthened the awareness of safety and environmental management at the sector level and across the project
companies. At the same time, the focus of work was placed at a basic level, and the supervision and inspection
of projects in various business sectors were strengthened. The relevant work progressed well and achieved
remarkable results.

RREEIH MEFEAN AREESK BT ENMEREE  BOREESs  HERRIE 2HRERS
EEEUERREHBENZRRE - —2-—F  ERHEREITELCREBHENRE A5EAZRR T RRER
ERBERILER  E—FNARTREKBEAFAEENZREEEEEE  AKITEEL MAIEERE—# > K
HBEEBRAEENEERENE  HETEERR T - KNBEE -
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In respect to project construction, during the year under review, the Group continued to adhere to the seven
principles of “Productivity, Efficiency, Quality, Cost-Effectiveness, Legitimacy, Safety and Integrity” and strictly
complied with the requirements of effective pandemic prevention and control measures in various places, and
gave full play to the dynamic management of the construction progress of each project, ensuring the orderly
progress of various project construction works, which continued to boost construction service revenue. In
2021, 91 projects completed construction and commenced operation, and 8 projects completed construction.
Meanwhile, 51 projects commenced construction, together with 6 environmental remediation services, 1 waste
sorting service, 4 EMC projects and 9 EPC projects that were completed and delivered.

In terms of operations management, during the year under review, the Group, with a focus on “Cost Reduction
and Efficiency Enhancement” and “Value Creation”, continued to uphold stringent management standards. On
the basis of ensuring stable operation and compliance with relevant emission standards, the Group proactively
promoted digitalisation and intelligent management, as well as enhanced the platform roles of its projects, to
further strengthen and refine its operations management proficiency, reduce costs and increase efficiency.

As an environmental protection enterprise and responsible corporate citizen, the Group regards efficient
environmental management along with timely and accurate environmental information disclosure as necessities
to fulfill its corporate obligations, as well as the basic right of the people. During the year under review, the
Group continued to open projects for public visits, to improve the standardisation, normalisation and localisation
of the project open-up, and to forge a closer relationship with relevant local authorities and communities, in a
bid to promote the long-term development of the shared interests among government authorities, businesses
and residents. During the year under review, the Group’s environmental protection projects received more
than 80,000 local and foreign visitors from all social circles. As of 31 December 2021, a total of 138 projects
had opened up for public visits. Under the backdrop of ongoing pandemic prevention and control, the Group’s
project companies organised online and offline project open-up activities, which effectively maintained attention
and interest of the communities in topics relating to ecological protection, sustainable development, and low-
carbon life.

TREZRITHE BEFEAN  AEERE [ 2RTEELZRILTHR  BREGSHHTREBEERIEMEEX - mH#
BHEEEERIREENPEER  RESEIREEGFHE - ﬁi?%t%ﬂ%ﬁﬂﬁkuﬂz sEF e ZF—F KEBERE
ARASETE B O1E - B ETIEESHE : A TIEBS1E - TLTURTHIRBIEERSE6ME - fif D ERM1E - EMCIE
B 4{E A M EPCTE B 9fH -

BEEEAE  DBEFER - NEBREE (A% - [EEAE]RA Tﬁbmﬁ HBEERE - Eﬁ@%lﬁmam_
17 EZHRNERF AEEBEREHEFL S8 Fe{tBEERER E—FPNBELETENBMALKTE -
AIBAY o

ERBRRILINEEUAREAEENTLELRAR  ARERE - TZAMNRBEEEMEKERNREEEHRERDLER
BB TRRV|EEZEN - MEFERN  ARBEEHPETREREARRFAN - BRARZFARTENRE
b~ BRACTAMAKT - FEEREWERTFIA R RROER R [RER I AARBNRRER - O
FER AREETRAREBEFEAISARALIZEZEEBEAR BHE-_FT_—F+-_A=1+—8  &F138
EEBEERART ARMABEE - ARBEFERLEHENERT  AEERB AR TRER LG THEESNTAESR
FHRIEE  ARESRI|ENERRE  AIHERRE  EREEFZAENEITIMER -
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During the year under review, the Group spared no effort in promoting synergy between pollution reduction and
carbon reduction, continuously driving the simultaneous improvement of economic, social and environmental
benefits, and integrating relevant measures and concepts into daily business operations. The Group’s major
environmental contribution in 2021 is summarised as below:

CEFEER  AEBTESDWHESBISIER - HREY  FEESLCE HEMBERUEOR SRS - AHEBS
ENESRMAIBBEBNRLED - T —F  AEEXZERRERBENT ¢

Treatment Capacity Environmental Contribution

FRIB IR REAR
Household waste processed 43,452,000 tonnes Generating green electricity of 22,271,602,000 kWh.
EENREIES 43,452,000M This output could support the annual electricity
Hazardous and solid waste processed 269,000 tonnes consumption needs of 18,559,000 households,
EERERRES 269 000NE equivalent to saving 8,909,000 tonnes of standard

coal, while reducing Carbon Dioxide (CO,)
Agricultural and forestry waste processed 7,964,000 tonnes emissions by 20,211,000 tonnes.

EAERNERE 7,964,000%% 2 4t 4 & & 5 22,271,602,000 F B 8 + 7 #

ZANTE

18,559,000 R EE—FF A - HEREHZE
8,909,000M8 - & — &b HkBER20,211,000M8 °

Waste water treated 1,698,710,000 m® Reducing Chemical Oxygen Demand (“COD”)
HKEEE 1,698,710,00037 A K discharge of 740,000 tonnes.
Waste-to-energy plants’ leachate treated 9,635,000 m?® R LRFHEE([CODJ) 740,000 -
NIRBEEHMLRREIES 9,635,000z /5 7K

Since the Group'’s first environmental protection project commenced operation in 2005, its aggregate major
environmental contribution is summarised as below:

BE-ZTRFEAKEEERRBEENK  ARERFNIERFEARMBENT ¢

Aggregate
Treatment Capacity Aggregate Environmental Contribution
ZETRERR R REERE
Household waste processed 168,957,000 tonnes  Generating green electricity of 80,724,029,000 kWh.
EENIREIES 168,957,000M8 This output could support the annual electricity
Hazardous and solid waste processed 1,340,000 tonnes consumption needs of 67,270,000 housenolds,
EELEEREE 1,340,000 equivalent to savmg 32,299,000 tonnes of
. standard coal, while reducing CO, emissions by
igncgl‘gral and ;)restry waste processed 26,608,000 tonnes 78,673,000 tonnes.
RMERNZEE 26,603,008 244 T /1 80,724,020,000 T 8 + A f
67,270,000 XK E—FEH - HERHHORE
32,290,0000 * &> — B (LB HERL78,673,000M#
Waste water treated 12,962,302,000 m* Reducing COD discharge of 4,952,000 tonnes.
EIKEIRE 12,962,302,00032 757K 54 CODHER4,952,000MF °
Waste-to-energy plants’ leachate treated 35,872,000 m?
NREEHLRRRES 35,872,000 J5 K

Annual Report 2021 | ZZT = —FF#

23



24

Management Discussion and Analysis &% 85t :mE 5 47

During the year under review, the Group continued to actively support and participate in various philanthropic
activities relating to environmental protection education, energy conservation and emission reduction, ecological
conservation, and community care. Among which, the Solar Dome at the Island House in Yuen Chau Tsai, Taipo,
Hong Kong, commenced operation. The Solar Dome was built by the World Wide Fund Hong Kong with support
from the Group through its Everbright Environment Charitable Foundation. The facility is developed to serve as a
sustainability educational base for Hong Kong students and other social groups to promote their concepts and
knowledge of renewable energy, sustainable development and ecological conservation. In addition, the Group
signed a memorandum of understanding with the Asian Development Bank ahead of World Oceans Day in 2021
for strategic cooperation toward the circular economy and the reduction of marine debris through strengthening
of the solid waste management system in Asia to foster ocean health. During the year under review, colleagues
from the Group’s Hong Kong office voluntarily participated in the Salvation Army Recycling Programme, donating
used clothes to people in need in Hong Kong, or selling them in the Salvation Army Family Store to use proceeds
to carry out community care services. Such programmes have effectively helped people in need to rebuild normal
lives during the Pandemic, and at the same time practice the concept of resource conservation and recycling.
At the project level, the Group’s project companies across multiple locations continued to actively respond to
various environmental protection themed festivals, such as “World Environment Day”, “World Water Day” and
“China Water Week”, promoting ecological environmental protection, and sustainable development with diverse
and lively activities, strengthening local communities’ understanding of environmental protection and sustainable
development issues, as well as solidifying the Group’s connections and mutual support with local residents.

CEFEARN  AEEEEEBRHIT2BEBREAHE - Eﬁﬁ%ﬁz?ﬁf HRERE  HRBESEHTENES QDA -
o ZK‘EEILﬂthKf& BRaZe@XHUERERES %/\ALLE’JKF@%/**EF%%K%EJH@EW‘
RERER TP LERILRALR EZE&LMET”EF%—H““%ZEEHJ HAEEBLESERER  SEVBLEER A
T%,%%?‘J?& HRERESEOMME - I REER T - —FHREFARMY - BSNRABRTEBREHTE -
E@BEREBEMR D SFSRENERAE  BONEBMABTNDREEERKF - R REEMEFR - H#
@J/Lﬂ@i%% AEEREEINOBEFEANER2ETREERRBRNE  BERYETEEEFTEAL
FHEEREERRECELRERARERARTRBERYE  EXBERRHEMEEDEEAERTENALERERLE
& ARBITHOER  BRAANES - ARAER  ARERAQFEECRHEGEERRTA] - [HHK

1 THREDKE | ZFE8BRERIEHB - UEMNZ T £NEHPARENRREEELRRE - AIRKEZRSHBEA
B Rt EHREEREENTRNRR  SASEREMHRRBNVBEE INRBE -

China Everbright Environment Group Limited | h B¢ KBS (£8) AR AR



In 2021, the Group received many honors in recognition of its effort in many aspects, including business
operation, business model, sustainable development and social responsibility. The major awards and recognition
are summarised as below:

T F AREEEBRLE  EHEN  UREER HEECFIEEERRN O REAE TERARKER

2T
Category Award/Recognition Awarding Organisation(s)
bl He1E B MREEHE
Business First place in the “Top 50 Environmental Enterprises ~ China Environment Chamber of
performance in China” (the third consecutive year) Commerce
EBRE [FREIRIBREE0% IBEEEECEERE=F) 2EITABIRENE

First place in the “Top 10 Influential Solid Waste
Treatment Enterprises in China” (the 11th
consecutive year)

[PEEETAFENCE IBEEE(EESE T —F)

Shortlisted in Fortune China 500 list for the first time
(ranking the 283rd place)
BRANEC(HE )R BI50058 (f251) 25283147 )

Everbright Water Shortlisted in the “Top Ten Influential

Enterprises in China’s Water Industry” (the fourth
consecutive year)

HRKBANE [FEKETATZENBEIBE
(EEENE)

E20 Environmental Platform
E20IREF A

Fortune China

CBAE ) (P XR)

E20 Environmental Platform
E20R%EF &

Annual Report 2021 | —Z = —F 43§
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Category
R

Award/Recognition

BB B

Awarding Organisation(s)

BEHE

Corporate
management
TrREE

Wang Tianyi, Chairman of the Board, recognised as
“Asia’s Best CEQ” (the fourth consecutive year)

EEe TR IREE [EMRECEOICEEEMNEF)

Excellent ESG Enterprise of 2020-2021
2020-2021F E B HESG %

Everbright Greentech and Everbright Water received
“A Special Mention for ESG” (Small Market
Capitalisation Category)

KREERR

(IERRR)

FEARKIG IR [ESGHF Rl IR % 88 ]

Everbright Water received “Award of Excellence in

Corporate Governance” (Category for Newly-Listed

Companies) and “Award of Excellence in ESG”
(Category for Newly Listed Companies)

KAKBERF

[

RIE AR BB (G Em A RER) &

(BRI %ié\&a/uﬁtﬁj(%ﬁ_tm@T Bl

“The Asian Excellence Awards”
by Corporate Governance
Asia

(EMNEEER) DM =R

“Excellent ESG Recognition
Scheme” by Hong Kong
Economic Times

(BHBKEBRHOMELRE -
%i@&ﬁ% S %Eﬁﬂ?-uq:
Bl

“Best Corporate Governance
and ESG Awards in 2021”
by Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants

BEAGHMAR [2021FERE
PEEAMESGHEEIE |

Hong Kong Corporate
Governance and ESG
Excellence Awards
2021, jointly launched by
organisations including the
Chamber of Hong Kong
Listed Companies

BEELTARBEEH S B
K[ BB RRER Eﬁif&iﬁ
g RERE#ME2021 |

China Everbright Environment Group Limited | B KIR5 (£E) ARAF



Category
=R

Award/Recognition
HR1E R

Awarding Organisation(s)

BEHE

Business model
ES Y

Jiangsu Changzhou Waste-to-energy Project, Hainan
Sanya Waste-to-energy Project and Hunan Yiyang
Waste-to-energy Project shortlisted in first batch
of green Public-Private-Partnership (“PPP”) project

case studies

TEEMEREEBIRE B =ERREEIRR LHE
BENREBEEARGUGEBTMEEEREIE

(TPPPJ)IE B H A Z={

Jiangsu Zhenjiang Sponge City Construction PPP
Project shortlisted as top 5 in UNECE’s Building
Back Better Infrastructure Award 2021

LEELEAHMERPPPIEE ABKEBEMLS
20216 [ 4B i | B aR b BEIA AT 1 T ok

National Development and

Reform Commission of the
PRC

TEERERINEZES

United Nations Economic

Commission for Europe
(“UNECE”")

FEBEEBNEELZE S

(MgaEBEE )

Engineering and
construction
TRER

Zhejiang Quzhou Waste-to-energy Project (“Quzhou
Project”) won the Luban Prize for the second batch
between 2020 and 2021 in China’s construction

industry

T EINEREEEIEB ([HINEE | ES
2020-2021FEE - HHHERITIEBIE

China Construction Industry

Association

FREREXRBE

Technology research
and development
(“R&D”)

RBHZ R 3%

Ranked among “2021 China Top 100 New

Technology Companies”

B5 5 [2021 7 E#RH%1005% |

The research project on “Key Technologies and
Applications for Intelligent Monitoring and Optimal
Operation of Municipal Waste Water Treatment
Plants”, in which Everbright Water (Shenzhen)
Limited participated as a key participant, received
the second prize of the 2020 State Scientific and
Technological Progress Award

RRKBORYDBERRATHEREB KBz —2 MK
[ 357K BR IR RS B BE 1 FB L iE 1T A SR B iy Ke g
BIEG_Z_ZFE [AFXMERMES R | —FH8

Organisations including the

Internet Weekly of Chinese
Academy of Sciences and
Informatisation Research
Center of Chinese Academy
of Social Sciences

B (E BB E T -

R &R E2EE BT T
RLFHE

The Office of the National

Science Progress Awards

BRMERMER TIERAE

Annual Report 2021 | Z 2= —4 48§
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Category Award/Recognition Awarding Organisation(s)
Ll HI1E R TREE
Sustainable Included in the Sustainability Yearbook 2021 S&P Global
development (the fourth time) Y
ARFEER BERMACCOTFRRFBERFENETR)
Included in the Dow Jones Sustainability Indices (the  Dow Jones
sixth consecutive year) JERE

BN EBITIRBERIEE R BEBERF)

Included in the Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability
Benchmark Index (the eleventh consecutive year)
EMANEBEAHEEROERLERHCEEE+—F)

Hang Seng Indexes

BAERH

Social responsibility
HEaME

Over 30 environmental protection projects of the

Group included in the fourth batch of environmental

facilities and municipal wastewater and waste

treatment facilities opening up to the public in China
AEEETNAI0ESHRRIEBEE B AEFMOIL2EH
IRR AR AN 11705 7K By I e B 2% pe ()

ZHE

V===

LN\ A~

R E L

Social Responsibility Brand of the Year (the seventh

consecutive year)

FEETRER(EESLF)

Outstanding Enterprise in Fighting Against the

Pandemic

R AR

Best Environmental Responsibility (the third

consecutive year)
RERRETR(EBFE=F)

MEE and the Ministry of
Housing and Urban Rural
Development of the PRC

PR AREIRIBES - EEAN
Yok A8 522 3R B

China Charity Festival
GNP ]

China Charity Festival
PR ARl

Asian Excellence Award of
Corporate Governance Asia

(EMNEEER) M= R

China Everbright Environment Group Limited | B KIR5 (£E) ARAF



ENVIRONMENTAL ENERGY = % #& i

Growing from Biggest to Best
W& AERRE = — - —

|. ENVIRONMENTAL ENERGY — * IRIREEIR
As a core business sector of the Group, the environmental energy sector keeps the largest scale and makes
up the Group’s biggest business portion, covering waste-to-energy, food and kitchen waste treatment,
leachate treatment, fly ash treatment, methane-to-energy, sludge treatment and disposal, construction and
decoration waste treatment, the development of environmental protection industrial parks, among others.
During the year under review, the Group’s environmental energy sector kept its leading position in the waste-
to-energy industry.

As of 31 December 2021, environmental energy had invested in and held 230 projects, commanding a
total investment of approximately RMB89.865 billion, and undertook 1 O&M project and 5 EPC projects,
which are designed to have an annual household waste processing capacity of 50,789,750 tonnes, which is
expected to generate 17,103,380,763 kWh of annual on-grid electricity; an annual food and kitchen waste
processing capacity of 2,215,550 tonnes; an annual sludge treatment capacity of 394,200 tonnes; and an
annual medical waste processing capacity of 12,775 tonnes.

ERAEEETREREK  EBELESOROEBRLE - RREFRRBEBRIENREE  EFMERITE
B 2RREE  RKEE AREE SRRERE BERKEUREE  RREXEFRES - BLEFERN -
AEBIRRERIRBIZE LR EBITRBELMA

HEZ-—F+-_A=1+—0  RRERELEFTKLEBH230M[E  FREKELHARES8.65ETT © HAE1E

LELIE B MSEEPCIHE » RETREAFRIEA)ER50,789,750WF « F 4 E=£17,103,380,763 F R iF
FRIBPERNEAK2,215,5500F « G R IBI5E394,200M8 N FpRiB BB AE ) ([ 5RE | )12, 77508 o
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As of 31 December 2021, environmental energy’s waste-to-energy projects are summarised as follows:

HE-_ZT-_—F+-A=+—H BREFURFEFEEBELOT

Designed Processing

Project Status Number of Projects Capacity (tonnes/annum)
I8 B kR T8 B A2k () AR (MR, )

In operation* 129 41,737,750

wiE

Under construction 16 7,227,000

o=

* including an O&M project
* BEFHEZEH

In terms of market development, environmental energy faced challenges in the market, with increasingly
fierce market competition in 2021. The sector focused on three major business areas and leveraged the
Group’s “Five Points in One Line” process model for waste sorting, which includes sorting, transferring,
selecting, recycling and incinerating waste. While solidifying its leading position in the waste-to-energy
industry, environmental energy deeply explored the value of the industrial chain, while extending its business
value chain, in an attempt to effectively control destinations of waste at the front end and ensure efficient
incineration of waste at the back end. During the year under review, environmental energy secured 23 waste-
to-energy synergistic projects, covering waste sorting and transferring, food and kitchen waste treatment,
sludge treatment and disposal, medical waste treatment, fly ash treatment, heat supply, among others.
During the year under review, the sector secured 36 new projects (including projects secured through
acquisition), with a total investment of approximately RMB7.842 billion, in addition to undertaking 1 EPC
project, with a contract value of approximately RMB28 million. The newly secured projects contribute a
designed daily household waste processing capacity of 11,800 tonnes and a designed daily food and kitchen
waste processing capacity of 1,780 tonnes. Among these projects, the signing of Shihezi Integrated Waste
Treatment PPP Project in Xinjiang marks the expansion of the Group’s business into the autonomous region
and enhancement of the Group’s strategic position in northwest China. During the year under review, the
Group purchased the remaining 51% equity interest in the project company of Zhejiang Hangzhou Fuyang
Waste-to-energy Project, turning it into a wholly-owned project of the Group.

MEHEFE —E-—F RREFETSHEFASZZZINEET  HEEMHKE  BEIZU 8 IUEARE
o 8 % A BIONESE AN G IBNEE  C2ENREBERBMMORE - FBIGH#EE LR
EHRAEBER  CLHREXENBRES  REZEXEEE  FImBREENRAR @ BHRESSINEREN
Ko @EEEFEW ’ %{%ﬁ%iﬁ%ﬂrﬂx’eiji%é%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁlﬁE231! WENROBEREE  EFLEHRNFER 5
eI BRI MRAGEE - #HE8% - OEFENR @ RIRERAES6EHMIEE (SWEIER) - A REBITREN
/\Eﬁ%78421‘ﬁ ¥&EEZ1EEPCIER » &R %EiﬁAEﬁngoo%ﬁ L RETRRE AR EEEEN 11,800

C BEEERESRAIR,7800E o e SEBEAA FARAN B NEEYEIEPPPIEEMEE  BREAEEE
%%H&?EE%%&SE M AREBEFREAILTSNEEGEE - DEFEAN - AEBBEEMTINMN S G REEE
BIEH RRISRT51% M - BIR THZIBAMEEZER -

China Everbright Environment Group Limited | Bl K3EE (%£8) AR AR



In terms of project construction, during the year under review, environmental energy had 64 projects
that completed construction and commenced operation. These projects are designed to have a daily
household waste processing capacity of 38,400 tonnes and a daily food and kitchen waste processing
capacity of 2,945 tonnes. 35 projects (including 1 EPC project) commenced construction, with a designed
daily household waste processing capacity of 13,000 tonnes and a designed daily food and kitchen waste
processing capacity of 2,290 tonnes. It is worth mentioning that, during the year under review, Quzhou
Project received the Luban Prize, the highest recognition in China’s construction industry. The project
represents the Group’s third environmental protection project that has received this prestigious honor,
following Shandong Ji'nan Waste-to-energy Project and Zhejiang Hangzhou Waste-to-energy Project. The
latest recognition fully reflects the excellence of the Group and environmental energy in terms of engineering
planning, construction and management in the field of environmental protection.

In terms of operations management, all projects under environmental energy strictly followed relevant emission
standards, optimised their safety and environmental management systems, conducted preliminary planning for
an information-based monitoring platform, and advanced progress of a new intelligent management platform to
the trial stage, in an attempt to boost management efficiency through internal optimisation. In 2021, the average
electricity generated per tonne of waste incinerated at environmental energy’s waste-to-energy projects reached
470 kKWh, with an integrated power consumption ratio of approximately 15%.

During the year under review, environmental energy contributed an EBITDA of HK$10,081,269,000, an increase
of 26% as compared with 2020. Environmental energy contributed a net profit attributable to the Group of
HK$5,974,688,000, an increase of 19% as compared with 2020. The increase in profit was mainly attributable
to the growth in the number of construction projects, and the continuing increase in the aggregate processing
capacity of the operating projects, driving an increase in construction service revenue and operation service
revenue.

TRREZRAE  BEFENRN  RREFRLE64EEE 2KIKE - RTHAEAAEEEEN 38,4000 - HEREE
B N EI by 2,045MF  35EIE B (EEPCIEE )M LR » RFHREABREA/EN 13,0000 - HEEE R KE
BRE7IN2,200ME - EHE—IEMNAE BMNEBREBEFENESERELATERSRESNE - A LR ERER
HEFEH  MIMMREETEER  AEEF-AELERELENRREL TR T AEERRRERE
RREY TREAE EZRNEE T ENSWES -

ELERETE  RRAERERERTHBEMRE  BLRREERE  VZREAGELMEETAER KEHER
BEFaENNRBE  URSEBCFBERRERT -  —2 = —F » RREFNRFEEIEE LA LE N R
BEEEFITOTRE - HAaMAEXL15% °

CIEFERN  RREREBGAE - HIE - FEREBHEANAFN S HEH10,081,269,0007T - M _—FT — TFIEN
26% ° BRIRELIRE BAA S B B F R A A ¥5,974,688,0007T * T ZTFILMN19% - BFILMNEEZHRE
BEENRERIBEEHRE LI N HELEBERIEREFELN  THRERBFUELELRBWHER -

Major operating data relating to environmental energy during 2021 are summarised in the table below:

“E- R RREREBZEIBELHERENT

Percentage
2021 2020 Change
—E-—-F —TTF BoLE
Waste processing volume W R R E ()
(tonnes) 40,534,000 29,273,000 38%
Food and kitchen waste 2B N B s I
processing volume (tonnes)  ERIE & (1A) 519,000 439,000 18%
On-grid electricity (MWh) FREE (KEE) 13,263,566 9,380,822 41%
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Seeking Diversification
with a Green Focus
RERB ZTER

32

GREENTECH — -« & &R {R

As of 31 December 2021, the Group held a 69.7% stake in Everbright Greentech, which is listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Everbright Greentech focuses on
hazardous and solid waste treatment, integrated biomass utilisation, solar energy, wind power, environmental
remediation, among others. It positions itself as a leading intelligent energy supplier dedicated to “Carbon
Neutrality”, as well as a prominent industrial hazardous waste treatment investor and operator in China.

As of 31 December 2021, Everbright Greentech had invested in 137 environmental protection projects,
with a total investment of approximately RMB32.891 billion. These projects are designed to have an annual
biomass raw material processing capacity of 8,089,800 tonnes, an annual household waste processing
capacity of 4,069,750 tonnes, and an annual hazardous and solid waste processing capacity of 2,941,900
tonnes, which are expected to generate 6,960,034,055 kWh of annual on-grid electricity and 5,118,000
tonnes of annual steam supply.

BE-_ZT-—F+_A=1—"8 AEEFAXALKBIRFREI.7%NED - AARCRRSBLEREIZMAR
NE(TBZMDERETAR - EBINCEIEERE  EWEFENA  AREE  RAE REBCESEBE
B ERATEELEN RPN BB REEALIXCEREREESR -

HEZZ-_—F+-A=+—H X AEERRLZETLERREE137E  RIEEHAREI28.911ETT ' &F
RE A FERIEAEYE R MELS,089,800WF « FERIE A E KK 4,069,750WF  F R E B RE I [E FE2,941,000WF « F |
#HE£6,960,034,055F FELAF ~ G £2%755,118,0000F -

As of 31 December 2021, Everbright Greentech’s hazardous and solid waste treatment projects are
summarised as follows:

BE_T_—Ft+_A=1+—H XAHERREEIEEZEBERBERAT :

Designed Processing

Project Status Number of Projects Capacity (tonnes/annum)
T8 B R A 18 B EZ (&) eI IR (W F)

In operation 31 958,400

®iE

Under construction 10 972,500

2
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With respect to market development, Everbright Greentech has been exploring the development potential
of its existing business areas by improving its management efficiency and technical capabilities. In the
meantime, Everbright Greentech, with a focus on China’s “Dual Carbons” strategic goals, proactively carried
out business transformation and explored new businesses and models such as energy storage. During
the year under review, Everbright Greentech acquired 60% equity stake in Kellon Green Energy Limited,
achieving a breakthrough in Hong Kong'’s solar energy market, which marks the Group’s business entry into
the city. In 2021, Everbright Greentech secured 17 new projects and signed 2 supplementary agreements for
existing projects, which command a total investment of approximately RMB1.201 billion. It also undertook 6
environmental remediation services, with a total contract value of approximately RMB150 million. The new
projects are designed to have an annual household waste processing capacity of 474,500 tonnes, an annual
steam supply capacity of 598,800 tonnes, an annual hazardous and solid waste processing capacity of
100,000 tonnes, and an installed capacity of 7.07 MW for solar energy.

In respect to project construction, during the year under review, Everbright Greentech had 16 projects that
completed construction and commenced operation, in addition to 5 projects that completed construction,
contributing a designed annual household waste processing capacity of 1,007,400 tonnes, and an annual
hazardous and solid waste processing capacity of 753,800 tonnes. 6 environmental remediation services
were completed and delivered in 2021. Separately, 11 projects commenced construction, with a designed
annual hazardous and solid waste processing capacity of 852,500 tonnes. 6 environmental remediation
services started respective remediation work in succession.

During the year under review, the Group’s greentech sector contributed an EBITDA of HK$2,931,990,000,
a decrease of 6% as compared with 2020. Greentech contributed a net profit attributable to the Group
of HK$870,487,000, a decrease of 21% as compared with 2020. The profit decrease reflected primarily
the adjustment of greentech’s development strategy to accommodate changes in national policies and
market developments, which resulted in the decline in revenue and profit from construction services. Profit
contributions from operations were also affected by rising prices for biological raw materials and the decline
in unit prices for hazardous and solid waste treatment.

MHEHRRAE  XAGECREBBEABTERE B NS FERAEBEENBREN  ANBEER

RIERIBKET BEHEDEBERN  RRECSETEBNIER - DBEFENR - X AEERRFRNIZERERT
AFEELHECRERERARC0%RE  REFEARLENS  EREAEEERRRMEZEE - T ——
FRRGEERERADNBI7TEHNEEVEZ2HREHENHRAGE - P REKRENARIE12.01187T « &ERE
1E1ERE6ME &RBSBEHAREILEL - FIERFAERFEBEENRA74, 50008 - F 4 fE2%)9598,800
W~ FRREEREKLERE100,0001 @« YA EEIEE7 07KE -

TRERAE BEFERN XAGCRALEI6EEEZENTE  5SEABEEEKTL ' RREAFRIEEEN
#%1,007,400W8 « F i & & FE M EE753,800M : 6REIRB[EBERBR_Z_—FKBEITELRNM o o - 11
EEBMITER R HEAFREBENERESS2,500MF ; 6EABEEERKER EERBIZMEBETRE -

EEFERN  AREHZERERRBEBMKRIE - 18 - TE REHAF)E2,031,990,000T ' EZZTZZFRH
D6% o R IRIRE BN B (L F B F) B %870,487,0007T - ?f7f7¢m9m%:%ﬂT&I EEBEREK
RRMSTENECTHARRALERER  SRRERBURELEBNEMRD - MEBEXB NI EWEM
BERERECEERBEGTRMPEZELREIBER -
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Major operating data relating to greentech during 2021 are summarised in the table below:

“TECF HEREZIEZELSHERENT

Percentage
2021 2020 Change
—E-—& —E-FF BALLEE
Waste processing volume W EIEE (HE)
(tonnes) 2,919,000 2,272,000 28%
Biomass raw material processing 4 & B k518 & (1)
volume (tonnes) 7,964,000 6,708,000 19%
Hazardous and solid waste EEkEERES (W)
processing volume (tonnes) 269,000 182,000 48%
Steam supply volume (tonnes)  Z St E = () 2,154,671 1,343,552 60%
On-grid electricity (MWh) HEAEEOKER) 6,310,119 5,623,505 12%

China Everbright Environment Group Limited | Bl AR (M) AR AT



ENVIRONMENTAL WATER @& k¥

Fxploring FUll-chain Business and Striving for Innovation
EPEEHER 2B RE

ENVIRONMENTAL WATER = -+ IR{RKE

As of 31 December 2021, the Group held a 72.87% stake in Everbright Water, which is listed on the
Mainboard of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. As a leading water environment management service provider in China, Everbright Water has
developed fully-fledged business coverage, which includes raw water protection, water supply, municipal
waste water treatment, industrial waste water treatment, reusable water, river-basin ecological restoration,
and sludge treatment and disposal. It has also formed a full industry chain in the water business, including
project investment, planning and design, technology R&D, engineering and construction and operations
management, among others.

As of 31 December 2021, Everbright Water had invested in and held 153 water projects, commanding a total
investment of approximately RMB28.434 billion. It also secured 4 EPC projects and 3 O&M projects. These
projects are designed to have an annual waste water treatment capacity of 2,175,619,000 m?3, an annual
reusable water supply capacity of 91,469,000 m?, and an annual water supply capacity of 310,250,000 m?.
The waste water source heat pump projects provide heating and cooling services to an area of 295,000 m?2.

BE_Z-_—F+-_A=1t—H AEEFAERLAKBT2.87%HNHEE - KAKBEE/HIMKEBLFLZZABER AT N
BRXFAEER LN AR - (ERFE—RAKREFAIGERBHER - XAKKEERRKFRE - K THES
KERFE -~ TEEEKERIE - pkEA - REEE  SERERESEEKEEZ  BEREBEAERKRE - REKRF - B
g - TR  EXEEEFERHRE -

BE_ZT_—F+-_A=+—8" %K7J<i‘%$ﬁﬁjﬂ%ﬁ15317kﬁ%lﬁﬁ I RABIREHN ARY284.3487T ¢ B

BEAEEPCHEB LIEEZAELIEE - R REAFEIEF/K2,175,619,00032 75K + F A 7K91,469,0003 7
K~ FHIK310,250,00037 5K ¢ J5AKRERIE B 7] £295,000F Aok AR EHEA R RSIRT
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As of 31 December 2021, Everbright Water’s water projects are summarised as follows:

BE-_ZT-—F+_A=1+—H8 RAKEIEKBEBBERAT :

Designed Water
Treatment Capacity

Project Status Number of Projects (m®/annum)

I8 B kR 18 B @2 (&) RETRIBRE (LK F)
In operation” 131 2,082,398,000

g

Under construction 11 335,800,000

o=

*

including O&M projects
* BEGHEZEH

In terms of market development, Everbright Water maintained an excellent momentum of expansion during
the year under review: It strode into two new domestic markets, Tianjin and Hebei, and consolidated
its business layout in the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei strategic region. Everbright Water also undertook its first
overseas O&M project in Mauritius, laying a good foundation for further breakthroughs in overseas markets
going forward. During the year under review, Everbright Water secured 15 new projects, with a total
investment of approximately RMB3.756 billion, and also undertook 1 O&M project and 1 EPC project. The
new projects are designed to have a daily waste water treatment capacity of 489,000 m® and a daily reusable
water supply of 54,000 m?.

In terms of project construction, Everbright Water continued to carry out its project construction work in an
orderly manner. During the year under review, 6 projects (including 1 EPC project) commenced construction,
with a total designed daily water treatment capacity of 130,000 m3. 11 projects completed construction and
commenced operation and 5 projects (including EPC projects) completed construction, with a total designed
daily water treatment capacity of 321,500 m?.

MEHEFE  AAKEREBEFERNRE T RIFNARDE - £r2BE AtMEBRATS  Z2EREE
B EENERHD EA%EIHﬁﬁPﬁﬁ\§1 BHONETEZIEE - ARNHE—TRBIGINTIHE T R ER -
EIEFEN  RAKBEEIMBISEFHIEELS - SRAREHARBI7.56EL  ZE1MEFLELHEE R1{EEPCHE
B o%ﬁig?&u+%m§=2%aréfiﬁ7j<489 00032 /7oK ~ Bt 7K54,00037 75 K °

TRRERIE  XAKBESEBIRERFEHEE - DFEFER  6(EER (EEPCHEHE B TER - Rt AKERE
#RE130,00032 5K ¢ 11ETE B 2AIRGE ~ 5(EE B (SEPCIER )KL » Rt HKEIEFE321,50052 /5K °
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In terms of operations management, Everbright Water actively focused on the national “Dual Carbons”
strategic goals during the year under review. It took the lead in launching pilot projects to optimise the energy
structure of waste water treatment plants based on its projects, participating in MEE’s pilot project on the
on-site monitoring of greenhouse gas emissions, and exploring the energy structure model and carbon
emission reduction plan of waste water treatment plants. In addition, Everbright Water launched its first
set of solar energy facilities at its Zibo Waste Water Treatment Project in Shandong Province. The facilities
were officially connected to the power grid in August 2021 and are expected to satisfy about 9% of the
project area’s electricity consumption annually, providing valuable experience for the future promotion of
solar energy in project areas. In 2021, a total of 9 waste water treatment plants of Everbright Water received
regulatory approval for tariff hikes, ranging between 4% and 58%.

During the year under review, the Group’s environmental water sector contributed an EBITDA of
HK$2,266,890,000, a 19% increase compared with 2020. Environmental water contributed a net profit
attributable to the Group of HK$897,011,000, a 22% increase compared with 2020. The increase in profit
was mainly attributable to the rise in construction activities, improvements to operations and the expansion
of business, driving the increase in construction service revenue and operation service revenue.

BEERIH  AANKBREBFEANRRESER [ SR8 AR - LAUETIEERKTE  BRISKEER
RRREBECHNIE  S2NERRRHEERBHNERE NS - RRSKEEMLREBRXMBORE
o B RROKBEEBA SRR Z M LS ESKERIER - ZXARREER - —F \AEAHEE
B AAFREEUMNCHRAENIS  SRKEEBRARRNEREELR - —T——F - S AKHKETESF
IKERIE AR EFEK(E - EFEEN F4%EE8% °

EEFEA  NEBRFRKERBEBRFE « B8 - EREHERFE HE%2,266,890,000T ' R-ZF-F
FIBIN19% » IRRKIEERIAE B EBIERF AB%897,011,0007T BT - TFEN22% : BF FATEZHE
REBEEEIEN  MELERNNEREBBRTDEZERFRERELEREKEIEE -

Major operating data relating to environmental water during 2021 are summarised in the table below:

TR F RRKBEBZIRZELREHRENT :

Percentage
2021 2020 Change
—B--F e B e
Waste water treatment volume  J5/KRIEE
(000 m?) (FILAHK) 1,698,700 1,559,096 9%
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EQUIPMENT MANUFACTURING
B A 0 i

setting World-class Quality witn
Everbright Inspiration
BKkE KXAXEE

IV. EQUIPMENT MANUFACTURING g - ##3%
As China’s backbone environmental protection equipment R&D and manufacturing provider, the Group’s
equipment manufacturing sector leverages Everbright Environmental Technical Equipment (Changzhou)
Limited* as the main platform to actively establish a new development structure that combines traditional and
new business. The sector has also further solidified its industry-leading position.

In terms of market expansion, during the year under review, equipment manufacturing actively explored the
business fields of food and kitchen waste treatment, hazardous waste treatment, medical waste treatment
and industrial waste treatment, as well as expanded into overseas markets including India, Bulgaria and
Thailand. In 2021, the sector signed 26 external sales contracts and sold 44 sets of equipment to external
markets, including 24 sets of grate furnaces, 12 sets of flue gas purification systems and 8 sets of leachate
treatment systems. It also secured contracts relating to external sale of completed sets of equipment
amounting to a total contract value of RMB926 million in 2021. In addition, equipment manufacturing set up
the Everbright Electric Appliance Division and launched a series of water purifier products during the year
under review. Beginning with the water purifier series, the division actively explores and deploys strategic
layout of the consumer market with positive progress in the sales of such consumer products.

ERTEEBRRREBIERER $'§laéﬁ%kz_*&iﬂ{&u%fnﬁia%&m KB(EMN)ARRABREIEFR &
BREEZERLMEFRESNTERRD - BRETERLMBA -

mBHhERSE  REFEAR  REREBGRZEFRESRNN - BF  BE  TXNREESFFEHES - Wi
ENE - RINFIZE - REFEINTIZMHBIRE R _7’_ F o RBRERRBIIMAER260 @ IMERE 44
B BERBEE24RE  BERFCEAGREI12EE  2RARERGEEE - T —F  BENINEKER
weRETREARK26( T - ¢t$7|\'“*1%%%EAEEE¢VW5Z_LT7‘5?(*“"%%*5 W FRERTIER
WAL A ARETRMEBOBBRZMNEE MR - HEARMEFOHEENGE THERER -

*

For identification purpose only
Y ERBFEE
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In terms of equipment supply and services, during the year under review, equipment manufacturing
commenced 53 service items, spanning 19 provinces, municipalities and autonomous regions in China. It
provided 38 sets of grate furnaces to projects of the Group and external clients, which have a designed
daily waste processing capacity of 19,500 tonnes. In addition, it sold 109 sets of equipment, covering grate
furnace systems, flue gas purification systems and leachate treatment systems.

In terms of after-sales services, during the year under review, equipment manufacturing actively developed
services that cover projects’ full-life cycles. Equipment manufacturing signed 160 contracts in relation to
external after-sales services, worth a total contract value of approximately RMB124 million. Throughout
2021, the sector provided 217 after-sales service projects.

During the year under review, the sector insisted on technological innovation and put emphasis on market
demand and changes, and made a great effort to promote technology and product optimisation and
innovative R&D, carrying out a number of technical projects and researches. The sector’s self-developed
water-cooled grate system for high-calorific-value industrial solid waste and the prototype of completed
sets of equipment were manufactured for trial; the domestic selective catalytic reduction (“SCR”) technology
was optimised to ensure denitrification efficiency while meeting relevant emission standards; the distributed
control system (“DCS”) was adopted to realise the integration of grate furnace and gas control systems,
with good operational outcome and marketing value; the membrane module of disc and tube type reverse
osmosis (“DTRO”) was developed and manufactured with stable application parameters, and the Company
started the self-developed external tubular ultrafiltration membrane to achieve a performance level similar
to products imported from the overseas while significantly reducing the procurement cost of ultrafiltration
membrane. In addition, the Group’s self-developed 1,000 tonnes/day grate furnace was successfully applied
in the Group’s Jiangsu Wujiang Waste-to-energy Project (“Wujiang Project”) during the year under review.

HEHERRSG @ - DEFEA  KEREMEHEBHERE3E - 2HRERN19ES EEMEERE - %
ASEREIRR RINBEFIEHBEEEISEE - Rt MR EHEIEN 19,5000 - TREEXREREHE109
B BMERBEERS  ERFEEGRERREGSE

RBTE  BEFEAR  KEREESBZRA2EHERBEHRY - KEJBIFERRBEER160 - AR

Ei&
BRemEARB1248T - — T —FHEHERRFEB217 -

4

CEFERN  KEREBFHMXEIFGIE  TEMSHREZE  KOESEMN - EROEECMAIFTE - H
RTZERMIBMRENT KEREEITENSREIXERKSENRAEKERGEAGEHRAR
T WEERZMEEMCERA(ISCR]) KM ETTEL - A RRFRERGEREMNERLR - KA D A2
RBEX(DCSHERBEHFMERZEN RSN~ ETHRRY - AEMSHEREEE  ARUEREARZE
(IDTRODER#AM - HERA2BUIEE  MRBRIEEXNRNBH - ZRIEINRHE O ERMERKTFORE - X
8 P AR R B AR ER R B AN o pb4h - KSR E B 91,0000, BIEHFE X BB 2 AR DY I A R AN SR BT A8 R 7Ty
FERERB(TRIERB]D -
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ECO-RECYCLING % & iF

Riding New Wave of
Waste Sorting and Recycling
TR —_ - Mg EMERE BEMNABNRGE

V. ECO-RECYCLING # - £8EE&R

SO HL

The Group’s eco-recycling sector rides on the “Five Points in One Line” process model for waste sorting and
the strategic plan of “One Body and Two Wings”, with a focus on three main business areas, namely waste
sorting and zero-waste cities, environmental sanitation integration, and resource recycling. It has positioned
itself as a first-class investor and operator in waste sorting and resource recycling across China.

During the year under review, eco-recycling actively followed up on business opportunities involving waste
sorting, environmental sanitation integration, recycling of construction waste and resource recycling in
Jiangsu, Yunan, Guangdong and other provinces. In 2021, the sector secured Shandong Ji’nan Kitchen
Waste Treatment Project (“Ji’'nan Kitchen Waste Project”) with an investment of approximately RMB449
million. It also signed contracts for Changzhou Economic Zone Waste Sorting Pilot Service (“Changzhou
Waste Sorting Service”) and Region-wide waste sorting service in Suzhou Wujiang Qidu Town, Jiangsu
Province, with a total contract value of approximately RMB6.7 million. During the year under review,
Changzhou Waste Sorting Service commenced operation, and Ji’'nan Kitchen Waste Project commenced
construction. In terms of business innovation, eco-recycling rode on the “Five Points in One Line” process
model for waste sorting and innovated payment mechanism during the year under review to explore and
improve their capabilities to generate profit from the waste sorting business. It also actively responded to the
synergistic demands of different sectors within the Group and explored research into phase change energy
storage technology and the heat supply business to broaden the mindset of future business development.

AEEERERRREBERUFAO R A —RIRMBERAR [ —BME |BRERE BRSO BEREEMR
Rt BEBEREB=ATEER  EUATE RN BREERBENAREELR -

CEFER  AREREHENTIH  ZE@ - BERFZEEHN  ZURMEFIE  RE B ZEIPER
bt  BEBRNASEGHE - —T——F  ARERBURERFRUREREER ([EEEHRRIER D)
WERENARKEALET  ABRBIIHEMNERERAIFE DB RES ([ EMER 0BRSS ) IAREMNRT L
EEBNE SRS PRERESBOARKE70ET - MEFER - BMNURSBREBRAES - HEr BRI
FRBFIZER - FBAIFITE  £RERNEBEFEANEGNREE [ AR IR - B BRG] R
RMEZLURDBEHNE HFEMINE  BHRERAKESRABRATR  KRAEREESMATEHE RS -
MRERREBERBE -
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GREENERGY 3 X m®eg

.

Fverbright's New Sodium Lamp
Lighting the Way Home -

YR B IE BRRE XM R

i

T
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VI. GREENERGY 7X + ¥ K F&AH

The Group’s greenergy sector adheres to the development philosophy of “Green, Healthy and Intelligent”
lighting. It focuses on the R&D, manufacturing and sales of energy-saving healthy lighting products, as well
as software and hardware products relating to the development of smart cities that are based on greenergy’s
intelligent light poles. Greenergy aims to provide lighting services for different scenarios and purposes,
including urban streets and tourism sites, in addition to solutions for the development of smart cities. The
sector targets to become a leading integrated service provider specialised in energy-saving lighting and the
development of smart cities in China.

In terms of market expansion, during the year under review, greenergy signed contracts, based on an
EMC model, for Tianjin Jinghai Urban District Streetlight Retrofitting Project (“Tianjin Jinghai Project”) and
Jiangsu Nanjing Jiangbei New Material Science and Technology Park Project (“Nanjing Jiangbei Project”). In
addition, greenergy secured 6 EPC projects (including 1 project secured through acquisition) in Shandong,
Jiangsu, Shaanxi, Zhejiang and Guangdong Provinces; the sector also obtained 1 equipment supply
service in Guangdong, with a total contract value of approximately RMB115 million. Greenergy also signed
74 contracts for the external direct sales of the Everbright New Sodium Lamps (the “Lamp”) and LED
lamps, with a contract value of approximately RMB12.69 million in total. In addition, during the year under
review, greenergy completed the acquisition of 70% equity interest in Jiangsu Wuxi Beijing Enterprises
Smart City Technology Co., Ltd. to further enhance its capabilities and experience in intelligent control and
management.

AEECRRAREA (46 - @BF B2 IRERES  TINMEERRBANRERRENESRENEZN
MERZOEEHERNITE - HENMHEE - AETER  XIKSBEFTRESRRANLLE SHHERELRYE
RGRTERE - RO BBERNRENESERB LS SR T EREA R -

MSHERTE - KARANRDEFEAUEMCEARZ XN ZF SEX BB B HENEER ([X2FEEE )T
g UM AR ER B (TFRUTIEIEE ) - RILER T » e - 41T - BREE6EEPCIRRE (B2 1ER
WU ABEMIER)  URERRGIERBHRERS - ARASBENOARE11GET  ARJBIHLRHRE R
LEDEHINEHA R4 - P REBASEHOARK1,26908 7T » I - X RXRARBEEE RN THOLEE K EL5
IEEE TR R AR R B T70%BAE S - — P18 o E 7 5 BE R I B 5 12 75 I A H Ay B AR B o
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In terms of project construction, during the year under review, greenergy’s Tianjin Jinghai Project, Nanjing
Jiangbei Project, Shandong Ji'nan Streetlight Retrofitting EMC Project and Tengzhou Streetlight Retrofitting
EMC Project completed construction. In terms of EPC projects, Shandong Ji’'nan Sungeng Street Streetlight
Retrofitting Project and 3 EPC projects secured by greenergy during the year under review also completed
construction. Additionally, Greenergy Intelligent Industrial Park proceeded construction work in an orderly
manner, which will serve as greenergy’s national R&D and production base to capitalise on its advantages in
energy-saving lighting technology and product scale production.

In addition, greenergy actively promoted the R&D and optimisation of its lighting products, which laid a solid
foundation to improve its product portfolio and expand the business scope. The achievements included
completion of the development of the Lamp products with low color temperature and full power models,
which have obtained relevant verification reports from the National Quality Supervision Testing Center; and
completion of the development of several study desktop lamps and craft lamps; the intelligent light poles
management platform has entered the testing stage with stable performance and has the preliminary ability
to provide market-oriented services; the management software platform for intelligent industrial parks is at a
fledgling stage of development; sample production of the smart gateway themes, single lamp controller and
prefabricated equipment compartment with independent intellectual property rights have been completed.
Additionally, greenergy’s Shenzhen branch obtained the 3A Enterprise Credit Certification and 5A Energy
Performance Contracting Certification; while the sector’s Ji’nan branch obtained the qualification for
Municipal Construction General Contracting Works as well as Grade lll Qualification for Urban and Road
Lighting Project and Nanjing branch obtained “Three-System” Certification.

TRERIE  BEFERN - REFEER  BRULILIER - ILREHEREEESUEEMCIA B A KB B & £ gk

BGEEMCIE B JERMET - EPCIER 1 E @ IR AR AN BRANGER B ARR REFEABIGHIEEPCIER &
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ENVIROTECH & &% &l

Pursuing Development Driven by
Technology and Innovation
B E AwmEE

VILENVIROTECH + - 4x &%l &l
Being the Group’s technology R&D and innovation engine, the envirotech sector has been leveraging its
“Four-in-One” technological innovation and R&D layout with platforms in Hong Kong, Shenzhen, Nanjing
and Qingdao, to foster and accelerate the Group’s strategic transformation, structure optimisation and
new business development. The sector aims to become a global platform dedicated to green technological
innovation and conversion.

In terms of R&D layout, in 2021, envirotech strived to cater to the development of traditional business,
new business and the future development needs, and to promote R&D work. By responding to the needs
of the Group’s other business sectors to facilitate their business development, envirotech completed
many technical support services for system designs, covering grate furnace, flue gas purification, leachate
treatment, control systems and others. Additionally, envirotech was actively carrying out “Dual Carbons”-
related theoretical and technical researches, achieving positive progress in many areas, such as optimisation
of carbon calculation model(s), pilot programmes on onsite monitoring of greenhouse gas emissions.
During the year under review, the Group reached a cooperation agreement with Hong Kong Science and
Technology Parks Corporation to become strategic partners with each other, in an attempt to launch a green
technology incubation and commercialisation platform in Hong Kong to support the development of start-
ups in the industry, jointly fostering the development of green technological innovation in the city.

ERAEEMEMERFNSIZE  KEMARBEREE  F - BR FEN [N IAEER  REAEE
BB SEel  FEEBEEMEME 2T EEREROZEN KA T RXNE1LFa -

MEmBIE - REMAN_F-_—FEHEE [HRERRST - BRANER - BRARRER] =[5 R HEER#E
T ANERSEBRRTR  TRREE  ERFL 2RREE  ZFHEREFZHRMR RN TR
B A ERMEBER o I REMAITEGHEE [ 2R ERMFAR  RiEEELEL  BEREBHN
EAFRHEZENTENSRIFER BHEFEARN  AEREEFEMRERRARECIERE  SRBESIERH
BFEBTEFENBEMCEBLTE  IRHEBHEBVALCERER  HBHEERERRAIMERER -
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The Group’s major R&D progress and results in 2021 are summarised as follows:

—TE-F ARBETENEEERLKBRAT

Business Area

E ARl

Research Result(s)/Topic(s)
7Rk R,RE

Solid waste treatment

[E] % 2 12

Passed the national appraisal of achievements on R&D and optimisation
of technologies relating to high-capacity wet de-acidification systems for
waste incineration, and overall, the technologies reached the international
advanced level with some reaching the international leading level
Completed testing on the 1,000 tonnes/day large-scale solid waste
incineration technologies at Wujiang Project which has filled the gap
between large-scale waste incineration and synergetic incineration at
home and abroad

Completed technology development relating to the 60 tonnes/day
ash plasma melting system and the detailed design and engineering
conversion of the full set of plasma melting equipment
ARBENPREREGER G ERBCRINEBEREANREE
BEDBER KT - O EDBERBLKF

#E 91,0000, B AR EERERMERRIEE TR EZHR - HE
B 7 I R AR AR B 3 3 6 AN 19 [R] 28 M ) e i 22
2E60ME,HRESEB T RARMANRKMAETE  SHTERIERE
E’jn??ﬁﬂuiu‘l’&l%ﬂiﬁ—r'fb’maﬁm

Flue gas treatment

1 R IR

Completed trial runs of the optimisation of application and exploration of
flue gas recirculation system at Wujiang Project
fERBREERME L ERRREE R)TIE B T AZET

Intelligent control

A BEFE

Self-developed intelligent control research and application technologies
for waste incineration, which had completed trial runs at the Group’s
waste-to-energy projects in Boluo County of Guangdong Province and
Lantian County of Shaanxi Province, passed the national appraisal of
achievements and reached the international advanced level
BEHENNIRRES SRR RERRIME BRI AN RETE - &
FIBPR KT - WEASECNEREEMRAZANNIREEIER
e AETT

Biomass utilisation

EME A

Completed the trial runs of activated carbon coupling technologies
for biomass power generation plants, which could significantly reduce
carbon emissions

EMEERBEBEEEREM K AET - IR BNHOREEE
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Business Area

E st

Research Result(s)/Topic(s)

WMEMRR,FE

Waste sorting
WK DR

Everbright Intelligent Renewable Resources Recycling System
(EB-iRRS) was put into commercial use and achieved satisfactory

results in the trial runs at the Group’s waste sorting projects in
Changzhou City of Jiangsu Province and Yingtan City of Jiangxi
Province
o KABHBEBROKRES(EB-IRRS)IAEA @ RAEBMNNIEHSE
MANIABEEN N RS FEB AR - BTEARL
Smart cities ° R&D of smart city systems based on smart light poles had been carried
EE T out for the smart cities and smart gateway, with relevant R&D results
tested in selected streets in Tianjin and Jiaozhou City of Shandong
Province
o HEHRNBEBEENEENMANMERBCELTENMESEAER
Fl - RERRRRERILRBMN AR RETRE
Others e Carried out R&D and productisation of new air disinfection and fresh air
HA equipment, in which the Group completed technical design of pollutant
purification and first prototype unit for trial
o FERMEESHEREHNNENEMCHRT BT RF MR
B SRS — (R A

As of 31 December 2021, patents that were granted to the Group are summarised in the table below:

BE_Z-_—F+_-_A=1+—H FAEEESEEZNERWT :

As of

31 December

2021

2021  (Accumulated)

BE-2--F%

+ZA=+-—H

—E_F (R3t)

Granted patents ERRN(E) 283 1,320
Invention patents ZHEAEF| 24 134
Utility patents ERAER 161 978
Software copyright licences I ZERF 81 184
Appearance patents SNER R 17 24
Major technical essays BERMmXER(R) 18 72
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ENVIRONMENTAL PLANNING miz#i &

Adopting a Novel Approach to Planning
and Enhancing Efficiency through Design
MEEHET LT HER

VILENVIRONMENTAL PLANNING N\ - IR3BHE
The Group’s environmental planning sector leverages the Everbright Ecological and Environmental Planning
and Design Institute (the “Institute”) as the main platform, with a focus on the environmental protection and
energy. It strives to build core technological capabilities, explore diversified business operations, enhance
technical capabilities, and expand business scope and industry chain, with the aim of becoming a first-class
planning and design institute in China.

During the year under review, the Institute made an active effort to meet the needs of the Group’s business
sectors and undertake relevant services, while continuing to strengthen its effort to explore external business
opportunities and carry out business planning. It signed a number of internal and external service contracts in
the field of consulting and design, EPC and other fields, with a total contract value of approximately RMB143
million.

AEBRBHRBMALCRERRBERAAER ((RRRF R D A/TEFE  EERFRMERMEEERE - &
BITERORMEE S REZ LS RIERMEIRE  HREERE  EHREXERE U —RERK
HBIRRETBr
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B RRBEBLZLENINIEREAR - FREART EPCHFERE - ARASBHARE1.436ET -
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During the year under review, the Institute actively focused on China’s “Dual Carbons” strategic goals and
was equipped with technical consulting capabilities on “carbon emission report verification” and “planning
for low-carbon, zero-waste and circular economy industrial parks” at an early stage through training, studies
and case practice. Meanwhile, the Institute pushed ahead with the planning and construction of a solution
that can simplify waste-to-energy projects and help such projects better meet the challenges of narrowed
development opportunities in the industry by optimising space, saving land use and reducing investment
costs.

In terms of obtaining qualifications, during the year under review, the Institute obtained the Grade
I Qualification for Professional Contracting of Environmental Protection Engineering Work, Grade A
Quialification for Environmental Engineering Work for Solid Waste, and Grade B Qualification for Architecture
Construction, progressing smoothly towards the goal of becoming a Grade A design institute. As of now,
the Institute has obtained a set of important qualifications relating to design and consulting, ecological
construction, as well as environmental engineering in the fields of electricity, municipalities and the
environment.

RERARNEAFENEREGEER [ £ 8 AT @BEIIEE  RUBBRFNRA - IFPETRITEREZ
EJF%M EEE BREPEXERE ISRMEREN - B RERAGHDRE N RHSEABMILCIE
BRI - B  FRERERA - BAHRRER FEHEHTEERERUENE -

éEL RO HE - REREFAFROEFEALRRERARIEEXZAS—QREYE REIBRBEEFLEL - 252

NRATEES  BIHERLERRITHAE - BHZ BRI RIRXAREBELESE H M - RIBESEL - ST
ARETFE C EREER RETRESEEZEE -
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Events After the Reporting Period & Hif % £18

(i)

(i

(i)

(iv)

(if)

(i)

On 18 February 2022, the Company announced that the application had been made to the National
Association of Financial Market Institutional Investors (“NAFMII”) for the perpetual medium-term notes to be
traded in the national inter-bank bond market. The registered issue size of the perpetual medium-term notes
shall not exceed RMBG6 billion, subject to the amount accepted for registration by the NAFMII. The base term
of the perpetual medium-term notes shall not exceed five years (inclusive).

On 12 January 2022, Everbright Water completed the issuance of the second tranche of RMB-denominated
Super & Short-term Commercial Papers to the institutional investors in the national inter-bank bond market,
with a principal amount of RMB1 billion, an interest rate of 2.50% per annum and a maturity period of 150
days. The proceeds from the issuance arrangement were used to replenish working capital of Everbright
Water’s subsidiaries.

On 25 February 2022, Everbright Water announced the result of the resale exercise in respect of the third
tranche of RMB-denominated corporate bonds with an aggregate principal amount of RMB700 million (“Third
Tranche Corporate Bonds”). Everbright Water had (i) repurchased Third Tranche Corporate Bonds with an
aggregate value of RMB251 million (“Repurchased Third Tranche Corporate Bonds”); and (i) resold the
Repurchased Third Tranche Corporate Bonds with an aggregate value of RMB251 million. Accordingly, there
were no unsold Repurchased Third Tranche Corporate Bonds which required to be cancelled.

On 11 March 2022, Everbright Greentech announced that the application had been made to the NAFMII for
the perpetual medium-term notes to be traded in the national inter-bank bond market. The registered issue
size of the perpetual medium-term notes shall not exceed RMB4 billion, subject to the amount accepted for
registration by the NAFMII. The base term of the perpetual medium-term notes shall not exceed three years
(inclusive).

RZZBZZF-ATN\A ARFEAFEBRTETERZEHEG ((ROTEXZEHE ) RBFKETHRERE
BIRTTHESFTHESE - XETHARBENEMETREETEBARBCOET - URITHERZEHSEZNEM
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Business Prospects 2% R 2

Going into 2022, the world is still shadowed by the Pandemic with economic recovery momentum continuing
to slow down, resulting in a more complex and critical market environment. Despite global volatility, China has
been able to cope with all kinds of changes, risks and challenges in the past, forging ahead with confidence and
tackling difficult situations. In addition to its accumulated understanding of various routine development tasks,
China has been able to consolidate development resilience, carry out deep reform and high-quality development,
accelerate the formation of a new development paradigm, and therefore maintain positive long-term prospects.

Regarding the environment, the frequent occurrence of extreme weather events and the continuing outbreak of
the Pandemic since 2021 have forced all countries to face the challenge of climate change and sustainability-
linked issues, leading to a global focus on “Carbon Emission Reduction”. The “Dual Carbons” have become
a key phrase for China’s pursuit of sustainable development. Several important policies related to the “Dual
Carbons” theme have been introduced, establishing a clear national direction and accelerating green and low-
carbon development in China. The Central Economic Working Conference at the end of 2021 also pointed out
that achieving the “Dual Carbons” goals is an inherent requirement for promoting high-quality development.
Multiple measures are necessary to achieve such goals. While putting forward “carbon emission reduction” as a
key strategic direction, the country has continued to enhance the importance and policy oversight of “pollution
reduction” and has intensively introduced various policies to steadily promote the construction of “zero-waste
cities”, fight the critical battle for the prevention and control of pollution, continuously strengthen pollution
control in accordance with the law, and introduce reform to the environmental information disclosure system in
accordance with the law. By promoting synergy and efficiency, China aims to continue the improvement of the
quality of the country’s ecology and environment, as well as the green transformation of the country’s economic
and social development, by leveraging methods to reduce carbon emissions and pollution. This is expected to
bring strong impetus to relevant industries and unleash more market space.

BAZZ_—F 2REARFTCRBEEELS  KEEEDESENE  PEDREMERR - BEERRZZIR
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After going through a rather difficult period, we are entering another year of challenges and opportunities. As
a leading ecological and environmental group, a supporter and participant of the “Dual Carbons” strategies,
the Group will adhere to the general principle of “Prioritising Stability” and the principles of “Making Progress
in Stability, Pursuing Excellence in Progress, and Seeking Innovation in Excellence”; stick to its corporate
mission of being “Devoted to Ecology and Environment for a Beautiful China” and the corporate pursuit of
“Creating Better Investment Value and Undertaking More Social Responsibility”; and further enrich and improve
its new development paradigm with a focus on “Four Major Areas”, namely “environment, resources, energy
and climate”, based on its existing focus on the areas of “environment, resources and energy”, following its
“Three Carbons” development targets and action plan. The Group will seize opportunities arising from relevant
policies and focus on the “Dual Carbons” goals, to comprehensively carry out planning and measures relating
to “Reduction of Pollution and Carbon Emissions” and “Pursuit of Synergy and Efficiency”. Despite pressure
from transformation, it will balance its business portfolio by continuing to enhance the development of its
asset-light and asset-heavy businesses, develop the domestic and overseas businesses, solidify its traditional
and advantageous businesses, and explore new businesses as new sources of growth. With an emphasis on
“Innovation-Driven Development”, the Group will closely monitor the country’s major demands, consider market
demand as guidance and value creation as the principle, give full play to its advantages, optimise relevant
mechanisms, enhance its various platforms, and accelerate its progress of green and low-carbon technology
R&D and application, in an attempt to solidify its industry-leading position. Additionally, the Group will continue
to strengthen its financial and capital management capabilities, and further diversify its financing channels,
to provide stronger financial security for its development. Last but not least, the Group will seek value that is
created by management proficiency, by continuing to refine, standardise and informatise its management model,
in a bid to boost the operating quality and efficiency.

The Group believes that under the strategic guidance and support of China Everbright Group and the Board, for
the critical year of transformation and development Everbright Environment will be able to grasp opportunities
brought by the “Dual Carbons” strategies, address challenging issues with concerted effort, consolidate its
existing strength, and seek innovation to steadily pursue a high-quality development path that prioritises ecology
and emphasise green and low-carbon themes, taking great strides towards its goal of becoming a world-leading
ecological and environmental management group. By working hard and keeping moving forward, the Group will
view things from a higher and a broader perspective and become stronger in order to better facilitate the national
strategies!
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FINANCIAL REVIEW 8/ 7% [o] &

Financial Results Bt i %4&

In 2021, the Group’s consolidated revenue amounted to HK$49,895,384,000, an increase of 16% over
HK$42,926,426,000 in 2020. The increase in revenue was mainly attributable to the smooth progress of
construction work, driving continued growth of the construction service revenue, and the growth in operation
service revenue as a result of continuous increase of operating capacity during the year. Consolidated
gross profit was HK$16,463,382,000, an increase of 17% over HK$14,103,833,000 in 2020. The Group’s
consolidated gross margin was maintained at approximately 33%, similar to that of 2020. The EBITDA amounted
to HK$15,027,003,000, an increase of 17% over HK$12,851,501,000 in 2020. Profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company for 2021 was HK$6,804,099,000, 13% more than HK$6,015,863,000 as compared
with 2020. Basic earnings per share for 2021 were HK110.76 cents, HK12.83 cents more than the amount of
HK97.93 cents in 2020.

TE - —F o REBEBRBHEAWE AB49,805,384,0000T 0 B - T - TFEMEIEA2,926,426,0007TIE N116% © U
wmIEN - FEARNFAIRESIFERIER  FHRERFUESHELR  NELEECHEEREERHE LATHES
RIS UL 251 40 » 42 EF AB116,463,382,0007T @ 8 —F — EEH)#H14,103,833,000TIEM17% : 454 FEF| &
BT -FFRE  HFLG83% o BRFIE - BB - IMERBIEAT AT AE%15,027,003,0007T - RZZEZTF 2B
12,851,501,000 T8 M117% - —E = —F ARG =mFH ABGERF £E%6,804,099,0007T - BT ZTF 7B
6,015,863,000 T MN13% - —E-—FEFRAAREF A110.768l - ®R-ZZF-FF 297.93F (L% N12.8378 1l -

Financial Position Bf#ik iR

As of 31 December 2021, the Group’s total assets approximately amounted to HK$200,235,628,000 with
net assets amounting to HK$64,342,222,000. Net asset value per share attributable to equity holders of the
Company was HK$8.429 per share, representing an increase of 15% as compared to HK$7.336 per share as at
the end of 2020. As of 31 December 2021, the gearing ratio (total liabilities over total assets) of the Group was
68%, an increase of 3 percentage points as compared with that of 65% as at the end of 2020.

R-EBE-—F+-_A=+—H AEEZREELAB200,235,628,0007T ° JF & E &E864,342,222,0007T °
RATEZFEEAEEEGREEFEABIES 42T R_E-—SFEFR AQNTESFE ARG EGREETESE
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Financial Resources B i &R

The Group adopts a prudent approach on cash and financial management to ensure proper risk control and
low cost of funds. It finances its operations primarily with internally generated cash flow and loan facilities from
banks. As of 31 December 2021, the Group had cash and bank balances of HK$15,604,986,000, representing
an increase of HK$3,898,938,000 as compared to HK$11,706,048,000 at the end of 2020. Most of the Group’s
cash and bank balance, representing approximately 99%, was denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.

AEEHES UK EERNEENRE  ZEEERREKREESKE - BEEESEARAREANBIRE R LT RIEIT
REZEF -RZE-Z—F+_A=+—H AEEFERENMIETEHEM15,604,986,000T * RZE-_ZFTFFE
Z75111,706,048,000 01 11,5 %3,898,938,0007T ° AEB KNI E MIBITTHEBR BB R AR - (H499% -

Borrowings & #t:%

The Group is dedicated to enhancing the ways of financing and improving banking facilities to reserve funding
to support the development of the environmental protection business. As of 31 December 2021, the Group had
outstanding borrowings of HK$99,125,664,000, representing an increase of HK$24,146,754,000 as compared
to HK$74,978,910,000 at the end of 2020. The borrowings included secured interest-bearing borrowings
of HK$47,916,199,000 and unsecured interest-bearing borrowings of HK$51,209,465,000. The borrowings
are mainly denominated in Renminbi, representing approximately 67% of the total, and the remainder is
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars and Polish zloty. Most of the borrowings are at floating rates. As
of 31 December 2021, the Group had banking facilities of HK$124,709,269,000, of which HK$38,726,623,000
have not been utilised. The banking facilities are of 1 to 19 years terms.

AEERNEFATANBERTRIEARTEREE  HELSRARRESNER - N —F+=-A=+—
H AEEHNKEEEREEAB,125664,00070 * R-T - TFFJK 2% 74,978,910,000 7T 1 1 75 &
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Foreign Exchange Risks #NE & b2

The Company’s financial statements are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, which is the functional currency
of the Company. The Group’s investments made outside Hong Kong (including the Mainland China) may incur
foreign exchange risks. The Group’s operations are predominantly based in China, representing over 99% of its
total investments and revenue. The Group’s assets, borrowings and major transactions are mainly denominated
in Renminbi, and as such, it forms a natural hedging effect. With this in mind, the Group also pursues an
optimal allocation of borrowings in different currencies while setting appropriate levels of borrowing in non-base
currencies, and adoption of proper financial instruments to closely manage foreign exchange risk.

ARBZIEREDEER /AR - ARERERBFBEAIMNLER (BREPEAM) FEIMNERR - —HAR - FE/A
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Pledge of Assets & & if 1

Certain banking facilities, lease liabilities and asset-backed securities of the Group were secured by revenue
and receivables in connection with the Group’s service concession arrangements, bank deposits, mortgages
over property, plants and equipment, right-of-use assets and the equity interests of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. As of 31 December 2021, the aggregate net book value of assets and equity interests in subsidiaries
pledged amounted to approximately HK$110,660,679,000.

AEEETRITHE HERBEREEXHEFNAKRERGEHFEEE LT 26 T e REWFIE « RITHER
ME BERRE ERREELRARRETHERRNREESER R-_F-_—F+_A=1+—1H CDHEREE
Ko [ B8 1 B b 2 AR TEFE AR R 40 /378 % 110,660,679,0007T °

Commitments F&#E
As of 31 December 2021, the Group had purchase commitments of HK$4,735,386,000 outstanding in
connection with the construction contracts.

RIBZ—F+-A=+—8 AEBERBESHMAIH 2 RBEAIEHE%A4,735,386,0007T °

Contingent Liabilities {5 & &

As of 31 December 2021, the Company granted financial guarantees to its subsidiaries. The Board does not
consider it probable that a claim will be made against the Company under the guarantees. The maximum liability
of the Company as of 31 December 2021 for the provision of the guarantees was HK$1,358,104,000.

RIBZ—F+-_A=+t—8 ARAGR/EXMBLRAMELMBER -EFERA - ARERSEATKAEIR
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INTERNAL MANAGEMENT &0 &E 12

The Group adheres to the management principle of “People-oriented, Pragmatism, Creativity and Systematic
Management”, and has built a comprehensive management structure. The Group’s management holds
Management Decision Committee meeting on a monthly basis to review current operations and management.
The responsibilities of each functional department and business sector of the Company are clear with various
comprehensive management systems. Internal control procedures are sound and have been implemented
effectively. The Company’s Internal Audit Department performs its internal monitoring functions to ensure
that each functional department and business sector will strictly comply with the relevant internal control
requirements.

The Group is committed to building a comprehensive risk management culture. It implements the risk
management model of “Integration of Policy, Procedure and System with Risk-oriented” to comprehensively
strengthen its risk control. During the year under review, the Group prepared the Annual Risk Management
Instructions according to the progress of the implementation of risk management system in an effort to enhance
the normalisation level of risk management.

AEE-—EHFETIUARK  KEBKE  RALAN  HEGEEEINEEEDS  VEUTENEERE ZAEETEER
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HUMAN RESOURCES A &R

Human Resources are the key strategy of corporate development which require appropriate personnel to
execute this core strategy. The Group highly values its human resources management and puts great emphasis
on staff training. It believes that realising the full potential of its employees is crucial to its long-term growth.
The Group continues to improve its human resources through internal training as well as local, overseas, and
on-campus recruitment.

CEERBERRAT  BERATBBZORA - AEESEERANERER  —RIEETHEI - RMEHESER
BMBENEAEEXBREEZRAEREENFE - ASBEEREAHEE  HEHE  BINEE RERESES
TANER IN5e A BRI

China Everbright Environment Group Limited | B KIZSE (M) ER AT



During the year under review, the Group continued to adopt the prevention measures of the Pandemic
and encouraged employees to be vaccinated as early as possible. Annual physical examinations and eye
examinations have been arranged to protect the health and safety of employees. To cope with the development
requirement of the Group, the Group successively held safety and environmental management training, “Dual
Carbons” seminars, the cybersecurity training, tendering management training, construction cost training,
corporate culture training, anti-corruption training, etc. through online and offline blended training mode. The
management and employees were well equipped with relevant knowledge and skills with a view to address new
opportunities and challenges.

The Group makes full use of the advantages of diversified business and rapid development to provide employees
with a broad development platform. In addition to cross-sector and cross-regional job rotation, the Group has
enriched the backup management talent pool and international talent pool to prepare for the sustainable and
steady development of the Group.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had approximately 11,330 employees. Details of the total employee benefit
expense for the year under review are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements. Employees within the
Group are remunerated according to their qualifications, experience, job nature, performance and with reference
to market conditions. Apart from a discretionary performance bonus, the Group also provides other benefits
such as medical insurance and a mandatory provident fund scheme to employees in Hong Kong.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES = Z & fa & e 1%

The Group continued to promote work in relation to its risk management. The principal risks faced by the
Group during the year were adequately identified and assessed according to the requirements of the Risk
Management System of China Everbright Environment Group Limited and the Risk Management Operation
Manual of China Everbright Environment Group Limited. In 2021, the principal risks of the Group included policy
changing risk, environmental compliance and safety management risk, accounts receivable risk, construction
project management risk, staff assignment risk, market competition and new business investment risk as well as
procurement compliance risk. The Company has formulated and implemented targeted control measures based
on the respective performance of each of the principal risks to ensure that the overall risk of the Company is
under control.

AEEFERERREEABTE  EX(PEEARE(RE)BERAFRERKRERHIE) MCFEXRRE(KE)ER
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Risk 1. Policy changing risk

E e 1. BERER

Description Failure to take effective action to deal with the new policies may incur losses to the
o business of the Group as a consequence

REEREUE BB ARE BRI B SR AREERBRZIEX -

Mitigation measure
PR IRYE b

In 2021, policies related to national subsidy have been promulgated successively,
which further clarified the principles of “determining expenses based on revenue,
ensuring no new debts from new projects, clarifying responsibilities of the central
and local governments and adopting competitive bidding for grid connection”. Such
changes in policies have brought about some uncertainties to the achievement
of strategic goals and financial performance of the Company. Meanwhile, the
PRC government announced the “Dual Carbons” strategic goal. Any failure to
make corresponding adjustments to strategies will hinder the Company’s stable
development. In order to closely follow China's 14th Five-Year Plan and the “Dual
Carbons” strategy goal, the Group has formulated development strategy and action
plan based on its own characteristics and positioning. In particular, the coordinated
management of project admission has been strengthened by adhering to the principle
of “Three Priorities and One Clarification”, and the replicable and extendable “Five
Points in One Line” business model has been formed with the reinforcement of strong
synergy among waste incineration projects and other processing capabilities such as
waste sorting and the treatment of food waste, kitchen waste, industrial waste and
municipal sludge. Apart from strengthening the planning for market-oriented industries
such as soil remediation and waste tyre processing, the Group also maintained good
communication with the relevant authorities, actively analysed their policies and
offered its feedbacks and recommendations. In addition, in order to encourage the
government to improve the charging system for waste disposal, the Group advocated
the concept of “Polluter Pays”, which has gradually facilitated the formation of a
market-oriented operation model for power generation through waste incineration.
The Group also endeavored to advance technological innovation by vigorously
promoting the use of high-parameter generating units as well as technologies such as
intermediate reheating and reuse of residual heat so as to enhance the residual heat
utilisation efficiency of the plant as a whole.
—E_-FERMH(TEMHDEBABREEELS 8 [UKREX ~ AR - Rt
D BRE LB IE— PR BEREEE AR AR BRUARSBEIEK —FEHT
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FrRAMELI M B REAEAITEITE]  MRIBEEASRBEIE B [=EE% - —EH
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Risk
2[5 % 7

2. Environmental compliance and safety management risk
2. BRESHRERZEERRR

Description
B

The New Production Safety Law, implemented in 2021, has imposed more specific
requirements on corporate safety management, while the PRC’s mandatory regulation
on pollutant emission was increasingly stringent. With the increasing projects
commencing operation of the Group, the basis numbers and difficulties involved with
management kept on rising, posing high pressure on environmental compliance and
safety management.
TEC-FHREHEEEANER B ET2EEREERABNENR  ARERY
RIS INEEE BBER - BEAEERERBNFEEN  EREHMNEREH
EREINA - REEREAL2ERNENEN S °

Mitigation measure
RRRRIE b

The Group has developed a safety and environmental management system that has
integrated four levels, namely the headquarters, business sectors, regional centres
and subordinate projects, which developed a closed-loop management by clarifying
management objectives, standardising process management and carrying out post-
evaluation. The Group also formulated Guidelines on Developing a Dual Prevention
Mechanism of Hierarchical Risk Management and Control and Identification and
Management of Hidden Hazards to standardise and strengthen hidden hazards
identification and management in relation to safety and environment risk on a
continuous basis. Meanwhile, the Group has adopted a registration management
mechanism for safety and environmental management personnel with 1,051 personnel
registered as of the end of the year. The Group has conducted safety training and
assessment for safety and environmental management personnel of each business
sector and key officers-in-charge of the project companies, ensuring that such safety
and environmental management personnel are licensed for employment. Capitalizing
on the information sharing platform, environmental monitoring platform and others,
the Group has achieved a full coverage of environmental information monitoring of
operating projects, at the same time improving the accuracy and effectiveness of data
continuously so as to take risk precautionary and prevention measures in advance.
The Group has further strengthened the grading assessment management on
operating projects by dividing into four grades, i.e. A+, A, B and C. Projects classified
as Grade C with a high risk level under the dynamic assessment were focused for
supervision.

REBRT THE  ZBRE REPO  BEEBEENUC-BOLTREIERR - AR
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Effectiveness of control
measures
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Risk 3. Accounts receivable risk

ENE 3. JRE L B R R

Description Due to the policy change in relation to the cancellation of national subsidies, the
i macroeconomics and regular pandemic prevention, the ability of governments at all

levels to pay has been impaired, increasing the likelihood of deferring settlement of
national subsidies, waste and waste water treatment fees, as well as the possibility
of increase in overdue accounts receivable, which in turn affected the liquidity of the
Company, thus increasing the financing pressure and cost of funds of the Company.
REMREBEREGARZELBEAREBRICNTE - SRBUT I N8EH
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Mitigation measure The Group continued to standardise the day-to-day management of accounts

MEAR T receivable through regular preparation of the Data Collection Form for Non-
Performing Assets. In addition, the Group strictly implemented the Management
Method on Accounts Receivable to expedite capital turnover, prevent operation
risk and strengthen the responsibility of accounts receivable management. The
Group closely monitored the recoverability of accounts receivable, and conducted
analysis on the changes in account balance and ageing profile on a regular basis
to promote the effective operation of recovery mechanism. In addition, having put
greater efforts in collection of accounts receivable, the Group adopted the measure
of collecting accounts receivable by designated officers in a designated exchange
group. The Group has formulated the Liquidity Risk Management Measures (Trial)
to achieve precise forecast of capital requirements, improve capital use efficiency
and avert liquidity risk. Besides, the Group has consolidated the available capital
reserve of the Company by way of, including, issuance of medium-term notes and
negotiation with banks for credit facilities. The Group has commenced projections
on cash flow in full operation cycle, conducted regular analyses and reports on cash
flow and communicate with banks in a timely manner to take measures for funding.
The Group has also expanded diverse financing channels, continuously promoted
various financing means such as asset-backed notes and asset-backed securities to
accelerate cash recovery.
REBTHRBEYRROBEEER - EHEZE%<</TE§F§MFHSZ%%%>> BB BT
WERRERIHE) - IMREFAHE - BHEgERR  RIEBURREREE - BIERE
FEWBR R BIIE R - E B eREE ﬂ@ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ%}ﬁﬁ DA - HE B O T Y B RUETT - N
KFH&EE REVEWR N E - BRKERETE ?ﬂ#iﬁx/ﬁﬁﬁﬁt %\Jm@@blﬁﬂﬁ

EEIOE(RIT)) UERERBAZEEST R REESEARE - ARRIHMER

BBBRRETTHRER  AREHE B%%%&ii&‘ﬁﬁﬁ FRERNRAABA E‘Jéﬁif.ﬁ
H ARESHARReREANEITIE iﬂﬁ‘%ﬁﬁimLﬁnﬁ o REFEIRITE
BRm REERBEER  MRZTMARERE  HEREREEXRKEE BEX
RS ELEMEEN - MRFEEEE -

Effectiveness of control Partially effective
measures HoBEK
H iR
Change in Risk Level Upward trend
Ffa SR E (BT BRR EFHiRRE
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Risk 4. Construction project management risk

J2\ ez 4 R 4.  TREERAR
Description In 2021, the number of each of the categories of construction projects of the
it Group increased, resulting in great challenges of project construction in terms of

safety management. Moreover, pursuant to the latest relevant policies on national
subsidies, early grid connection for power generation is crucial for the application of
national subsidies of new projects, which imposes higher demands on the progress
management of projects and construction in compliance with laws and regulations.
AEE T —FREERBEHERS IEEXL2EEEBRRAKE - BRIE
RFOEMEEARE  BEHALESHM LA REMEREE IR IRREET
BRMEEARAIREERE, -

Mitigation measure The Group has comprehensively advanced the implementation of project information

LEAR TR management system. Leveraging on its extensive experience in project construction,
the Group has formulated standardised construction schedule based on different
types of business and project scales and recorded the completion of milestones
and the progress of obtaining relevant licenses and permits on a real-time basis
through the continuous and comprehensive tracking of each project’s progress.
Regarding the delayed projects, the Group timely carried out on-site due diligence
and organised special meetings to analyse the difficulties and causes of such issues
and adopted targeted measures. In addition, the Group has conducted special
inspection and random inspection in respect of safety, environment and quality of the
construction, which fully covered various aspects, such as inspection of important
working procedures, safety and technical disclosures, review of construction plans
and supplier inspection, etc. The Group has formulated the Construction Budget
Management Measures and relevant standards, which laid out overall requirements
for the cost control mechanism over the whole process from investment projections
to design, tender, construction and settlement, and launched the construction budget
management information system in order to enhance the level of standardisation and
formalisation of its construction budgets.
AEBX>EBETIREEEREAS  URBEAEHEENERLR AR TREBE
Al HEREESHEEECTIH : AARELERRSEEEERR  ERATER
MRETB TR BN - MBLMBEFEIIRET - HEEEHRIELR - REAZRSAT
HEgR MEAER#ERE  WRDETHEER FARIBEENTE RE B
EEHEREMNERRS  ERYHEPLIHFRE  T2RTTRE BIHRES -
HEREZRERANEEE - FIC(IRREERFEEETEIE) LB ITIERS - HRE
RE Rt BRI ZAEZF2ABRNORNAEEREIREABER  WEHITRE
BEEBEERLS  BALREEEREL  REKF -

Effectiveness of control Effective
measures B
B A U

Change in Risk Level Downward trend
[\ 55 AR B 25 Bl N8
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Risk 5. Staff assignment risk

ENE 5. ABBEERR

Description Shortage of staff, inadequate key personnel or failure to recruit enough managerial
i staff and technical staff may give rise to the possibility that the talent reserve might not

be able to satisfy the needs of project development at project company level, hence

negatively affecting the stability of operation.

EAE%%KE&%% MUABHRRIE  HEREHETHNEREAL - RITA
CHERBARBEARFEAT BRBEEEANEEBERFTROALE  HELREM

BRREEE -

Mitigation measure
RARTE T

The Group is committed to nurturing an outstanding corporate culture. The Group
has developed a vast platform of development with multiple development pathway

f “Management, skills and functions” for its employees, offering them more
development opportunities and boosting their sense of achievement on a continuous
basis. The Group has stepped up its efforts in providing professional training in order
to enhance the comprehensive quality and professional skills of its general managers,
supervisors and backup management personnel of projects in all aspects. It carried
out work in relation to assessment and recruitment of professional and technical staff
as well as strengthened the cultivation of reserve talents of the Company. Based on
the interim and annual appraisals, the Group would be able to build up and enrich
its reserve talent pool biannually. The Company has also expanded its recruitment
channels and further improved its staff assignment through on-campus recruitment,
promotion on websites, referral by internal staff as well as open internal selection.
After the leave of an employee, the Group, upon communication with the information
management department, immediately closes the relevant employee’s office
automation (OA) system account and email account. For certain business sectors,
those officers who have confidentiality obligations with the Group are required to enter
into confidentiality agreements.
AEEBITEBFSEEXL RETIHEETREANERTE RHIFZHNERME - 1T
BER - R B TS IREE  TEHERETINESR - MARATEINE &
FRIRAER RKIE  TIREEERHEBEBAENGAZENEERE HARIER
MRS ETIE TIE - I ARBREAT BHER - REB¥F FEERER  8¥F
ﬁ&%AWEL TABMTE - BABERE  RENERE  #BusE AFAL
HE  ARAABERETAMAAERENE - EEIHBELKKEEEEREER
m%%ﬂﬁgﬁm@M%%&ﬂﬁ@ﬁ#%u’En PEBRIMEEREREHNE L
% ﬂT1%%T]§7Ju& °

Effectiveness of control
measures

BRI

Partially effective

BB

Change in Risk Level
BBREHEES

Remained unchanged
RETE
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Risk
2[5 %

6. Market competition and new business investment risk
6. TISBRFEMEBIRERR

Description
it

The substantial influx of competitors into the environmental industry has intensified
competition in the industry. Meanwhile, there is a risk that the Group might not be
able to effectively leverage its economies of scale and operating advantages over the
course of expansion in the consumer goods market.
REBFHFEARRESE  MBETERT  AIKCEHERERMSAER  FEEZE
BREEBEREREEDMELEZNER -

Mitigation measure
RRRRIE b

While steadily pushing forward the “Five Points in One Line” process model according
to the change of policies and market conditions, the Group actively enriched its
business scope and optimised its business layout. Meanwhile, the Group established
two business sectors, namely eco-recycling and greenergy, based on business
requirements and market changes, to facilitate effective allocation of funding,
resources and personnel. The organisational structure for market expansion (i.e.
“headquarters for project organisation and coordination + business sector for
project development on its own”) has also been formed. The Company also strived
to reinforce its business development momentum by means of joint business
development among business sectors. In addition, the Group strengthened the
management of investment projects in advance and in process, through which it has
enhanced the quality and efficiency of project review. Comprising full-time and part-
time committee members, the Company’s Project Advisory Committee will carry out
evaluation on investment projects on a regular basis, making every effort to safeguard
the interest of the Company. Benchmarking will be conducted on a regular basis. The
Company will study the industry development trends and industry policies from time to
time, and will conduct research on new sectors, new technologies and new status of

competition.
AEERBHRRS(CNTSEN  BEHERH R IEX - FEGMERLR
BILEZEMR  RSREBEZEBERLMTHE L  KIZERER - KX ARAMEZEBR

8 HES BR ABETARAR WK EHARE+RERABLINRER
MMISIREBERE  BRESEBRRBEBS  RESARAXBEMEDHE - R(LY
KREBEMNENETEE  RSREFREENNEX  ARFBEAFNEZESRAE
BZENFRBZEN TN THHKREBRBETIE 2 HGEARRMNE - EHHF
RAXETIE  BBRERAETESE - BRITEBOR - WHEHRE - #il - o

FREZEITHIS -

Effectiveness of control
measures
B A

Partially effective

AR

Change in Risk Level
e g e

Remained unchanged
R T
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Risk 7. Procurement compliance risk

EN e 7. EEBaFAR

Description Given the large procurement scale of the Group, there is a possibility that systems
S might not be strictly implemented, process design might be defective, and that issues

of fraud and corruption such as collusive bidding and bid rigging may arise, hence
affecting the overall compliance level of the Group’s procurement.
REBRBRERK - FESERIT RS - RIZRTFERBO AN - ATEHIR
BIE BERSFEFER  ALEEREME  PERARTRBEEEBHNSHKT -

Mitigation measure
RERRIE b

The Group continuously improved the development of its tendering and procurement
system by establishing Guangcai Tendering (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* ¢ EFBZCEIN A
[% /2 A]) to optimize the tendering and procurement governance system. The Company
further improved and upgraded its electronic transaction platform for tendering and
procurement. Based on the needs of the procurement business in aspects such
as compliance management, prevention and control of bid rigging and collusive
bidding, enhancement of efficiency, process optimisation, early warning of risks
and sharing of information, over 1,000 functions in total have been developed and
improved in the platform, which enabled it to successfully receive the “Triple Stars”
certification, the highest level issued by the China Cybersecurity Review Technology
and Certification Center. Meanwhile, consistent efforts have been made to improve
supplier management. As of the end of the year, there were 115 external experts and
approximately 15,600 qualified suppliers in the database. In addition, the Company
made full use of technical means to identify bid rigging and collusive bidding.
AEETR TEHERRBHERR  BROLARBRORYIDER QT BCBEGIEH
fl e RARHERBEES TR TEHERLEN  BRESREE EEREEME X
ERTT - REE(L - RAREE EEHEZFHIEMNRBEKE R - RitTK1,000%18
I aEREEEB L - WIENESFREPERL2EERMEREF LEENBEREZS R
A =R REJRE - N TSHENER  r BEFHB - IMNBEKR115% - AEE
HIER#)15,600K - AR FDFARMFER - BHIER - HR1TR -

Effectiveness of control
measures
B A U

Partially effective

Mo BEXK

Change in Risk Level

AR SRB(ES

Remained unchanged

*

Y EREEE

For identification purpose only
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THE IMPACT OF THE PANDEMIC #rid&E g &

The Group actively responded to the Pandemic and established respective “Leading Group for Prevention and
Control of the Pandemic and Safe Production” in the Company, business sectors, and project companies,
forming a three-level management system for pandemic prevention and control. The Office of the Leading Group
for Prevention and Control of the pandemic paid close attention to the development of the Pandemic nationwide
with the normalization of measures to adapt to and cope with the Pandemic and the formulation of plans thereof
as the main focus of its daily operation. It strictly implemented the principal responsibility, properly carried out
its production and secured reserves for pandemic prevention supplies. Proactive efforts have been made to
guide and organise vaccination for the staff, thereby reinforcing a safety shield to facilitate effective prevention
and control of the Pandemic. Meanwhile, leveraging its professional advantages in medical waste treatment, the
Group assisted various local governments by providing professional treatment for a massive amount of medical
waste in quarantine areas, pandemic-related medical waste in nucleic acid testing sites and waste generated by
COVID-19 patients.

AEBBEREHAVRE  ARE - EZBRE - BHERAREREAORKL TRIEHZEELE2AERE/NE  ERT =R
EENRIBHZERE - RBEHEIERE/MERAETTIEIZHRIEE L  $ERLCEARYRIEERFERRER
AREHTIF BEREIRET MELEERMRDENHHE  BEHsE ABETEERE  £FER2HFE A
M REDRE - A AEEBEEFRETANEXEY YOI BRNEXCREAENRENERE - Kkin
B EE R B8 BE SO R i AR A EE AR RO B o

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL MANAGEMENT :(RiZ it & &8

The Group pays close attention to the operational impacts brought to the environment and society. The
Environmental and Social Management System (“ESMS”) has been established in accordance with the
Safeguard Policy Statement of Asian Development Bank and other best practices worldwide. The ESMS covers
the entire cycle of projects from early-stage planning and design till the final-stage operation and management,
with specific requirements in relation to environmental and social impact screening and categorisation,
resettlement, indigenous people, environmental impact assessment, information disclosure, consultation
and participation, gender equality, grievance redress mechanism, due diligence and review, and monitoring
and reporting in place. The system ensures the Group’s operational activities comply with the environmental
and social safeguard principles and requirements internationally. Meanwhile, the Group is also committed to
maintaining a close relationship with its key stakeholders, including investors, the Shareholders, governments,
employees, local communities, suppliers and non-governmental organisations, through various communication
channels.

AEESEEREFELMFRORFEMLETE  VORBENABRTH(RERREZH) LERRINERER
T-EREEMEEEFE([ESMS]) - ESMSRERFIHAEB REBIRRARELNHEDAREE - FHERIR
RENMEFERENIE  BRELE RER RRFENE EEHE BEN2E - ERIFE - BHKH - &
BASMES  REANRSESEHE  URRASENELEEDEREEER LHRERMSRERAMER  pLoh -
AEENERBBSERARAT  BEIEZRHNE  BEREE KR BN BT -  Z2tdR - HERH - LIEBUT
HBSREBRERRE -
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The Group has fully implemented the Environmental, Safety, Health and Social Responsibility (“ESHS”)
Management System since 2016, with an aim to further integrate the system requirements into operational
practices. The system comprises management standards to provide procedural guidelines on the identification
of significant environmental, safety, health and social issues, auditing, incident investigation and reporting,
work injury treatment and contractor ESHS management. Implementation of the system has not only promoted
sustainable development within the Group, but also extended its safety culture and relevant policies to the supply
chain.

The operating and environmental performance of the Group’s projects strictly adheres to the applicable
environmental protection standards and requirements. The key regulations and standards which are applicable
to the Group’s business include the Environmental Protection Law of the PRC, Production Safety Law of
the PRC, Labour Law of the PRC, the Standard for Pollution Control on Municipal Solid Waste Incineration
(GB18485-2014) and the Industrial Emissions Directive (2010/75/EU) and its relevant annexes and amendments
(for environmental energy projects), the Emission Standard for Air Pollutants of Thermal Power Plants (GB13223-
2011) (for biomass power generation projects under greentech sector), and the Discharge Standard for
Pollutants of Municipal Wastewater Treatment Plants (GB18918-2002) (for environmental water projects),
etc. No significant loss or impact to the Group caused by the breach of these regulations and environmental
protection standards were recorded in 2021.

AEEER-_ZT-AFE2EERERE L& @EELKMERM(TESHS]) ERER - LUE— IR EH EMEE
ERNAEMES  ZBRABREERE L2 BEMMEHENED  B%  SHHASRER ISRELAER
ESHSEE T HFEERFHNEEREE  MEREAKEANTNHAFELRR  ERLEUCMBBERETEMHEHERS -

AEEBEMELSYRREREBNRFZERER - BANAEEEEMNESEARMZERE  (FEARLNEH
BRIBRELR) (PEAREMBELZE2EEE) (PEAREMELEEL) - CEBRLIRTES RITHIZAE) (GB18485-
2014 TEHMIES ) (2010/75/EV) R KB KR BT P HMBEEERREGEARRRERER) (AERAR
SSAYBERUZ A ) (GB13223-2011) (E ARG B IRRRMMAEMEEEEE ) - LR RES/KERERS 2 WHERIZZE)
(GB18918-2002) GEARERRKFIEER )F - AEBERN T —FRBAEREL A EHNIRREEMEHEKREL
ME LMWL o

FINAL DIVIDEND ZREIA% B

The Board has proposed to pay a final dividend of HK15.0 cents per share (2020: HK16.0 cents per share)
for the year ended 31 December 2021, payable to the Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company (the “Register of Members”) on Friday, 27 May 2022. Subject to approval by the
Shareholders of the payment of final dividend at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be
held on Wednesday, 18 May 2022 (the “2022 AGM”), the final dividend will be paid to the Shareholders on or
around Friday, 17 June 2022.

Due to the ongoing Pandemic, the Company may need to postpone the convening of the 2022 AGM in
accordance with the relevant government legislation and guidelines. Further announcements and notices will be
made by the Company as and when necessary.

EEeREBRkBEEE_T_—F+ A=+ "BLEFEZRAKEERI15.08II(ZT % : ER16.0811) - & T
REZFB-__FAA-TEAERR)RIEARFBREM(TBREM D ZBEER - FRERASR_F-_—_FHRA+N
B(EBD)BTZARAERERRBFAS(ZZ-_FREABFAE ) LHERNREEE - REREER-F
TCFERATER(EHR)HATRIKE TRER -

RRATERERE  ARARAEFTERRBNHEREILESIEEARA T —_FRRAFKE - ARAKRFRE
IRy T3 — PN E RABA
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS E = #{IE iR m:m P S FE
For the purpose of determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at the 2022 AGM and entitlement
to the final dividend, the Register of Members will be closed in accordance with the following timetable:

REERREE T —_FERRAEFASGINEG LREFMKIKRARBNER - ARAHRENATHRRE FHHER
NBFPERFE -

(i) For determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at the 2022 AGM:
BERREF_Z__FREBFAGIRNE LRENER :

(@) Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 12 May 2022
BB X APHEE R F BN RERR —E__FRA+TZR(EHM)
THEBE=15

(b) Closure of Register of Members Friday, 13 May 2022 to
Wednesday, 18 May 2022

BiEmERRELFE TEFRAT=B(EHR)E

—EZFRATNB(EH=)
(both dates inclusive £2#% & & A)

(i) For determining entitlement to the final dividend:
B TE W ERCR HA g S ) HE R -

(@) Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 24 May 2022
BRI B X APHIEE R F BN RERR ZEZFRAZ+MA(EHD)
TFOE=1%

(b) Closure of Register of Members Wednesday, 25 May 2022 to
Friday, 27 May 2022

EiERERRTLFE ZEZZFRAZ+REAB(EH=)=E

—E-—FHA-++H(EHH)
(both dates inclusive 2% & /E /M A)

(c) Record date Friday, 27 May 2022
EREZd=R-1 —E-—ERA-t++BH(EHR)

During the above closure periods, no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and
vote at the 2022 AGM, and to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar and transfer office, Tricor Tengis
Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than the
relevant latest time set out above.

REMEEREZHEH I SETROBPELTE -  AERTEERLE T _—_FRRBFAGING LRFZLZ

BLEZE 2 RBARE  MEBFPRRERAAHARESAR RN EHSRKRINERARRZROELRBEFES
EERRARAR  WUAFE2RABR—A/N\+T=2REMRLE+TE -
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Sustainability Report T EREHE

This is an abstract of the sustainability report 2021 (“2021 Sustainability Report”) of China Everbright
Environment Group Limited (the “Company”, or “Everbright Environment”, together with its subsidiaries,
collectively, the “Group”) and the report is prepared in accordance with the Global Reporting Initiative (“GRI”)
Standards: Comprehensive option, as well as the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
published by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Furthermore, the Group’s environmental and social
management strategies echo with the Sustainable Development Goals (“SDGs”) of the United Nations, reflecting
our commitment to tackling global challenges and creating a sustainable future.

The full report, in both Chinese and English versions, is available for download from the websites of the
Company (www.cebenvironment.com/en/csr/susreport.php) and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited
(www.hkexnews.hk) within three months after the publication of our annual report.

HEHAFENARFE(EE)BERAR(ARRIH [EXRE] - EREMBAR - 5 [AREDH( =T =—
FAHBERRE)ORE - ZMEDNERBEZRBEEFAE(GRIDER : 2EEBNBBBHARXSMAERLDA
EMOCGRR HERNERWMEESDHES I AEENRELIM SERRBAE M HEER B REAWE
[ BRER AP FE it R ER PR B AN 4 4 P 45 A B ROR R AR D ©

TERBE(EEPEXRAEA) IREMAUBEREND=ZBARNEBRAQAHIL
(www.cebenvironment.com/tc/csr/susreport.php) X B &R 5 K4S P A R A B U5 (www.hkexnews . hk) T & °

SUSTAINABLE OPERATIONS MANAGEMENT rJ3F & 1Y :&E 2 & 1%

The Group undertakes environmental and social responsibilities, and strives to reduce the impacts exerted on
the environment and natural resources from the Group’s operation. An Environmental and Social Management
System (“ESMS”) has been established in accordance with the Safeguard Policy Statement of Asian
Development Bank (“ADB”) and other best practices worldwide. The ESMS covers the entire cycle of projects
from early-stage planning and design till the final-stage operation and management, with specific requirements
in place in relation to environmental and social impact screening and categorisation, resettlement, indigenous
people, environmental impact assessment, information disclosure, consultation and participation, gender
equality, grievance redress mechanism, due diligence and review, and monitoring and reporting. In addition,
the Group’s Environmental Policy and operations manual provide clear guidelines on air and greenhouse gas
emissions, discharges into water and land, generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste, as well as
the use of energy, water and other raw materials related to our operations, with the aim to strengthen and
standardise the Group’s environmental and social governance.

AEERERAZERFEGEET  HORBEARENELZHREMRABRMEKNTE » Y RIETIMNFHERTT
(TRBETDHRERRER) RKERERRNTERER T —ERFALSEEHE ([ESMS]) - ESMSIRZ MBI A E
REZRRIERELENAE2ANER  BRINRENLEVERENIE  RELE  RER REXEFE -
EERE BEM2E  4HTE  BHEE  RBASNES - REINRESSEBOENR - i AEEBCGR
BRR)MELTH - SELPMFRNBERSOBEREHN - FKRLHHEES BEREEERVNELNEES
& ARBER - KER - HMRM B ERS I EEME T AEES MR RBEARENREEATEES
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To enhance the effectiveness of the regulatory system in operational practices, we have implemented our
comprehensive Environmental, Safety, Health and Social Responsibility (“ESHS”) Management System (the
“ESHS Management System”) since 2016. The system comprises management standards to provide procedural
guidelines on the identification of significant environmental, safety, health and social issues, auditing, incident
investigation and reporting, work injury treatment and contractor ESHS management. Implementation of the
system has not only promoted sustainable development within the Group, but has also extended its safety
culture and relevant policies to the supply chain. A Safety and Environment Management Committee of
Everbright Environment led by the Chairman of the Board of the Company was established by the Group, which
provides support to the Group’s sustainable development work, and ensures that the Group makes appropriate
decisions and deployments regarding sustainable development.

SUSTAINABLE OPERATIONS MANAGEMENT (continued) Al #FEHE L E IR (4E)

Besides controlling internal risks, the Group requires our suppliers to uphold the principles of fairness and
equality, and to comply with our ESHS Management System. The Group’s Supplier Management Measures,
Supplier Code of Conduct, Contractor ESHS Management Standards, Tender Management Measures,
Management Measures for Appraisal Expert Database of Project Construction Procurement, etc., have guided
our business partners to improve their sustainability performance. The Group also encourages our suppliers to
treat their sub-suppliers with the same standards so as to enhance the sustainability performance of the overall
supply chain.

The Group requires all employees to strictly abide by our Staff Handbook and Code of Conduct, uphold the
management principles of integrity and pragmatism, and to adhere to the ethical conduct, ensuring the Group is
operating ethically in our businesses.

The board of directors and senior management of the Company review the sustainability strategy on a regular
basis, and revise the strategy when appropriate.

BACHR_FT-A"FE2EAEERRR X2 REMMERME((ESHS) EERR([ESHSEEBAR]) WE—F ==
EERTEELTHNENER -ZRAREEERE %2 BN SIAENRR B EHHAERER I8
BENABHMESHSERE T HEHREREFNEERE  TEREAKBEANLNAIFERR  ERR2EMBERBERLE
FEfEED  AEREREHARAEEGIREENAARRRELZERFERZE S AAKENAIKERRTHE
RHUXF > THEFRAKSEEAFEZERTEAFELEEDRRMEE -

BT ABERGE  AEREERHERRFSALEFFORA - BTHESHSEERR R - AREN(HREFEERE) -
(HEBTRERD  (ABHESHSERERZRE) (FREERWE) MIEERRBTEEREEEMNE)FE—F5IE
TEBEHRAEUSEZRRN - AREESBRANEERAERNRES FHM0NLEHER - NIRRT EEH
FESER A BRI -

AEEZRMEEIRBETHE(EIFM MGITATRD  UEXBEEPRADEEBENER T - BTERR
S NERAEENKENAEMZAEER -

ARREZENSREEASETHRREATFERREE - L EERIELIER -
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ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY R=&H(F
Priority SDGs:
BENAFEEREE

GOOD HEALTH CLEAN WATER

INDUSTRY, INNOVATION SUSTAINABLE GITIES CLIMATE LIFE
AND WELL-BEING AND SANITATION 9 11 13 15

ANDINFRASTRUCTURE AND COMMUNITIES AGTION ON LAND

Mo & ﬁﬁéﬁ 4 2

As China’s largest environmental protection enterprise and a leading company in the environmental protection
industry in Asia, Everbright Environment strives to implement various measures for reducing the impacts of its
operations on the environment and natural resources. Our environmental energy sector reduces the adverse per
capita environmental impacts and preserves precious urban land resources through green incineration of urban
municipal household waste. Our greentech sector converts agricultural and forestry waste and other biomass
raw materials into electricity and heat energy, hence avoiding open burning of agricultural and forestry straws,
so as to reduce air pollution in the rural region. These two businesses also make positive contributions to the
country’s green electricity consumption by increasing the proportion of the use of renewable energy in the
energy mix. Meanwhile, our environmental water sector strictly complies with national standards on managing
household and industrial waste water, produces high quality industrial reusable water, assists in improving the
water quality and sanitation problem. Moreover, our equipment manufacturing sector focuses on the provision
of full-process servicing system covering research and development (“R&D”), manufacturing and maintenance.
Eco-recycling sector contributes to waste sorting and resource recycling, and assists in constructing zero-waste
cities. Greenergy sector takes part in R&D and manufacturing of energy-saving streetlights, which contributes to
energy conservation and provides urban outdoor lighting projects. Envirotech sector promotes strategic planning
of pursuing development that is driven by technological innovation, as well as to ensure the commercialisation
of the technology R&D results. Last but not least, our environmental planning sector strives to build a national
planning and design institute in China.

During 2021, the Group processed approximately 43,452,000 tonnes of household waste, 7,964,000 tonnes
of agricultural and forestry waste, and 269,000 tonnes of hazardous and solid waste. Our projects supplied
approximately a total of 22,271,602,000 kWh of on-grid green electricity in 2021, and offset approximately
20,211,000 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent emissions. In addition, the Group treated approximately
1,698,710,000 m?® of waste water and about 9,635,000 m? of leachate, reducing chemical oxygen demand (COD)
discharge by approximately 740,000 tonnes in total.
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ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY (continued) IREEF (&)

Emission Management i &

As an advanced waste-to-energy operator in China, we bear the responsibility of resisting against air pollution
and climate issues. For emissions control, we strictly control stack emissions such as particulate matter (PM),
sulphur dioxide (SO,) and nitrogen oxides (NO,) in all combustion operations, by implementing stringent
operational procedures with frequent inspection and extensive supervision. The Group also pays attention to the
effective control of fugitive air emissions at our projects to prevent air pollution. The design and operation of our
waste-to-energy projects are in full compliance with the Standard for Pollution Control on the Municipal Solid
Waste Incineration (GB18485-2014), while the daily average value of online continuously monitored parameters
stays well below the respective emission limits as stipulated under the EU Industrial Emissions Directive
(2010/75/EU) and its relevant Annexes/Amendments. Our biomass combustion operations meet the Emission
Standard of Air Pollutants for Thermal Power Plants (GB13223-2011).

In addition, other air pollutants such as dioxins and heavy metals are tested by Everbright Environment with
frequencies far beyond national requirements. For example, the testing of dioxins in every waste-to-energy
project has reached at least four times a year, which is higher than the national requirements of once per year.
Dioxins concentrations of all samples were lower than the emissions limits of the Standard for Pollution Control
on the Municipal Solid Waste Incineration (GB18485-2014). During 2021, Everbright-Qingdao University of
Technology Research Institute of Environmental Technology, a subsidiary of the Company, continued to expand
its internal and external testing works. Over 500 samples (including flue gas and fly ash samples) were tested
and reported for internal projects throughout the year. In addition, the Group was awarded the 2021 dioxin
sampling project by the Qingdao Municipal Bureau of Ecology and Environment, testing of dioxin was completed
across 19 companies. It also undertook dioxin testing for a research topic from Southern University of Science
and Technology and completed the testing and data processing of 65 samples. In the meanwhile, the Group
completed the research work on fast screening of dioxin, resulting in achieving a 60% reduction in testing time
and 32% reduction in testing cost for a single sample, which would enhance the Group’s testing capability and
confidence in business expansion.
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ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY (continued) (=5 &E T (4&)

Emission Management (continued) BEF B (&)

We strive to ensure that people from all social circles can conveniently access our projects’ environmental
information at all times and places. Since August 2015, the Group has maintained the initiative in timely
disclosing emissions data and environmental management information of projects. Since January 2017, the
Group has updated the average emissions data of all our operating waste-to-energy projects on an hourly basis
through the website of Everbright Environment, which sets an example within the industry.

In accordance with the environmental management requirements of the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of
the People’s Republic of China (“MEE”), since 2 January 2020, the daily average values of the 5 indicators of flue
gas and furnace temperature data from the operating of waste-to-energy projects have been connected to the
automatic monitoring data information disclosure platform of the MEE: https://ligk.envsc.cn/index.html.

CDP, a global environmental research centre that drives companies and governments to reduce their
greenhouse gas emissions, safeguard water resources and protect forests, has released 2021 company scores
in environmental aspect and the Group received a B rating for climate change. The Group is also in line with the
country’s developmental plan in achieving carbon neutrality before 2060, and signed in support of “Task Force
on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures” (TCFD) in November 2020, so that its framework and suggestions will
be put into practice when identifying the Group’s current and future climate-related risks and opportunities.
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Waste Management EZEY &8

As the largest environmental protection enterprise in China, we have prioritised cherishing resources and
reducing wastage as one of the major tasks within our daily operations. The Group strives to implement a green
life-cycle management of all waste, and through a comprehensive recycling programme, we aim to reduce
the release of waste into air, water and soil. The bottom ash generated by our waste-to-energy projects can
be used as raw materials for making bricks, which supports green constructions, while furnace ash produced
from biomass combustion can be used to produce fertilisers, and the sludge from the municipal waste water
treatment process can also be used to produce compost after treatment, thus supporting green landscaping.
Furthermore, we also collect and treat the waste water discharged from our plant operations so that the leachate
from waste-to-energy projects can be recycled for on-site industrial use.

The phased-in roll-out of the “zero-waste cities” development pilot programme, the transformation and upgrade
of the green economy in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area and the further implementation
of the ecological and environmental protection plan for the Yangtze River Economic Belt have created
new opportunities for the industry. At the same time, Everbright Environment has established a systematic
development model with the development of “zero-waste cities” as its core mission and is proactively exploring a
unigue model relating to the development of “zero-waste cities” that covers waste sorting, reduction of waste at
source, recycling, harmless treatment at the back end, among others. In 2021, the Group continued to promote
the construction of “zero-waste cities”. On the basis of the existing waste-to-energy business, the Group actively
promoted the “five points in one line” strategy focusing on business areas such as waste sorting, environmental
protection and sanitation integration, construction waste resource recovery and construction of recycling sorting
centres. Currently, 8 waste sorting projects are in operation, serving about 95,000 households. We aim to
develop a “waste separation ecosphere” business model through “waste sorting, renewable resources, low-
carbon living, big data, finance and smart community”. At the same time, the Group has developed a multitude of
technologies such as the Everbright Intelligent Recycling System (EB-iRRS), intelligent recyclable waste sorting
technology and general industrial solid waste sorting technology to support the development of “zero-waste
cities” through technological innovation.
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TALENT DEVELOPMENT AA3E
Priority SDGs:
BENAFEEREEE

GOOD HEALTH QUALITY GENDER 8 DECENT WORK AND 1 6 PEAGE, JUSTICE
AND WELL-BEING EDUCATION EQUALITY ECONOMIC GROWTH AND STRONG

/> Wl a >

Talent acquisition is the foundation of the enterprise. The Group highly values its human resources management,
we put great emphasis on staff training and continuously refine our human resources strategy to attract and
retain the best talents. We provide an employment platform that promotes fair and open opportunities for all, to
ensure employees are not discriminated against in any way at work due to gender, age, ethnicity, nationality,
marital status, religion, etc.

All permanent employees of the Group enjoy a variety of welfare packages and safeguards, such as life
insurance, medical insurance, disability and critical illness coverage, maternity or paternity leave, etc., while
discretionary bonuses are distributed to reward employees with outstanding performance. In addition, we offer
free medical and occupational disease prevention check-ups for employees annually to ensure their physical and
mental well-being. We also organise regular leisure activities such as eco-tours and sports activities, with an aim
to foster employee relationships and enable them to achieve work-life balance.
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Training and Development $Z3I| % &R

With an aim to grow together with the Group’s employees and share the fruits of success, the Group has
incorporated employee training as a management norm where training profiles are established to help employees
reach their full potential. The Group has continued to centrally arrange trainings that are tailored to our business
development needs. Various training programmes were also held to enhance the professional and general
competence of both management and staff through continuous education. During 2021, a number of trainings
were successively held, including safety and environmental management trainings, “Dual Carbons” seminars,
cybersecurity trainings, procurement trainings, construction cost trainings, corporate culture trainings, anti-
corruption trainings, etc. The management and employees were well equipped with the latest knowledge and
skills with a view to address new opportunities and challenges.
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TALENT DEVELOPMENT (continued) A7 3¢& (4&)

Health and Safety @FEH%Z2

To ensure a safe working environment and protect employees from occupational injuries while maintaining
public safety, the Group fully implements dual prevention system of hierarchical control of safety risks and
troubleshooting of hidden dangers, comprehensively identifies and troubleshooting all project safety risks and
hidden dangers, adopts scientific methods for evaluation and grading, establishes an information management
system for safety risks and accident hidden dangers, and takes engineering, technology, management and other
measures. Meanwhile, all of the project companies under our business sectors have dedicated emergency plans
in response to potential risks of different scopes and management processes of plants, with an aim to ensure
safety management of project companies and their neighbouring communities.

During 2021, daily checks on safety, environmental and occupational health were continuously conducted
as part of safety risk assessments, so as to ensure both projects under construction and operating projects
comply with all safety policies. We also organised the annual “Safety Production Month” to provide impetus for
employees to gain more safety knowledge and skills through proactive and special activities including safety
publicities, various trainings, seminars and skills competitions, in order to enable effective prevention of safety
accidents. The Group also holds regular emergency drills and practices to raise employees’ competency in crisis
response. Meanwhile, the Group regularly discloses environmental information such as pollutant discharge and
waste management of project companies in each business sector in accordance with the laws, and proactively
accepts the supervision from the society and the public.
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COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT #f[& 2284
Priority SDGs:
BENAFETEREEE

NO GOOD HEALTH QUALITY 8 DECENT WORK AND REDUCED

1 CLIMATE
POVERTY AND WELL-BEING EDUCATION ECONOMIC GROWTH INEQUALITIES

ACTION
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Not only does the Group contribute to the community through direct economic contribution, but we also commit
to maintaining a close relationship with the community through environmental protection education, community
integration, poverty alleviation, climate actions, etc. We adhere to the fundamental operating philosophies of
protecting the environment and take social responsibility in a proactive manner.

AEBTEUNEELEERNSTRAEELE  ERNBBARAHYE  HEBHAR  KEER  RERTHETEELRE
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Battling against the Pandemic and Natural Disaster $i % i1 5 Ai 45

Despite the Pandemic’s continued impacts on the world in 2021, Everbright Environment fully utilised its
competitive edge in the industry to maintain normal operations in all project companies, so as to treat household
and medical waste while protecting the public’s health and safety. In July 2021, Pandemic cases occurred at
Nanjing Lukou Airport, four employees from the Lianyungang project company arrived in Nanjing to voluntarily
support the transportation and transshipment of medical waste. At the same time, the Nanjing waste-to-energy
project company, in accordance with the national and local government’s pandemic prevention and control
requirements, had safely treated the waste generated from the medium and high-risk isolation areas and hence
provided significant support to fight back against the Pandemic.

In response to the Henan flood disaster that occurred in July 2021, the Group not only donated to the disaster
relief cause but also coordinated local project company staff to conduct flood control work, and has successfully
maintained normal operations of public services such local household waste and waste water treatment services,
etc.
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COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT (continued) 1t @& (&)

Quality Education B&#H &

Quality education is the foundation for sustainable development. Everbright Environment has supported the
operation of the “Everbright Environment True Love School” in Dangshan, which has provided educational
opportunities for accumulatively 7,060 students in rural areas. During the year, our 18th and 19th batch of
teacher volunteers provided teaching support at the school to underprivileged children to give them access to
better opportunities.

Everbright Environment continuously utilises its project facilities in different locations as environmental education
bases and science education experiential learning centres, which aims to promote sustainable development and
green lifestyle to youngsters and the general public. During the year, despite the outbreak of the Pandemic, the
Group has persistently facilitated public visits to our environmental protection facilities under all of the Group’s
business sectors. Multiple project companies of the Group have carried out project opening-up activities
through virtual platforms to break the barriers of limitation brought by the Pandemic. These virtual activities
aim at advocating environmental protection and sustainable development concepts to the public. During 2021,
the Group’s environmental protection projects played an important role in promoting environmental education,
environmental science popularisation, circular economy and industrial tourism, with 5,400 batches of visitors
from China and overseas visiting the projects.
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Community Integration #E &

To guarantee the Group’s projects in compliance with the international safeguarding principles and requirements
in the environmental and social aspects, the Group follows ADB’s requirements by including social concerns into
the beginning phase of the project life cycle. This ensures that the Group will properly manage any resettlement
associated with its projects in compliance with related laws, with all affected citizens receiving fair and adequate
compensation and rehabilitation.
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Community Integration (Continued) #tEH @ (4#Z)

The Group’s integrated biomass utilisation projects are aligned with the central government’s goal in achieving
green development in rural areas. The introduction of advanced waste processing facilities into rural villages has
effectively prevented waste disposal and reduced pollution, laying the foundation for sustainable development
in the Chinese villages. In addition, apart from the Group’s Hangzhou Waste-to-energy Project, Changzhou
Waste-to-energy Project has opened its factory borders and again successfully tackled the Not-In-My-Backyard
(“NIMBY”) obstacles in China. Currently, the project is fenceless and equipped with appropriate social facilities,
becomes an “urban public living room” open to the public, which not only provides a leisure space for local
people but also sets an example for the development of waste-to-energy industry nationwide and provides a
good reference for tackling the NIMBY effect.
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Poverty Alleviation & &K

Through the integrated biomass utilisation project, the Group has successfully established and improved the
fuel collection and storage system, which the strategy of “increasing income for farmers, facilitating corporate
development and gaining mutual benefit for multiple parties” was formulated, improving the rural economy
directly and indirectly and reducing the population in poverty. In 2021, our integrated biomass utilisation projects
directly and/or indirectly created over 51,502 jobs and increased farmers’ income approximately by RMB2.476
billion, benefiting over 5.72 million of farmers. Moreover, the Group’s Xinhua Waste-to-energy Project (“Xinhua
Project”) is one of the Group’s key projects in alleviating poverty, and it is also a featured project of Everbright
Environment to relieve poverty by supporting local industries. Apart from constructing local infrastructures and
implementing eco-restrooms retrofitting project, the project has also collaborated with underprivileged residents
and poverty alleviation enterprises for developing a supply chain network on supplying fruits, vegetables, and
daily necessities, hence boosting the dynamism and efficiency of the local economy in the impoverished areas.
The construction of the Xinhua Project facilitates local economic developments, assists local residents to escape
from poverty through the provision of job opportunities, as well as improves environmental condition, safeguards
environmental health and safety. It also facilities the alleviation of poverty through a targeted approach and the
battle against pollution.
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Poverty Alleviation (continued) sk &ER (42)

On the other hand, the Group continuously encourages and develops effective partnerships with the public and
civil society to tackle local problems. Together with the Suzhou Environmental and Municipal Administration
Bureau and Suzhou Charity Federation, our project company in Suzhou co-founded the “Everbright
Environmental Protection Charitable Foundation”, which aims at assisting sanitation workers and their families
who are in need, and launching relevant awareness-raising activities. As of the end of 2021, the foundation has
accumulatively supported over 2,001 beneficiaries, which a total of RMB9.6 million of consolation money and
financial aid have been distributed.
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Climate Action RIZ1TE

Everbright Environment will continue to focus on the areas of environment, energy, and resources, safeguard
people’s living and ecological environment, and work together with the community at large in better responding
to climate change. During the year under review, the Solar Dome at the Island House in Yuen Chau Tsai, Taipo,
Hong Kong, commenced operation. The Solar Dome was built by the World Wide Fund Hong Kong with support
from the Group through its Everbright Environment Charitable Foundation. The facility was developed to serve
as a sustainability education base for Hong Kong students and other social groups to advocate concepts and
knowledge of renewable energy, sustainable development and ecological conservation. The Group’s staff in
Hong Kong voluntarily participated in the Salvation Army Recycling Programme, in which used clothes were
donated to people in need in Hong Kong, or sold in the Salvation Army Family Store where the proceeds would
be used to fund community care services. Such programmes have effectively helped people in need to rebuild
and return to normal, and at the same time practice the concept of recycling. In addition, the Group signed a
memorandum of understanding with the Asian Development Bank ahead of the World Oceans Day in 2021, for a
strategic cooperation toward the circular economy and the reduction of marine debris through strengthening of
the solid waste management system in Asia to foster ocean health. During 2021, the Group’s project companies
organised plenty of environmental events to raise the public awareness of environmental protection, such as
participating in volunteer activities to disseminate knowledge on science popularisation, and supporting a series
of environmental protection events, including the “World Water Day” and “June Fifth” World Environmental Day.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 1% &4

China Everbright Environment Group Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, collectively the
“Group”) upholds the management principle of “People-oriented, Pragmatism, Creativity and Systematic
Management”. The board of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company (the “Board”) firmly believes that high-
quality, comprehensive and high-level corporate governance is the cornerstone of the Group, which can create
long-term value for the Group and is vital to the sustainable development of the Group. It can also safeguard the
interests of shareholders (the “Shareholders”) and other stakeholders of the Company, including but not limited
to customers, suppliers, employees and the general public. The Board and management strive to maintain high-
level corporate governance standards, and continue to strengthen corporate governance, internal control and
risk management systems through a series of rules, regulations and policies, and actively improve transparency
and accountability. The Company strictly complies with the laws and regulations of the places where it operates,
and complies with the applicable guidelines and rules issued by the regulatory authorities. The Board will
continue to monitor and review the Company’s corporate governance practices to further enhance corporate
governance.

The Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)
have been duly adopted by the Board as the code on corporate governance practices of the Company.

The Company complied with all Code Provisions as set out in the CG Code throughout the year ended 31
December 2021 with the exception of Code Provision A.2.1 due to the roles of the Chairman of the Board
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company (the “CEQ”) performed concurrently by Mr. Wang Tianyi (“Mr.
Wang”) during the period from 25 September 2020 to 31 May 2021. The Board believed that the balance of
power and authority for the then arrangement was not impaired and the then arrangement enabled the Company
to make and implement decisions promptly and efficiently. With effect from 1 June 2021, Mr. Luan Zusheng
was appointed as the CEO in place of Mr. Wang (“Change of CEQ”), and Mr. Wang remains as the Chairman
of the Board. Thereafter, Mr. Wang no longer performed the roles of the Chairman of the Board and the CEO
concurrently. This arrangement brought the Company back to conformity with the Code Provision A.2.1 of the
CG Code. Please refer to the Company’s announcement published on 27 May 2021 for more information on the
Change of CEOQO.

The Company will continue to commit itself to enhancing its corporate governance appropriate to the conduct
and growth of its business, and from time to time, to reviewing its corporate governance practices to ensure the
same comply with the CG Code and align with the latest developments.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS %%
Composition and function X K BE
The Board currently comprises 5 Executive Directors and 4 Independent Non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”).

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this annual report are set out on page 132 of the
annual report and are set out as follows:

EEeRMARNTES MNOBBIIFNITESMAEMN -

RAMRFEARBEAFERE ZANEEDHIINFRAF132E

P WEFIITS

Name of Directors EEMA B s
Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Wang Tianyi Nete ! Chairman of the Board FREXETE BEBSERE
Mr. Luan Zusheng Note2 SRR ST AN EE

Mr. Hu Yanguo Vice President HARE B ST A& Bla

Mr. Qian Xiaodong Vice President EERE A Bl

Mr. An Xuesong Note 3

Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer (the “CFQ”)

BE S

1]

BIBHGRM B8

Former Executive Director

FIBTTESE

Mr. Wong Kam Chung,

Raymond Nete 4

Vice President and CFO

=R B L e

Bl RV 5EE

Independent Non-executive Directors

BUHBTER

Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip

BLBEE

Mr. Mar Selwyn

Mr. Zhai Haitao

NSy e

Mr. Suo Xuquan

RIEHERE
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) E5& (#&)

Composition and function (continued) A R BE (&)

Notes FffzT :

1. Mr. Wang Tianyi resigned from the position of the CEO and remains as an Executive Director and the Chairman of the Board with
effect from 1 June 2021;
FREBFEFIRE  BEBEINTESHRESFSEIR BT —FR A -HREN:

2. Mr. Luan Zusheng was appointed as an Executive Director and the CEO, with effect from 1 June 2021;
BOAREEREZERNTESRAER BT —F A —BRBRER:

3. Mr. An Xuesong, a Vice President of the Company, was appointed as an Executive Director and the CFO with effect from
5 October 2021;
AARRRB SN EEREZEARTESRYBRE BT —F+ARARBEN:

4. Mr. Wong Kam Chung, Raymond resigned as an Executive Director, a Vice President and the CFO with effect from 5 October
2021; and
=R AEREWNITES  AIAERMBLAE BT _—FTARERES: &

5. The English title of the Company’s “Chief Executive Officer” remains unchanged. The title of the Company’s “Deputy General
Manager” was changed to “Vice President”. The change of titles did not affect the substantive responsibilities.

ARBTBAR P YRR EE R AR CEXRRLEEE) AR IBRBCEELIBIGH ] BB EEWSEXEELRME -

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship) between
Board members and in particular, between the Chairman of the Board and the CEO.

The Board believes that the balance between Executive Directors and INEDs is reasonable and adequate to
provide sufficient balances that protect the interests of the Shareholders and the Group.

The Directors have disclosed to the Company annually the number and the nature of offices held in public
companies or organisations and other significant commitments and they have confirmed to the Company that
they have given sufficient time and effort to the Group’s affairs.
EFeNB(FRIRESSEFERAH M) SAEFETMAEGR  REVE  ¥5  REBLHEMEAR HENBRER -
EXEGRRNTEZRBIFNTEFHA UG ERESE  WASBEHEER  URERREAREEZ FH -

EEBFRARRRBEEANAR AR SABETRUMNIE RME - AREMEAAENRT - RERARNQ BRI
EENLEARBEERBENREEAREZEH -
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) & & (#)

Composition and function (continued) A R BE (&)

Despite the fact that some of the Directors hold several board seats and other significant commitments, after
taking into account that the Directors (i) had high attendance rate in all Board and Board committee meetings
and actively gave constructive suggestions and advice at those meetings; (i) had high attendance rate in general
meeting of the Company and actively responded to Shareholders’ questions and communicated with the
Shareholders; (iii) asked questions and made suggestions by email and telephone when the Board and Board
committees approved the resolutions in writing; and (iv) persued monthly management updates of the Company
and the information in relation to other performance of the Company, the Board believes that Directors devoted
sufficient time and effort to perform their duties.

The number of INEDs represents not less than one-third of the Board as required under the Listing Rules, one
of whom possesses appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. INEDs provide the Group with diversified experience and professionalism. Their advice and
views as well as participation in the Board and Board committee meetings bring independent views, advice
and judgements on issues relating to the strategy and development of the Group, business operation and
performance, risk control, internal controls and conflict of interests, etc., to ensure the Shareholders’ interests
are taken into consideration.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association (the “Articles of Association”), subject to the manner of
retirement by rotation of Directors as from time to time prescribed under the Listing Rules, and notwithstanding
any contractual or other terms on which any Director may be appointed or engaged, at each annual general
meeting of the Company one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of 3,
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director
(including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement at least once every 3 years.

BEBDEFHIREEFTSRULEMEBARENRS  BFEEMANRARARTCMAEFTENEFERES
EROARHEE  YAERFTERLAEBRRBAZRUEZZBLRER  (IRARRBRTZBRRAGESHEE @ &R
ClERRERRERFER  (EEFERESSZRUERTABERRY  EZMEUEBRERFH AIEH
RiEHEE  RivITEARRSAEEEBENEN  URBRARREMKRENESR - Bl - EFERR/ZLFTESE
MHRASERENEITERE

BIUFATEFABCR(ETRADNOREEEFEI IR =02~ EF -2 ABEENEXER NG NIAH
MHEREXNE - BUFRTEZT/AKRETKSZ TINERLREXNE - tARENREZLRER  UWRBBKRF
SHEEEENEZTRLECEH  AASENRBLER  ERHEZRERE  RRER ABERELRNEEREEE
b RHBYER  RERAE - AERERZEROESERE -

REARFCERAID(KERMARD)) - BR(ETRIDATRRECEETHERTIIN - URBEZEHBEENE
BRI TEMAAOMESEMEE 2GR - RARBBARFBFAG L =X EF(HAEHBBUIF=21F
B AARBEKEOZEA  EABIR=02—)ERERT HES2EF(BEAAREENE ) LEELB=FRE—

N
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) EE& (&)

Composition and function (continued) A R BE (&)

The Board meets regularly throughout the year. Under the leadership of the Chairman of the Board, the Board is
responsible for approving and supervising the overall strategies and policies of the Group, approving the annual
budget and business plans, assessing the Group’s performance and supervising the work of the management
of the Company (the “Management”). All Directors have access to Board papers and related materials, and are
provided with adequate information in a timely manner. The Directors may, if necessary, seek legal or other
independent professional advice at the expense of the Company.

In respect of the regular meetings of the Board/Board committees, formal notices were sent to all Directors/
respective Board committee members at least 14 days before the respective meetings. Non-regular/ad-hoc
meetings may also be taken place as and when necessary of reasonable notice. In general, agenda and meeting
papers were dispatched to all Directors/respective Board committee members for review at least 3 days before
the meeting. Agenda had been prepared after consultation with the Directors/respective Board committee
members and the Management before approved by the Chairman of the Board/the chairman of the respective
Board committees.

Where any Director has a material conflict of interest in a matter being discussed in the Board meetings, he will
abstain from voting on the matter. INEDs with no conflict of interest should be present at the Board meetings and
take the lead where potential conflicts of interest arise.

In addition to Board meetings, the Chairman of the Board meets with INEDs at least once a year without the
presence of other Directors. INEDs are free to provide their independent opinions to the Board.

§$QMEEWE%ﬁ@oE§$AIrEgT FERRAMARESARENRERRRER  HWEFEEER
$HHE  TEARERR  HUREEAANEEE(EEE NI  2REFLAAENEFRXARANE
K L EREBERETSER - £ *WIRT EETANARARR MBI NEEE R FRBEARAARS
fih -

REHNESS EFLLEL8E  CHHESECRIELTHRMNERES MHHEFSZSEXNERLERB
e kEH/BENSZEUANSEATRERNEAN 2ZFEREEXH —REESHBTAEL ZREXT 28
BEX HHEFSZEgNENUHREN - BRASZRENRIEHANES MMHEFSZEeXEREEEERKA

ERerE /HHEEESZESIREEM -

MEECEEZESHRLTH E’J%ﬁﬁikﬂﬁ TR REFAMRRRZER - RENSEBRZBILIFATEFEZ
HEEENEES S  UAELREENSEREFEEBES|EER -
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) & & (#)

Composition and function (continued) A R BE (&)

Minutes of the Board/Board committees are recorded in sufficient details which include matters discussed and
considered together with the decisions reached, and any concerns raised or dissenting views expressed by the
all Directors/respective Board committee members. Original signed minutes, upon reviewed by all Directors/
respective Board committee members, are properly kept by the Company Secretary/duly appointed secretaries
of the respective Board committees and such minutes are open for inspection by all Directors/respective Board
committee members.

All the Directors are entitled to seek independent professional advice regarding their duties at the Company’s
expenses. The Board can also seek advice and services from the Company Secretary.

The Company has arranged liability insurance for the Directors and senior management of the Company, and the
insurance coverage and the sum insured under the policy are reviewed annually.

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has established the following 5 Board committees
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with their respective authorities and duties:

EX5g EX0Z28 093N eE LR ERFTERERNRTEOIERAFANLE  HheEREE
F/ M EFS R E R ERENEMEBRXRENRHER - EERENGRCH EACHBEES MHHEFSEE
SREBRHRAARAMNE KEAZENEHREESZESWERT AT LHTHL2BES HHEESZ

FMEEENERMEBRERESIBUNEXSR  AHERBARAXN - EEGNARAQRWESTLER MR -
ARREREENRSREBABRFEERR  UEFHSHZRBOREHERIKRSBETRA -

ERREMNEEER EFERNUTUTHREESZE S YEAAEESCZ B ARRESRE  BEHHA
HEgzRERBE

1. Audit Committee FEZE&

The Audit Committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) currently comprises 3 INEDs, namely Mr. Mar
Selwyn (chairman), Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip and Mr. Zhai Haitao. Its primary responsibilities include but not
limited to review the Group’s financial reporting process, risk management and internal control systems,
internal and external audit and such other financial and accounting matters of the Group, and to oversee the
relationship between the Company and Ernst & Young (“EY”), the external auditor of the Company, etc. The
terms of reference of the Audit Committee have been established in writing and are available on the websites
of the Company and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (“HKEX”).

ARAEZZES([ERZES DARA-RBYFNTES  BESARLEE(ERE)  BCBEERBERE
HHEK - HEIZBEEE(ETRY)EMASEMBEREF  RREEMABEZERR - HAMINGFEFT KA
SETAEMMBNEGEE  REEAQFENEXBELZOKGFMELHM ([ 2k DNERSE - BEREZEER
BEENRELEYERNARAREERS MEREMBR AR (BB M -
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) €€ (4)
Composition and function (continued) A R BE (&)

1.

Audit Committee (continued) #F#ZZE = (42)

During 2021 and 2022 (up to the date of this annual report), the Audit Committee reviewed with the
Management and EY, including but not limited to the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group, significant audit matters such as significant accounting estimates and judgemental areas, and
reviewed the Group’s risk management and internal control systems, the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal audit function and financial reporting matters, etc., including review of the annual results for the years
ended 31 December 2020 and 2021, the interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2021 and reports
from Internal Audit Department and Risk Management Department of the Company. The Audit Committee
held a private meeting with EY without the presence of any Executive Directors and the Management during
the year under review.

REZF-_—FR-ZF__FREEAFERTAY)  ELZESCHTERBROKEHER(BETRN) AEE
Pz @t RAIRER ERRFFHRNEZN S A RABRE - YERAAKENRREEMATEE R
B ARBRNFEZDENERE  UEMBEREESEE(ERBHARRNEBE_Z_FFR_FT_—F+_A
St HLEFERSE BE_T--FARAZSTRALEREAZTHEERARRRAEE L E R E G B
HE) BERZREQHLZKEREEMNRTEZLREEELENBEATROBEFEARITT —REE °

Risk Management Committee AR EHEZE &

The Risk Management Committee of the Company (the “Risk Management Committee”) currently comprises
3 INEDs, namely Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip (chairman), Mr. Mar Selwyn, Mr. Suo Xuquan, Mr. Luan Zusheng,
the Executive Director and the CEO, Mr. An Xuesong, the Executive Director, the Vice President and
the CFO, and Ms. Guo Ying, the General Manager of Internal Audit Department and Risk Management
Department of the Company. Its primary responsibilities include but not limited to provide oversight of the
Company’s risk management programs, and to review the effectiveness of the Management’s processes for
identifying, assessing, mitigating and monitoring enterprise-wide risks. The terms of reference of the Risk
Management Committee had been established in writing.

During 2021 and 2022 (up to the date of this annual report), the Group carried out risk assessment
and analysis to identify the annual changes in risks and the internal control assessment to ensure the
effectiveness of the internal control management. The Risk Management Committee reviewed the risk
management work summary in 2020 and 2021 and work plan for 2021 and 2022, the risk appetite in 2021,
the effectiveness analysis of main risk control measures in 2020 and 2021 and risk assessments in 2021
and 2022, and the information security risk supervision and rating description, the major works of risk
management in the first half of 2021 and work plan for the second half of 2021, the recheck of major risks in
2021, and the implementation of risk appetite in 2021.

ARrERERZES((AREEZES DERA-BBYIFNTESTLCBLL(EF)  FRELRL  RE#
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) =& (4#&)
Composition and function (continued) A R BE (&)

3.

PEN

Nomination Committee {25 Z 5 &
The Nomination Committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) currently comprises Mr. Wang
Tianyi, the Executive Director and the Chairman of the Board (chairman), and all the 4 INEDs, namely Mr. Fan
Yan Hok, Philip, Mr. Mar Selwyn, Mr. Zhai Haitao and Mr. Suo Xuquan. Its primary responsibilities include
but not limited to review annually the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board, to review and report the Board diversity to the Board, to assess the independence
of the INEDs, to make recommendations to the Board, by taking into account the Board Diversity Policy
and the Nomination Policy on appointment or re-appointment or re-designation of Directors and to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of the senior management, and to
assess the qualifications and competencies of the candidates, so as to ensure that all nominations are fair
and transparent. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have been established in writing and
are available on the websites of the Company and HKEX.

During 2021 and 2022 (up to the date of this annual report), the Nomination Committee reviewed the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board, assessed
the independence of the INEDs, reviewed the appointments of the members of the Board and the Board
committees, reviewed the appointment of the senior management, discussed the re-appointment of the
INEDs, discussed the re-election of the retiring Directors at the 2021 annual general meeting, and discussed
the re-election of the retiring Directors and the election of a new Director at the 2022 annual general meeting,
etc, and made recommendations to the Board on the above matters.

ARAREZEG([REAZESNERBUTESREZTE IR IRERE(ZFE) - UEREHOBBILIFNTT
EXBOBEL FRERL BEBEENZRERELAR - AIZREBSFK(BTRN)EFRIEFTHOR
B ABRER(ERRE  AELERTH) BRLAESEREEFTEXNENSTILER © FHBIIERT
EEMBEUN  RBE(EFEZTEBER) MEABRR)REENZERENZELAREIRNESTSREES  RE
EZERREANEESMEEASNES  FRAREANEREEN  WERAAREZOBAENEENAE - 12
FLREEREEANBEHEL CNARE LB MEIEAM
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) €€ (4)
Composition and function (continued) A R BE (&)

4.

Remuneration Committee #MZ S &

The Remuneration Committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) currently comprises Mr.
Zhai Haitao, the INED (chairman), Mr. Wang Tianyi, the Executive Director and the Chairman of the Board,
and 3 other INEDs, namely Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip, Mr. Mar Selwyn and Mr. Suo Xuquan. Its primary
responsibilities include but not limited to determine, with delegated responsibilities by the Board, the
remuneration packages of the individual Executive Directors and senior management of the Company. The
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been established in writing and are available on the
websites of the Company and HKEXx.

During 2021 and 2022 (up to the date of this annual report), the Remuneration Committee enforced the
policy for the remuneration of the Executive Directors, assessed performance of the Executive Directors,
reviewed the 2021 bonus proposal, 2020 and 2021 bonus payment and the remuneration package of the
individual Executive Directors and the senior management of the Company, and discussed the remuneration
package of INEDs, etc.

The remuneration of all the Directors is set out in note 9 to the financial statements.

ARBIFHEES@((FMEES DREHBUIFNTESTRERALE(ZE) UTEFREFEIFIRERLE
NEAI=ZRBIUIFATERTECHRE  BAREELRRERLLEEN - EXTEREBRBR(ETRN)EEES
SERAETEEENRTEERARASRAEEABNTINGE FHZERBEEANBREELCNAR
B BB R AT AL R o

REZB-_—FR-ZF__FREEAFERTAY)  FHZESEREATESTNFIEER - FIERTESHR
ARBZEANATEERARNARREBABN S —FERAFRAIR  —S_SFR-_T-—FEHLHE
BT RNFMEE AR WELIFRNTESTZHMTEEEE -

BEEZNH TR MR EIA ©

Disclosure Committee #ZFEZE &

The Disclosure Committee of the Company (the “Disclosure Committee”) currently comprises Mr. Luan
Zusheng, the Executive Director and the CEO (chairman), Mr. Hu Yanguo, the Executive Director and the
Vice President, and Mr. Qian Xiaodong, the Executive Director and the Vice President, and Mr. An Xuesong,
the Executive Director, the Vice President and the CFO, as well as Ms. Poon Yuen Ling, the Company
Secretary. The Board has delegated the day-to-day execution of its continuous disclosure obligations to the
Disclosure Committee to ensure the compliance of the Company with its disclosure obligations. The terms of
reference of the Disclosure Committee had been established in writing.

ARPBBZES((HEZE D ERARTESREREERELE(EFE)  RITESREQHATERLE - 3
TEERIAHEERREE  URBTES  BEIRMBAERINAE  BRARAMEENRLTEAK - EF
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) & & (#)

Composition and function (continued) A R BE (&)

Other than the 5 Board committees above, the Company has established the Management Decision Committee
which is responsible for the day-to-day administration, operation and management of the business and affairs
of the Group. Its primary responsibilities include but not limited to review the Group’s major decisions, major
personnel appointment and removal, major project arrangements, as well as the arrangements of large capital
amount, and to review and formulate the Group’s development strategies and goals, long term business
development plans, directions, policies and guidelines, etc. The Management Decision Committee also takes
charge of reviewing the investment projects of the Group, after being recommended by the Project Advisory
Committee. For project risk management and project technological risk management, the Group has set up the
Project Advisory Committee to monitor and assess risks regularly, boost related management standards and
evaluate investment projects as well as assess the technologies used in different investment projects. For project
financial control, the Group insists on stringent budget management, and has set up a Budget Management
Centre that focuses on monitoring construction budgets. In addition, the Group has also set up Internal Audit
Department and Risk Management Department to perform internal audits, and risk management and control
functions respectively to bolster the Group’s management standards.

BT LEAEEFEREEI  ARARAEERRZECARAREMAEXRGREGNARTR 2EREET
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BHEMEELRE - AHBMBERE L  AREBREENRBREEE  WHHIKIAEEE DL EREITR
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) E5& (#&)
Responsibilities of the Board and Management E=€HZEENRHRE
There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Board and the Management.

The Board is responsible for directing and approving the overall strategies of the Group. It is the decision-
making body of the Company except for matters requiring the Shareholders’ approval in accordance with
the Articles of Association, the Listing Rules and other applicable laws and regulations. The Board is also
responsible for, including but not limited to, reviewing the Group’s performance against targets and objectives,
in particular its performances on finance and business; leading and supervising the Management to act in the
interest of the Shareholders; taking responsibility on performing the corporate governance duties; overseeing
matters in relation to the Group’s investment, risk management, internal control, corporate governance and
corporate social responsibility, and supervising the Management to implement such policies. Audit Committee,
Risk Management Committee, Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and Disclosure Committee
established under the Board have their specific terms of reference in writing, clearly explaining their roles and the
authorities delegated to them by the Board.

The Board has delegated day-to-day administration, operation and management of the business and affairs
of the Group to the Management. The Management is also responsible for, including but not limited to, within
the scope of authorisation as given by the Board, reviewing projects, mergers and acquisitions or assets
restructuring in all business sectors of the Group; reviewing and formulating the Group’s development strategies
and goals, long-term business development plans, directions, policies and guidelines; and reviewing the
important matters, business situations and latest progress of each business sector of the Group in accordance
with the policies and procedures as adopted by the Group from time to time etc.

The Company has formulated the terms of reference of the Board of Directors, the terms of reference of the
Management Decision Committee and the authorisation summary, which specify the authority and responsibility
of the Board and the Management and the authorisation given by the Board to the Management. The Board
regularly reviews those terms of references, and will update and amend the terms of reference in a timely manner
when appropriate.

ErelEEE RARHEST -
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FRER  AEERE  CEERANCENGECNMASEE  UEREEEATEMBES - EFEE TRNEKEZER
€ EREEZES REZEC FHZEShBEEZES  AHRENEZORERE HERECMNACGRE
EEEETHES -

EEERBEEEEARASEMEXBLAEFNARTR  2EREETIF EEENAE  BRETRY &S
ERENEBRLER  BHEASENSEKALANIEALR  WHBREESTEERKS  E2LHIEAEE M REE -
BRER REFBERERMRE - 08 BEEES RBREARETKREAZERLERF @ ERAKEEEBRELN
EXFR  XHBERANSHERSE -

ARBRIUT(EFENBELE) (FEARZERERE) M(REMAE) AETEESTS  EEENRENME
T REFSUEEENRREE EFTSN Y ELBRBEETRT  YREBABBREL MR RER -
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) & & (#)
Corporate governance functions ¥ R8BS
The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties as set out below:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and Directors; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
The Board performed the above duties during the year under review.
EX2RAERT MAGEERNRBE
1. HlIERBIARAANEEEBRRER
2. MAREREERSREBEASNTIRFESTEEE
3. BMARERARAEETEEREERTHENBRLER
4. HIE A REREEREEFNRTEIRERFMAOE) : &
5. R ARABET(RRERBTRDNBALRE(EREARE) ANHE -
REBEFERN EFSCETLRRE -
Nomination Policy (#2845 B % )
The Board adopted Nomination Policy related to the nomination of Directors, which sets out the criteria and

procedures when identifying suitably qualified candidates to be appointed, re-appointed or re-designated as
Directors.

EEeRMARESFRENGREEER) B TEE  ENZELRFATEEREKEAREZTREZENTENIEF
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) E£& (4#&)

Corporate governance functions (continued) ¥ ERME (&)

Nomination Policy (continued) (#2% E & )(4#)

Nomination Criteria 24 &%

The following factors would be considered by the Nomination Committee in assessing the candidates (the
“Nomination Criteria”):

(@) accomplishment and professional experience that, in the opinion of the Nomination Committee, the
candidate could benefit the development of the Company;

(b) commitment in respect of available time to the Board. In this regard, the number and nature of offices held
by the candidate in public companies or organisations, and other executive appointments or significant

commitments will be considered;

(c) diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, ethnicity, skills, knowledge, experience, age
(18 years or above), cultural and educational background;

(d) potential/actual conflict of interests that may arise if the candidate is selected,;
(e) independence of the candidate (where applicable); and
(f) in the case of a proposed re-appointment of an INED, the number of years the individual has already served.

These factors are not meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion to
consider other factors as it considers appropriate and helpful to achieve the objective of the Nomination Policy.

REZBEAEFAREAREEBATER(TRBRE])
(a) REZEERRIFEAEEBINAARIERNMMREEXLR |

b)) HEFSRAKHENAG - EETH @ZRREAELARAAAMRBAEETNREHERLNLE - WEHMESR
TTRERUEENR ERER A

() MBEITEMENZTL - BIFEFRNIER - Rik - 588 - FE - £ FROBKIAL) EERHFEER
(d) WRIFEARERE - ATREELEMEERBERNFEER

(e) IREANBYIE(ER) : &

() MEBHRZEBILIFATEZNER  REACKETNRGFS -

PARFRITEEREMBRE - B TEREEER - BRRZEGAREREMEIMES REHERGERER) B R
ZHAE-
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) & & (#)

Corporate governance functions (continued) ¥ ERME (&)

Nomination Policy (continued) (#25 B 5 ) (#)

Nomination Procedure 12 &2 %

Subject to the provisions in the Articles of Association, the following procedures for nomination should be
adopted:

(@) the Nomination Committee identifies or selects candidates pursuant to the Nomination Criteria;

(b) the Nomination Committee may use any process it deems necessary and appropriate to evaluate the
candidates, including personal interview, background checks, presentations or written submission by the
candidates or third-party references;

(c) the Nomination Committee makes recommendation to the Board and provides all the information required by
applicable Listing Rules including its assessment results based on the Nomination Criteria;

(d) the Board shall have the final decision on the appointment based on the recommendation by the Nomination
Committee;

(e) all appointment of Directors should be confirmed by the appointment letters setting out the key terms
and conditions of the appointments of relevant Directors, which should be approved by the Nomination
Committee; and

(f) where Shareholders are required to vote on appointment or re-appointment or re-designation of a Director,
the circular accompanying the notice of relevant general meeting should contain all the information of the
candidates required by Listing Rules (including Appendix 14).

The Shareholders may also propose a person for election as a Director, the Procedures for Shareholders to

Propose a Person for Election as a Director of the Company are available under the “Corporate Governance”
section of the Company’s website at www.cebenvironment.com.

ZRICERARDOBRE - IBEBRFOT

(a) REZEERBERZIZEFHRBEREA

v

(o) REZEGMNEREA/EMAVENEENRFAGREAN H BEA®  ERHE  BAIHRREAEINEE
BERAE=ZTHHEBER

) REAZBERNEFFHEBY BEHMAEMBNC(LETRADERNER - ERERBREBIEEFLOFGEER
(d) EFSHERNRELRZESHRBIFLNZEARKRTERE

e) MEHESMHZIRBAEZTNER ZENEIHABEZENRBER LGS YAFEIREZEEOH
;A3

() MRRFEUEFZAXENZEIATETRER - ERAMERRREAGBNNBENERBSAACLETHRAD
(BREME+ ) BROREANER -

[ERMAHEESRRA  (RERBFEEZEFTNERF) EFHRNAQ T Huiwww.cebenvironment.coml 2 EE A | 2519
A o
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) E£& (4#&)

Corporate governance functions (continued) ¥ &E6ME (£&)

Board Diversity Policy (ZE S/ 8 Z T (LB R )

The Company has formulated the Board Diversity Policy aiming at setting out the approach on diversity of the
Board.

The Board recognises the importance of having a diverse Board in enhancing the Board’s effectiveness
and corporate governance. A diverse Board includes and makes good use of differences in the skills,
industry knowledge and experience, education, background and other qualities of the Directors and does
not discriminate on the ground of race, age, gender, culture or religious belief. These differences are taken
into account in determining the optimum composition of the Board and when possible should be balanced
appropriately.

The Nomination Committee has responsibility for identifying and recommending candidates for approval by
the Board. It takes responsibility in assessing the appropriate mix of gender, age (18 years or above), culture,
experience, expertise, skills and diversity required on the Board and assessing the extent to which the required
skills are represented on the Board and overseeing the Board succession plan.

The Nomination Committee is also responsible for reviewing and reporting to the Board in relation to Board
diversity.

Board appointments will be based on merits of the candidates and other objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates to join the Board will be, in part, dependent on the pool of candidates with the necessary

knowledge, experience, skills, educational background and other qualities. The final decision will be based on

the chosen candidate’s merits and contributions that he/she will bring to the Board.

The Board considers that the Board diversity is a vital asset to the Company.

RRBETVCESEHESZTILEE)  BNRAEEEMENZ LIV A M o

%%@Eﬁ H—EZ Tt ESGUNEREFEUXEREEEANEZ - 2Tt ESEEEEREFNTEAR
CITEABNER  HE - %%%HEM%E{ ﬁﬁTﬁﬁigﬁAﬁﬁﬁ R MR UESRBEMEIER - IERE

ﬂIé%AﬂﬂAﬁ ERZERNZ  WHEAGREEENTE -

REZESAAVELEBESTREATES A AETHEFTEMFINEEAAMESTREANMKER - Fik
(18EE A L) ~ b ~ KBy - EXMBANE ﬁDﬁ%QFﬁﬁE’Mﬁdbl%vLA)SZﬁ**Xi%AE’J%Eﬁi‘J

REZBENAERERAEEEREAHESTENENZT/LER -

EENERHRBEEREANERLAEMTEREEEL  ROEZEXEAXHNEZTENE

‘I]]]D

Z LRI BR ©

BEREANMAEZERZSR  RREEATDTABMIONE LR Nt HEESSREMERERZE - REHR
EREBRNEREANBHNESE/AEFTRHFELNER -

EZeRREFENENZTL HRARRZ—HEENEE -
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) =& (4#&)

Corporate governance functions (continued) ¥ E6ME (£&)

Board Diversity Policy (continued) (ZEF &k 5 Z (LI E) (&)

The Nomination Committee and the Board will set and disclose numerical targets and timelines for achieving
gender diversity at Board level.

The Nomination Committee and the Board will take opportunity to increase the proportion of female members
on the Board over time when selecting and making recommendation on suitable candidates as Directors. The
Board would ensure that appropriate balance of gender diversity on the Board is achieved with reference to
stakeholders’ expectation and international and local recommended best practices. The Board also aspires to
having an appropriate proportion of Directors who have direct experience in the Group’s core markets, with
different backgrounds, and reflecting the Group’s strategy.

With a view to further improve the diversity of Board members, the Company will propose the appointment of a
female Director for the Shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be
held on Wednesday, 18 May 2022 (the “2022 AGM”). It is believed that the appointment of the female Director
will bring the gender, age, culture, experience, professional knowledge and skills of the Board members more in
line with the Board Diversity Policy and will better meet the expectations of the Shareholders, stakeholders and
investors.

REZBEGLESEHIUABRBEERBEFRRAR  UWEESSE@ED LN Z Tl -

REZEGNEFGARGEDENEBAENESREAR  HEEREZIRGEESUURENLY  EEEKE
EFHENHER2ZEREAMNEZERETRAUBRRESSSLNEHEANGEE FEMS - EEGTFIKEE
SHONEZABAKREZLOTSNERER TRES - LRRAKENKE -

RE—FSRAZFEHNEZ T ARABRERTER_Z__FRAATNR(EHRZ) BT ARFAEERRABFK
ST FRRAFARSDUAZE ULAMES  HEZIRBXUEEFAYEEFTERENMER - Fik - X
£ 8% FEANBLEEETE(ETEXNEZTEERE)  TEENTARR  FHE  KREENHE -

Dividend Policy {A%8E%E )

The Company adheres to the principle of sharing the fruit of its success with the Shareholders and considers
stable and sustainable dividends to the Shareholders to be its goal. The Company has adopted the Dividend
Policy, which is only a guideline on the distribution of dividends to the Shareholders.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject to the absolute discretion of the Board, and any
declaration of final dividend will be subject to the approval of the Shareholders. The distribution of dividends to
the Shareholders can be by way of cash or scrip or partly by cash or scrip or some other ways as determined
by the Board from time to time. Any payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions
under the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”), the
Articles of Association and the Shareholders.

ARFBREREANRERR D ZHNRALARELFEEHABREKEERERR - ARFAZRAREEE) - EIER
DS TRRHES

XMNEARENEZZRETFETSNRENEEMNE - AR RMREZERAFRRAERTAEE - MR BEHK

BARBBAEIABRKE TN LMHUREFABRKETR - KHEFSTRHRENEMTR - AR BN EMK
BNBEZEBEMENA Z+ ZB(RFHERGDTCRBMERD ) - (ERMAA) MEERMRR -
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) EE& (&)

Corporate governance functions (continued) ¥ ERME (&)

Dividend Policy (continued) (& 8B & )(#&)

The Board takes into account the following factors when considering the declaration and payment of dividends,
inter alia:

(1) the funding needs to the operation and business development of the Company from time to time;

(2) the market situation from time to time;

(3) the solvency requirements of the Companies Ordinance;

(4) cash flow and financial condition of the Company;

(5) the requirements of the Articles of Association and the relevant laws, rules and regulations applicable to the
Company;

(6) any banking or other funding covenants by which the Company is bound from time to time; and

(7) any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

When assessing the Company’s performance for each financial year or interim financial period, the Board shall
seek to maintain a steady dividend payment, and determine the dividend payout ratio after taking into account
the capital expenditure and cash flow for each financial year or interim financial period, while smoothing the effect
of any variation in the cash flow that may be due to one-off gains or losses in the same period.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time, which should not form a commitment on distribution of
dividends to the Shareholders and there is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for
any given period.

EXEenZRERIMRNKRER  @ZRATER(EFEE)

(1) ARATHHELMEBERNESHT R

(2) TEFHIMIFHER :

(3) REEBI)EVEEENEK

(4) ANATEREHRIBARR

(5) (ERMAA) RBEEERRARRIANER  ERNRBEENR

6) ARBTEFEMBRITHEAMRELE BIAVRFKE RS : K&

(7) EUEMEESRR/EENERE -

EEARRASEMBFEEXF PRV BBAMc XERERN  EFSEAR —ERTEREQBFNRE - 2R FSEI K
FRH AN BN E R MR X BRI A ISR R TR S E (IR AT e ER R IR — RIS s B A M 811

EROER) °

(B BBER) G TR - TERKADERE FREMNESE  BUYTMRBETAHRAGY FEMSEHRS
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) & & (#)

Training for Directors EE1Z |

Each newly appointed Director receives an induction training covering the statutory and regulatory obligation
of a director of a listed company. The Company continuously updates Directors with the latest developments
and amendments to the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements, and provides trainings and
relevant reading materials to develop and refresh the Directors’ knowledge and skKills.

During the year under review, the Company provided Directors with monthly updates on the performance,
position and prospects of the Company. The Company also provided Directors with monthly analysis report on
the Company’s stock price performance, monthly journal, quarterly regulatory updates and biannual shareholder
analysis report.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuing professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills as Directors in order to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. The Company has prepared a training record in order to assist the Directors in recording the training
that they have undertaken.

During the year under review, the Company organised trainings for the Directors on (i) Base Erosion and Profit
Shifting, BEPS 2.0 Highlights and the implications to corporates; (ii) the induction training for each newly
appointed Director; and (iii) Snapshot of Anti-Corruption Laws in Hong Kong, and issued written training
materials from time to time to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills of the Directors. Some Directors
also attended seminars/conferences/forums/trainings relevant to their profession and duties as Directors.

BEMZENETHESHEIEI  ARRELTARNESFEEIRAMNEERTLZEECNER - ARABENESRR
HBEBCLEMRADMEMEREERE KM BRI - AREFIEEEEY ARREEHFESOHMBMIREE -

REEFEER  ARARAEFRHABARARE - MAMAISNEAEHRER - ARARTRAEFREHEBEARRK
BEXRROEADNRS - AT TEEEEH ULFFERROTRSE -

ARRBBHEE2MFEIEER  UBRYFFESOMBANRGE  WEREEEERGEEEEARIAMTNIE
MATHEZSFLER - ARACHAEIRE - BHHEFCHRMEZNEI -

REBEFERN AArAEELH T HBHERaEFBEEE (Base Erosion and Profit Shifting * BEPS)2.0f 1T &

HEGCENTE  ()1BRHEEEFORERI RNVEBERBEVNME 2EHI - RFEEHEEEIAERIL BN
BEENHMBNTEE - EHNEFESN T AHEEENETRBNERS, G& -/ H5 -
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) E5& (#&)
Training for Directors (continued) EE& 3 (&)
Below is a summary of the trainings the Directors received during the year under review:

REBEFER  EFMEINEIHENT

Types of Training Note4

Name of Directors EEUH 5| KR A M4
Executive Directors HITEF

Mr. Wang Tianyi FRELE A,B,C
Mr. Luan Zusheng Nete B8 BR S AB,C
Mr. Hu Yanguo FAAE B St A A,B,C
Mr. Qian Xiaodong BRER LA A.B,C
Mr. An Xuesong Note 2 BN ST M A.B,C
Former Executive Director BI#ITESE

Mr. Wong Kam Chung, Raymond Note3 =B S A AB,C
Independent Non-executive Directors B IR ITEE

Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip BLBLE AC
Mr. Mar Selwyn BIREEE A,C
Mr. Zhai Haitao BEBEE AC
Mr. Suo Xuquan RERTE A.C

Notes HfizE :
1. Mr. Luan Zusheng was appointed as an Executive Director, with effect from 1 June 2021;

2. Mr. An Xuesong was appointed as an Executive Director, with effect from 5 October 2021;
TENEEEZERDTESE BT —FTARBREN:

3.  Mr. Wong Kam Chung, Raymond resigned as an Executive Director, with effect from 5 October 2021; and
SWMEAERTIRTES B —F+ARARBER &

4. A: attending seminars/conferences/forums/trainings
SMEREGE wmIEIE

B: giving talks at seminars/conferences
RE#E /g% EER

C: reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy, environmental protection business or directors’ duties

and responsibilities, etc.
MEAMLE RREBGIESREZT 2 RE IVRETER
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) £ & (4#&)

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management EEF 5 E1E A 8 5

The remuneration of the members of the senior management by band for the year ended 31 December 2021 is
set out below:

BE T F+_A=+—"BULFESREBABZFHFMERNNT

Remuneration band (HK$) AR TT) Number of persons A £k
$3,000,001 to $4,000,000 3,000,0017Tc£4,000,0007T 3

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid employees as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the financial statements,
respectively.

RBCETRADMBA ANEAREETF AR L EZRSFMERREZE—LFHE - DRERMERKRMTORI0 -
NUMBER OF BOARD MEETINGS AND BOARD COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND
ATTENDANCE RATE OF DIRECTORS €5 hES2Z 888 A NREFHNLFE R

The following table shows the number of Board meetings and Board committee meetings held during the year
under review as well as the attendance rate of the Directors:

TREROBEFEAARRABITNESENESTERE SRR RBUANREENHFERE

Number of meetings attended/held Note6
B/ BITHE R RGN

Risk

Audit  Management Nomination Remuneration
Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Committee Committee
- E5g EnZEe RREEZES RE%ZE® FMZzEg
Executive Directors
HITEE
Mr. Wang Tianyi Nete! 6/6 N/A N/A 3/3 4/4
FRE KA @R TER
Mr. Luan Zusheng Nt ? 2/2 N/A 1/1 N/A N/A
AR K A EA ER ¥l
Mr. Hu Yanguo Mete 8 5/6 N/A 2/2 N/A N/A
L 4 A ma EA ¥k EA
Mr. Qian Xiaodong 5/6 N/A N/A N/A N/A
BEBERLE il TEM TER Nl
Mr. An Xuesong MNote* 1/1 N/A N/A N/A N/A
REM G M R TEm Nl E R
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NUMBEROFBOARDNEEﬂNGSANDBOARDCOMMHTEEMEEHNGSAND
ATTENDANCE RATE OF DIRECTORS (continued) =g hEE2L 82 R AHENEES

B H R B (&)
Number of meetings attended/held Mot 6
M/ BITHE & IRE e
Risk
Audit  Management Nomination Remuneration
Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Committee Committee
o E5g EnZEe RREEZES REZE® FMZzEg

Former Executive Director

AHITEE

Mr. Wong Kam Chung, Raymond Nete s 5/5 N/A 2/2 N/A N/A
B8 S s @A &R @A
Independent Non-executive Directors

BUFHITEF

Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip 6/6 3/3 2/2 3/3 4/4
BLBLE

Mr. Mar Selwyn 6/6 3/3 2/2 3/3 4/4
SHELE

Mr. Zhai Haitao 6/6 3/3 N/A 3/3 4/4
BEELE TER

Mr. Suo Xuquan 6/6 N/A 2/2 3/3 4/4
REERE @R

Total number of meetings 6 3 2 3 4
SRAY

Notes Fft:F :

1.

Mr. Wang Tianyi resigned as the chairman of the Disclosure Committee with effect from 1 June 2021;
ERBEEFIREZES IR BT —F A —HREN:

Mr. Luan Zusheng was appointed as an Executive Director, the chairman of the Disclosure Committee and a member of the Risk
Management Committee with effect from 1 June 2021;
BN ERZERNTES KEZEGER  URAREREZEENE BT —F A —HEBER:

Mr. Hu Yanguo resigned as a member of the Risk Management Committee with effect from 5 October 2021;
MLEREEFIRAREREZEGCKE BT —FT-AREBEREN:

Mr. An Xuesong was appointed as an Executive Director and a member of Risk Management Committee with effect from
5 October 2021;
ZEMAEEZERNTES  UNKEAREBZEGKE BT +ARBRER:

Mr. Wong Kam Chung, Raymond resigned as an Executive Director and a member of each of the Risk Management Committee
and the Disclosure Committee with effect from 5 October 2021;
ERBELRIATES  UKRREEZESRFBEZES2REAKE B2 —F+ARAREN:

Some Directors attended the aforesaid meetings by electronic means such as telephone or video-conferencing; and
BHREFFRBAIGESRSEFRTE2E LR &k

In 2021, no Disclosure Committee meeting was held.
RIZB-—%F REAREMREZESEH -
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THE DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITIES BETWEEN THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD AND
THECEOC EE2 X FhBHCBENT

The roles of the Chairman of the Board and the CEO should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Generally, the Chairman of the Board is responsible for the management of the Board and the
CEO is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Company’s business. The division of responsibilities
between the Chairman of the Board and the CEO has been clearly established.

The main duties of the Chairman of the Board include providing leadership for and overseeing the functioning
of the Board; ensuring that all the Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and
giving each Director an opportunity to express his view at Board meetings; ensuring that the Directors receive
adequate information, which must be accurate, clear, complete and reliable, in a timely manner; ensuring that
the Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities; ensuring that all key and appropriate issues are
discussed by the Board in a timely manner; drawing up and approving the agenda for each Board meeting,
taking into account, where appropriate, any matters proposed by the other Directors for inclusion in the agenda;
taking responsibility for ensuring that good corporate governance practices and procedures are established;
encouraging all Directors to make a full and active contribution to the Board’s affairs and taking the lead to
ensure that the Board acts in the best interests of the Company; encouraging Directors with different views
to voice their concerns, allow sufficient time for discussion of issues and ensure that Board decisions fairly
reflect Board consensus; ensuring that appropriate steps are taken to provide effective communication with the
Shareholders and that views of the Shareholders are communicated to the Board as a whole; promoting a culture
of openness and debate by facilitating the effective contribution of Non-executive Directors in particular and
ensuring constructive relations between Executive Directors and INEDs.

The duties of the CEO include taking responsibility for the Group’s operation and management; executing and
implementing decisions and plans approved by the Board; making day-to-day operational and managerial
decisions; and coordinating overall business operations.

il

EXeXTRRLENAGRERY U TEH-ARERE - —RM5 EFSTIFEEETREES  AHRAER
BARRNBAERER BFSIFELARZABENDIEBFERCLUE@INE -

EXeIRNIERECRREEEeNERERRY RREFSSZ LMAEREENTENNFELEST
%ﬁ%&%%Aéﬁiﬁkﬁﬁﬁm%A'ﬁ%%%&%%UE DHIER - A R E IR R R M M et 5
ﬁ%%%Aﬁam@W HETEBER MREFSLEHMAEEENEEFTHLETHW  BETAMEBRESS
EHMNEE  EEERAT  EERETREFMEMESRIMAZENEMNEE  AEERERAQFGERIFHOEE
amﬁﬁ&ﬁf %%%ﬁi%zﬂ&kﬁ%@%ﬁ WASIER  MREFGTENTAARAKRENED - HBFT
AERNEEHRELAGMINERE GLTELEERARKHENR  URBREFTNARATHEAEIRREEZSN
HE - MRRIEESBRFEARRAUBE - ANBREREAVEZEIREAESS - MIREAR  BEARHX
£ REEZ(FHEFUTES)HEFTSFLARER - LRARVTEFTRB U IFNTES CHEFERIENRE

RENBERRAEAKENELNERE TR EEEFEWRENGE  FHELEEEMNAFERE - RIHAEE
EBES o
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS &y 3Es1TE %=

After the signing of the renewal of the appointment letters, Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip, Mr. Zhai Haitao and Mr. Suo
Xuqguan, the INEDs, hold office for a term from 1 January 2022 to the conclusion of the 2024 annual general
meeting. They are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Articles of Association.
After the signing of the renewal of the appointment letter, Mr. Mar Selwyn, an INED, holds office from 1 January
2022. He is subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles of Association. Since Mr. Mar Selwyn
would like to devote more time to his other personal engagements, he will not offer himself for re-election and
accordingly, he will cease to act as an INED upon the conclusion of the 2022 AGM. With a view to fill a casual
vacancy occasioned by the retirement of Mr. Mar Selwyn, the Board will propose to elect a new INED at the 2022
AGM for the Shareholders’ approval.

In accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Board is of the
view that all INEDs are independent (notwithstanding that for (i) Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip under Rule 3.13(7) of the
Listing Rules, he had been a Non-executive Director prior to his re-designation as an INED and has served as
an INED for more than 9 years since December 2012; (ii) Mr. Mar Selwyn was appointed and has served as an
INED for more than 9 years since September 2004; and (iii) Mr. Zhai Haitao was appointed and has served as an
INED for more than 9 years since January 2011) and the Company has received an annual written confirmation
of independence from each of the INEDs pursuant to the requirements in the Listing Rules.

Moreover, the Directors are of the opinion that Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip, Mr. Mar Selwyn and Mr. Zhai Haitao
remain independent as the INEDs, and there is no evidence of their independence being affected by Mr. Fan Yan
Hok, Philip’s re-designation of Board position or their over 9 years length of tenure. They have not engaged in
any executive management of the Group. Throughout their positions of the INEDs, they have participated in the
meetings of the Board and Board committees to give objective views and impartial advice as well as exercise
independent judgement. The Board believes that the extensive knowledge and experience of Mr. Fan Yan Hok,
Philip, Mr. Mar Selwyn and Mr. Zhai Haitao to the Group’s business and their external experience continue to be
of significant benefit to the Group, and that they maintain an independent view of the Company’s affairs.

INEDs are identified as such in all corporate communications containing names of the Directors. The latest list of
the Directors identifying the INEDs and the roles and functions of the Directors is available on the websites of the
Company and HKEXx.

HEEBRLERE  BUFRTESBLCHLLE gi%ﬁ'ﬁi&%%%f‘ﬁiﬁ’]&ﬁﬁ@:?::i A—BEEZ-2—-m
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS EF #1755 52
fZ =7 A

The Group has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct for Directors’ transactions in
securities of the Company. Having made specific enquiries to the Directors, all Directors confirmed that they had
complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in the Model Code throughout their tenure during the
year ended 31 December 2021.

The Company also adopted the Model Code for the securities transactions by relevant employees of the
Company, including relevant employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The Group has formulated the Inside Information Reporting Policy, which provides the Directors and the
employees with inside information reporting guidelines, to enhance the inside information management of the
Group.

AEEFRACETRAD M+ FAE(EMETARTETERRZNFRETAND(RETRD D ERESETARAE
FRHEFEEMES - RAMBESELREEAR  MAEFHERENEBE T~ F+ - A=+—HILFELH
N—EETRETRDFABMARE -

AR ARER (BRARRNRAEMBARIZABRER)VETHNRERRS - ARFHEEAT RETA) -
AEECHE(ARBERERR)  REFLEERHERANTHEENES - NRAEEAREEERE -

COMPANY SECRETARY A alfrZ

The Company Secretary is accountable to the Board for ensuring that Board policies and procedures are
followed and Board activities are efficiently and effectively conducted. The Company Secretary is a full-time
employee of the Company. Although the Company Secretary reports to the Chairman of the Board and the
CEQ, all the Directors may call upon the Company Secretary for assistance and advice at any time in respect to
their duties and other governance matters, so as to ensure effective operation of the Board and the committees
thereunder. The Company Secretary advises the Board on governance matters and facilitates the induction and
professional development of Directors. For the year under review, the Company Secretary confirmed that she
had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

RAWENEEFSEE  UHRETEFERRNERF  UNRBEFSEBARXRARET - RAWERLARAAE
BES HARNFMENEFTSIERAHER E2REFHIBKERAFAWERHAFBETEELAMER
HENEREGE HRAREFGLREABETZEGNANEE - RrNEEEREATERNESSRHES YTAAEES
MERAMRERER - REBEFE @ 2R EERECEI IR TR NROEBERE -

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS #Z&E 3%

During the year under review, there was no change in the Articles of Association.

REBEFER  (ERRAD T EZS -
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR #MNEE 4% £ AM

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing the Company’s financial statements.

It is the auditor’s responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on its audit, on the Company’s financial
statements and to report its opinions solely to the Shareholders, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of
the Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. The auditor does not assume responsibility towards or
accepts liability to any other person for the contents of the independent auditor’s report.

The external auditor of the Company for the year under review was EY. Apart from the provision of annual
audit services, EY also carried out interim review of the Group’s results and provided (i) assurance services
in connection with the requirements under the Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance; (ii) tax advisory
services; (iii) assurance services and agreed-upon procedures in connection with the corporate financing
exercises of the Group; and (iv) advisory services in connection with implementation of financial reporting system
of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the total fees paid/payable in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided by EY to the Group are set out below:

EEAREERUEMBHRROEL -

ZEE s BERBRERSFEZTENER  HARRAMBHRRELBILER - WIRBCQBERD) F406E60RE © 2
FRREL RS © FRiL 25 - ZWMETATBIEEMAE - RBEHTBLZBMBENARAT  HEAEMEALEE
HAEEAE

REBFEAN  ARBZINERBEIRL K - BEFREEFZRBEI A TEHAKRENTHES  ROBEAEE
12 IR (B SR KT BUR D)) ROAR TE MR AR RE AR © (DR AR © (R AREZ ARREAB MM 2 %E R
BREENRR © R(v)SUEE AR R E 2 B HE R m it AR -

BE-Z-—F+-A=+-RALFEAR ZKAAEERREZIGFERREEN, BN EREENT

2021 2020
—EB-—F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T

Type of services B 7 %8 51
Audit services ENZIRTE 13,155 11,611
Non-audit services* IEEZRIE* 4,124 5,506
17,279 17,117

*

Non-audit services include tax advisory and other related services.
* IEBERIRGBIEN A R E AR AR o
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS [ f& & 12 & A &0 es

The Board has full responsibility for the Group’s risk management and internal control systems, which include the
establishment of a defined management structure with specified limits of authority. The systems are designed to
help the Group achieve business objectives, safeguard assets against unauthorised use or disposition, ensure
the maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information for internal use
or for publication and ensure compliance with relevant legislations and regulations. The risk management and
internal control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risks of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems for the year ended 31 December 2021. This review covered all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls, and internal audit function, and also considered the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting functions,
and their training programmes and budget. The Board considered that the risk management and internal control
systems were effective and adequate. The Risk Management Department reports to the Risk Management
Committee on the control of principal risks and internal control implementation. Any internal control weaknesses
of the Group detected by the Internal Audit Department is reported to the Audit Committee and the Management.
Accordingly, the Management takes remedial actions and the Internal Audit Department subsequently follows up
and reviews whether the remedial actions in place are adequate.

To provide effective internal controls, the Board has established the following key procedures:

EEg2RAEAKENEREELRAMEZERSG SRV EERBIERNER - ZEXREEHIHAKEZR
XBER  REEENDAEEEELAILE BEFALEESHCHENRHAI SNV EBEBRHEANEARE I &
o WERETERAGIEBRA - AREEMAMEEERE EEEMIPBRAREEXNEXHEENAR - MARAA
BUEXFBE)RETSHREEARERAHEX -

EEECHAKRERE T —F+ A=+ RALFENERREERABEZE RGN AREETR - ZFRAE
EIIAEEMEE  FHIRMKEE ELEE  AREE  URAMEZYE  LEBARRES MU EERR
ETHEAARANER BIEERER ULRERETERRNEBIRIRELEHESE -EFERRAREERA
MEZERFBARNEH - AREEBINERRARMZEFIBERMAMEZNATEARNRREEZEGER - WEE
REMAEEANFEZNGE  NEEFHERAEZZEGREEREER - Fit - BEEESRIMERNMTESENA
BB HERRENEZABMULEREE RN -

RIREHBRATEZE  EFEBY T NI EERT
- Organisational Structure A& 2R 4
An appropriate organisational structure of the Group is in place with defined operating policies and

procedures as well as responsibility and reporting lines.

AEBECREAENEMRE  BRITAEBENELRRENERF  BENMEHRRE -
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued) 2k & 12 & N ERES 1% (42 )

Authority and Controls #BR [ E5 3

The Executive Directors and senior management are delegated with respective levels of authorities to carry
out the corporate strategies, policies and the related matters formulated by the Board, and also perform
execution based on related internal control requirements of the existing policies and procedures.

HTESNEMEEABERTHBEERNATESSHAINLERE  BRRBRED - LREBBHEER
EHAEBABEZENERTE -

Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting 78 & 12 &l 2 B 75 BE 3R

The Group implements budget management, and financial budget is executed upon approval by the Board.
Relevant procedures have been established to assess, review and approve major capital and recurrent
expenditures, and regular review and comparison between operating results and the budget are made.

The Group has established appropriate internal control procedures to ensure the complete and accurate
accounting and management records are kept on a timely basis. Examination and review are carried out
regularly to ensure that the financial statements are properly prepared in conformity with the generally
accepted accounting principles, the Group’s accounting policies and the applicable laws and regulations.

AEEETEERE  MEREAEFERRRIT - AREC T LEBRFAFMG - e Mt EZNEANE
MBS - WER R BELERERE -

AEBECEEENAREZRERF - BREZE - ERXERDEE NEREE - EMETRIRES - BREY
BREANORET A —RRBAWEER - REESFER - UEREEARRER °

Internal Auditing R8st

The Group has its Internal Audit Department, which has regularly conducted internal audits to review whether
the risk management and internal control procedures are being implemented appropriately.

AREERAABERTE - WEHETABRT AT AREENAMEZEEFEEMERTT ©

The Group has established an internal whistleblowing policy and system for employees of the Company to raise
concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal controls or other matters.

AEEHET A RBHER RS BEAREPRMFER  ASEZEREMTEAEEENTEETRIRHEE -
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued) 2k & 12 & RN EPESIE (&)
In order to achieve effective step-by-step management, the Group has set up 3 lines of defence system in risk
management and internal controls as follows:

AEERY TUTHRARERMAIMEZN =B RABER  ERAUNERER

First Line of Defence % — &R &

The first line of defence includes business sectors, regional centers and project companies. They are
responsible for continuous identification, assessment, monitoring and report of risks in operating process and
implementation of specific process for risk management and internal control systems.

F-BUREBREEEBRRE BREPONRB QR AEHELEEPORRSERN - FHE  EERESR  BEA
RETERANBEERGHEEIRE -

Second Line of Defence % — &[5 &

The second line of defence includes functional departments of the headquarters, functional departments in all
sectors and Risk Management Department. They are responsible for the regular review of overall risk level and
effectiveness of control measures in principal risks.

FE B BEAE BT - SWRBELFINERERS  BETHTLBERORRER BRI ZRMREEE
e e A R

Third Line of Defence £ =&/ &
The third line of defence is Internal Audit Department, which is responsible for the regular review on the follow-
up actions taken in enhancing risk management and internal control systems.

Adherence to the principle of “Up-and-Down Coordination and Cross-segmental Cooperation”, the Group has
strengthened its risk management through promotion of risk management system and establishment of the risk
management working network. The Risk Management Committee under the Board takes accountability on risk
management, and reviews the corporate risk management and internal controls at least twice a year.

The Risk Management Department is responsible for the implementation of the risk management system and the
evaluation of internal controls, and the evaluation of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems through on-site risk research, collection of risk information and other measures.

FZBHRR/ARRARET  AETHECRREENAREERFBENZERR -

AEENATETEE  AERE IREERNZEEERAREERER  EURREE TERSK  BARREEKY - &
EZeE TRREEZEHARERETHFEE  EFMTORMAHEERREEMAREZBERETR

RRERFeERREERZZEMNANEZFMGEITE  BERSRRAN BRESEESEHN - FHEREEN
MBI R A L -

Annual Report 2021 | =& = — 4§

107



108

Corporate Governance Report ¥ &R HE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued) [&\f& & 32 & NS EE 15 (42 )
Third Line of Defence (continued) S =Eh 4R (42)

In 2021, the Group issued Everbright Environment 2021 Risk Management Instructions in accordance with the
Risk Management Systems, Risk Management Operation Manual and Everbright Environment Internal Control
Management Manual, detailed the workflow and specific implementation requirements of risk management and
internal controls, enhanced the supervision and inspection mechanism of risk management and internal controls.
The Company enhanced the list of risk factors and evaluation criteria of risk effect degree, and continuously
maintained the risk event database within the year. According to the changes of external environment and actual
operation, the Company used unified evaluation scope, evaluation criteria, evaluation process and tools, carried
out risk evaluation work of the year, determined principal risks of the year and established effective control
measures, continuously analysed the effectiveness of control methods and followed up specific control effect.
During the year, the Company conducted internal control evaluation from company level, business level and
information system level, etc. to improve the effectiveness of internal controls. The Company has continued to
carry out special inspection work on risks to improve normalisation of risk management and internal controls.

The Company paid high attention to risk awareness and improvement of risk management ability, carried out
different forms of risk management related trainings, enhanced on-site risk inspection and special inspection,
improved standardisation of risk management within the year.

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information, the
Group has established the Disclosure Committee. The Board has delegated the day-to-day execution of its
continuous disclosure obligations to the Disclosure Committee. Moreover, the Group has formulated the Inside
Information Reporting Policy to ensure that potential inside information can be promptly identified, assessed and
escalated, if necessary, for the attention of the Disclosure Committee and/or the Board to decide about the need
for disclosure.

—FTo—F ARERB(RAREEHNE)  (RREZREFM RCCRRERNZEEFMIOER - THECOLKRER
“E-FRBEETEREEER) At TRREEEAREZENTEREMABRTESR 27 AREEEANI
EREERTHE  c ARFARNFATE TEARERFENRARZERENHERE  UHELERREHERE - RIZ
SMERIRIBEEMBRELNR - ARATRAG-NFEHE  FERE  FERENFE TR  HREFERBRFGT
tE BETFEIZRBRIETBAMIE T ARNERER  FESTEEEENBRIEMBEREHEZRR -
ARRRFEARARET XBEH  EEAREEOSHREAMEZN G IE  RAANMBEZOERE - KRARRF
NFERREAREERETE - BAAREEMARMEIREIE TIEMEREL -

ARAREERRREMMNARELZENNES  FARRZEEANRRERAREEI - S RARBRSZEMER
BEIE - BAARERMNRELKFE

EFRRENREMABEESNEFNAREE  AEEREREZES HESSRERERBEREEINAERTT
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CODE OF CONDUCT 3=t 2#£81])

The Group places utmost |mportanoe on employees’ ethical, personal and professional standards. Every
employee is required to undertake to adhere to the Code of Conduct of the Group, and is expected to achieve
the highest standards set out in the Code of Conduct including avoidance of conflict of interests, discrimination
or harassment and bribery and corruption, etc. Employees are required to report any non-compliance with the
Code of Conduct to the Management.

AEEBAEGREENER BARERRTER - SREEHEAARETARE ZCGRTER)  AEEHNEMERE
B GRTEAD RIS SER - ERE2NEER - BRKREER - LA&H’EH%&EE—% BEAREEERSE
R RCETERDER -

INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL WHISTLEBLOWING AND INVESTIGATION POLICIES A8 &
HNERER ) M A E A

To enhance the transparency, integrity and accountability of the Group and to retain a consistently high
standard of corporate governance, the Company has put in place Internal Whistleblowing and Investigation
Policy and External Whistleblowing and Investigation Policy (the “Policies”). The Policies apply to the employees/
related persons (including but not limited to investors, lenders, suppliers, customers, services providers and
government, etc.) of the Group (excluding China Everbright Greentech Limited, China Everbright Water Limited
and their respective subsidiaries). The Policies are designed to provide the employees/related persons with
confidential whistleblowing channels to report the actual or suspected illegal activities and misconducts in
corporate financial reporting, internal controls or other areas in which the Company’s attention should be drawn
and investigation should be initiated. The Policies are available under the “Corporate Governance” section of the
Company’s website at www.cebenvironment.com.

BIREAEEEENEHE BRE  MEULBIRE EBESENLEEHIZE  AQRRABCAEBEIR KL FEH
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EITAREREBRES  SIEARREENRADT - ZSFHIEEHN AR A HIEwww.cebenvironment.com[ 12 &8 |56
BA e

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ZE £ 58175
WERMEENEE

The Directors confirm that they are responsible for the preparation of the Group’s financial statements. A
statement by EY, the external auditor of the Company, about its reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements of the Group is included in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 142 to 150.

The Finance Management Department of the Company is taken charge by the CFO. With the assistance of the
Finance Management Department, the Directors ensure that the Group’s financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with relevant regulations and applicable accounting principles.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern as referred to in Code Provision C.1.3 of the
CG Code.

EEMREVNHEEANEBTFRETAEBEEAET - NARINEXZHBENL K AEB I ERRAIEZ BRETEAIH
RE142BEEF1508 2 B IZHBENTRENA o

ARANMBEEMAVBREARERE - AMBEERNHRY T EFERAKRENBRROBRTEBREIR R
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS & 5 &9 4 7

The Company recognises the importance of maintaining effective communication with the Shareholders and the
investors and also recognises the value of providing current and relevant information to the Shareholders and the
investors. The Board has established the Shareholders Communication Policy setting out the principles of the
Company in relation to the Shareholders’ communication, with the objective of ensuring the Shareholders and
investors are provided with ready, equal and timely access to current and relevant information about the Group.

The Company maintains on-going dialogue with the Shareholders through annual general meetings or other
general meetings of the Company and encourages their participation in such meetings.

Notices of general meetings which contain agenda, proposed resolutions and voting form, are sent to the
registered Shareholders by post.

All registered Shareholders are entitled to attend annual general meetings and extraordinary general meetings of
the Company, provided that their shares have been recorded in the register of members of the Company.

Annual and interim reports offer comprehensive operational and financial performance information to the
Shareholders, and the annual general meeting provides a forum for the Shareholders to exchange views directly
with members of the Board, which together help enhance and facilitate communication with the Shareholders.
Shareholders who are unable to attend a general meeting may complete and return the proxy form enclosed
with notice of meeting to the Company’s Share Registrar, in order to give proxy to their representatives, another
Shareholder or chairman of the meeting.

ARRHAEBRREREERFRIFBBNERNE - tRBIABRRRREERUEMAFEANEE EFSHE
TRERBAEE)  JIHARRBRABRREBMA R - SEBRREREEEE  EBGEKX - BRRERNAKE K
FAARA AR

ARBBUBBRRBFAGHEMARB ZBERAGHRR —ERFBEAY BB REFLEZFTEE
BRAERE(HEHE RENARBRIRERB)  UBEHAFXTERRR -
EAECHROBRLEARBZERBFAGLBRREHIAE  ERENBRHBACERRARAZRRAMA -
FERTHHRESBREHEL MY BEERANTRESN  EREFASARREHEEZENEERRIBERD
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CONVENING OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING ON REQUISITION BY
SHAREHOLDERS ER R ZER AR RS RIA®

Pursuant to section 566 of the Companies Ordinance, the members of the Company representing at least 5% of
the total voting rights of all the members having a right to vote at general meetings may request the Directors to
call a general meeting. The request must state the general nature of business to be dealt with at the meeting and
may include the text of a resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting. The
request may consist of several documents in like form and may be sent to the Company in hard copy form or in
electronic form and must be authenticated by the person(s) making it.

If the Directors do not proceed duly within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the request to convene a
general meeting for a day not more than 28 days after the date on which the notice convening a general meeting
is given, the members who requested the meeting or any of them representing more than one-half of the total
voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a general meeting, provided that the general meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3 months from such date.

The general meeting convened by such members shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible,
as that in which general meetings are to be convened by the Directors.

RIBCARIED) F5661F - HHEBRRAE ERZERNEERRARERERIE% I ARARR - JBKREZTAHRK
RAE - EHZRELAIAKRE LERENTHEN —RIEE - RAUSEBRNE LEESRLHNE LHRNRER
NE - BRAZREAR2ZDHRAINXT - XAEREHNARAREFHLARARRERLY - HELALHELZ K
A TRRE °

HEFEZEREXNAREF -+ KA REEARRRASBNEEL MR -+ ARALHAR —RKBERK
€ AZEFERARABRRASHER  SE2BZFRRNVAREEBFHNERR - JBTEARKRAS - B A
FEBCR RS NEE LA F R AR =@ A EmgsT -

HERRREBFAOKRERS  BERAUENBIESFERARRRENTAEH -
PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSAL AT ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING iz REBEF KE g h

S

Pursuant to section 615 of the Companies Ordinance, the members of the Company may request the Company
to give, to members of the Company entitled to receive notice of the annual general meeting, notice of a
resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting. The request may be sent
to the Company in hard copy form or in electronic form and must identify the resolution of which notice is to be
given, be authenticated by the person or persons making it and be received by the Company not later than 6
weeks before the annual general meeting to which the requests relate; or if later, the time at which notice is given

of that meeting.

The Company will give notice of a resolution if it has received the requests from (a) members representing at
least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the members of the Company who have a relevant right to vote on
the resolution to which the requests relate; or (b) at least 50 members who have a relevant right to vote on the
resolution to which the requests relate.

RIFCARHEDI) E6150% - RARRERAZBRARRAAREDBRREFASBENRRELRAZRAS - MARR
FRHNBRRAFAS LEEIZIHN G LBZ - FRELEAEBENAARETHARRZIART - WARH
RPELREMIRRR  BUAKHREERKNALRRE  URARRLENERABRREF KRG E1THHRIN
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PROPOSING A PERSON FOR ELECTION AS A DIRECTOR 22 A TIREEERIEF
The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director are available under the
“Corporate Governance” section of the Company’s website at www.cebenvironment.com.

R IR 2R EEEMNIZF O HN AR TR www. cebenvironment.coml 12 &34 | A A ©

2021 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING —ZE = —FKREFEF K

At the 2021 annual general meeting (“2021 AGM”) of the Company, a separate resolution was proposed by
the chairman of the meeting in respect of each separate issue, including to receive and consider the audited
consolidated financial statements and the report of the Directors and independent auditor’s report for the year
ended 31 December 2020; to declare a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020; to re-elect each
retiring Director; to re-appoint the auditor of the Company and to authorise the Board to fix its remuneration;
to grant a general mandate to the Directors to issue new shares not exceeding 20% of the total number of
issued shares; to grant a general mandate to the Directors to buy back shares not exceeding 10% of the total
number of issued shares; and to extend the general mandate granted to the Directors to issue new shares. All
resolutions were duly passed by the Shareholders by way of poll at the meeting. All Directors and members of
Board committees at that time attended the meeting in person or by electronic means such as telephonic or
video-conferencing to answer questions of the Shareholders. The Company announced the results of the poll in
the manner prescribed under the Listing Rules.

RARBR ZZ-_—FRRBFAG( T —FRREFAE])  @2TFEABEBUNFRABHRZBIORER -
BREENERBE_Z_ZTFT_A=+ " PALFELERNGEVBHRREEETERE LB ZEMRE - Tk
BEZZF+_A=+-"HUEFERYRE ZEZRIEF EERZMNIREEESETHENE RTE=S
BT TEBERITRMAE20%H RN 2 —REE RTEFEBIBBEHITRMAZI0%KMN 2 —REELEX
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2021 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (continued) —ZE — —FilxRBAF K (&)

The attendance records of the Directors at the 2021 AGM are set out below:

EFEHFE_T_—FRRBFAGZRENT

Name of Directors 2021 AGM
BERMA T FRREAFRE
Executive Directors

HITEFE

Mr. Wang Tianyi 1
FTRERE

Mr. Luan Zusheng Nete ! N/A
BRI AR S A T iE A
Mr. Hu Yanguo 1
HARE B 5 A=

Mr. Qian Xiaodong 1
Mr. An Xuesong MNet? N/A
REH S A2 i
Former Executive Director

BI#iTESE

Mr. Wong Kam Chung, Raymond 1
=R A

Independent Non-executive Directors

HUINTEFE

Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip 1
BICEEA

Mr. Mar Selwyn 1
Mr. Zhai Haitao 1
BEELE

Mr. Suo Xuquan 1
REREE

Notes Bff:F :
1. Mr. Luan Zusheng was appointed as an Executive Director and the CEO, with effect from 1 June 2021.
BERTERZERNTESTRAY BT —F A —HEBEXR -

2. Mr. An Xuesong, a Vice President of the Company, was appointed as an Executive Director and the CFO, with effect from

5 October 2021.
ARNBRBRE LSRR T ARTESRYBRE BT —F+ARARBER -
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS & EHBER NGB

The Company recognises the importance of efficient and effective communication with the investor community.
Briefings and meetings with institutional investors and analysts through various communication channels,
including teleconference, video conference, video web-casting, etc. are conducted regularly to provide them
with up-to-date and comprehensive information about the Group’s development. Besides, the Company
facilitates the initiation and coverage of the Company published by research analysts of well-received investment
banks which are instrumental in providing investors with independent and professional evaluations of the
Company. Moreover, the Group participates in different international forums and overseas non-deal roadshows
to elaborate on the Group’s business development plans to global investors. Furthermore, the Company
arranges site visits for investors and media to its key projects in the PRC. Last but not least, the Company has
established a function dedicated to investor relations and engaged an external public relations company to take
care of investor relations matters. The Company also maintains a website (www.cebenvironment.com) which
renders Shareholders, investors and the general public direct access to the information of the Group on a timely
basis.

In order to enable the Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner, and to allow them to engage
actively with the Company, the Shareholders Communication Policy of the Company has been established.
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Company through the “Investor
Relations” section of the Company’s website at www.cebenvironment.com. Shareholders may also make
enquiries with the Board at the general meetings of the Company.

ARG BEFEREREENSBNERNBER - ARR S HEBTRBAREEKERELELAMERITHRE L
CHEEEATE  GHIRMAGIGHERS  ARSRHEBEASERRNSTHEZEAEE - 1IN - RAAWHEA
FRERITHOMESTAARRTREDNHRE - WREFNREREESEARFNB LR EETME - 1 - A5
EHETRAOBEERGRENEIINIERSRE  MERREEEMMAEBENERERTE - B AQAREEBEHE
R BREENHEERREMAPENE TEZER - ARFEREEEREEBENRE  YEBZIINEL2EBARE
EREEMENSEE - AR T 2B (www.cebenvironment.com) A% E « RHEEHE M AR A THEBEREANTEH -

BTERREABNER TITERERROEN - WROMAEE2ERNRBER  ARFRL T ERBABEK) - KR

AT AE (0] B [ 38 B R 2 R A rhwww . cebenvironment.com[ 48 & & BE R | B340 [ AN 2 &) 2 X 0 FI A0 & 29 A0 E P A /O RO 9
B BRIFAIEARANBRRAS LRESSREEN -
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Mr. WANG TIANYI

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

Aged 59, is the Executive Director and the Chairman of the Board of the Company. He was the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company. He is also the Chairman of the Nomination Committee and the Member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Board, and a director of several subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Wang is the
non-executive director and the chairman of the board of directors of China Everbright Greentech Limited (the
Company’s subsidiary and the shares of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”)). He was the non-executive director and the chairman of the board of directors of China
Everbright Water Limited (the Company’s subsidiary and the shares of which are listed on the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited and the Stock Exchange). Prior to joining the Group, he was the Dean of
Shandong Academy of Sciences. He was formerly the Deputy Mayor of Jinan City of Shandong Province. He had
been the Vice President, and the Dean and Professor of the School of Economics and Management of Yantai
University of Shandong Province.

He is currently a part-time professor of Tsinghua University and a Co-Director of the Center for PPP of
Tsinghua University. He is also a member of the China Council for International Cooperation on Environment
and Development, a member of International Coalition for Green Development on the Belt and Road Advisory
Board, a vice chairman of China Ecological Civilization Research and Promotion Association, a vice chairman of
Industrial and Academic Union of Ecological Environment of the China Association for Science and Technology,
and a member of the UNECE PPP Business Advisory Board. He holds a doctorate degree in economics, a
master’s degree in management and a bachelor’s degree in electronics from Tsinghua University. He had
pursued advanced studies at Harvard University and University of California in the United States. Mr. Wang
joined the Board in February 2010, and was re-designated as the Executive Director and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company in January 2018 and was appointed as the Chairman of the Board of the Company in
September 2020. Mr. Wang was no longer the Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from June
2021 and remains as the Executive Director and the Chairman of the Board.

FARESLE

HITEFREFETE

REL  RARAHITESTREFTSIRE - REAARTER - WA NTAEFTSETREZESIFELFHEZES
KRB ARAEEETHEARNES - FEEANMATERAZERRERART (AR ZHMBAR - ERNHNE LB
EBRGAABRRA([BRZMA]) EMNFRTESTREESLIE - REEPEARNKBERAD(ARBZMEAT
HEORAMEESIZAERABEBIA LM FATEERESR - EMAXKER - RAUREHELEER
R -RIGBELUREEEMATR  YEELUREESAZARE - KESRHERNIIE

BRRETFEARRBEEANBFEABPPPREF  ONARAIME  PERREAXRBARSFZESGERE  [—F K]
HEEREBBMEZRHAZESRE  TEARNXANKERESR SR  TEMBLERRRESHARITE - U
HEBEBMNEELZEGPPPERZE SRS - R AFEABREREL  EREBRINEFEELH - RITEAEX
BRGREMMNAREBRE - EXRER T ZF_ANMAZEEFE IR - ZE—\F-ARERELRFRNTES
RITBEBERR T _ZFNARZER/ARAEZEER - TREB T —FNAETHBEETARRER - B4
BECHTESTRESEER -

Annual Report 2021 | =& = — 4§

15



116

Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEAE

Mr. LUAN ZUSHENG

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Aged 56, is the Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and the general manager of
Everbright Environmental Protection (China) Limited* (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company). He is also the
Member of the Risk Management Committee and the Chairman of the Disclosure Committee of the Board, and
a director of several subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Luan is currently the director of each of Sun Life Everbright
Life Insurance Co., Ltd. and Everbright Financial Holding Asset Management Co., Ltd. He holds a master’s
degree in accounting from the Department of Accounting of Nankai University and a doctorate degree in political
economics from the Department of Economics of Nankai University. Mr. Luan is also a certified intermediate
accountant in the People’s Republic of China. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Luan was the director of the office
and the officer for deepening reform of the leading group office for the comprehensive deepening reform, and
the secretary general of the office of China Everbright Group Ltd., the controlling shareholder of the Company,
the president of Shijiazhuang and Wuxi Branches, the vice president and risk director of Shenzhen Branch,
the assistant to the president and risk director of Fuzhou Branch, of China Everbright Bank Company Limited
(“Everbright Bank”, the shares of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and Shanghai
Stock Exchange), the general manager of small and medium enterprises business department and the general
manager of the microfinance business department of Everbright Bank. Mr. Luan joined the Board in June 2021.

MITEFERAH

BFE56m 0 RARFATEFRABBRAARR(FE)ARAA(ARARZZEMB AR MAKE - RIT/EFEE
BETRAREEZEENBLHRBEZEEIR  URAKEETHEBARMES - BEERTHAXKAASRRAERAD
A AREEEEETEEERARNESRE - R AEAARGH 2RI 2EXRL MU NERABRBEERBAK
PR TATEARLMBE M S REA - BELEMAREER - BERARTERBRFTE X AEEK
MAREERAMAFEENMNERAEIE AREERBLBEIM - PEICKRBITRODER B ([HART] - Hik)
REBBARZMBERAA R EBRBFRZM EM)AFHELREZDTITR RN TAIITRMARAE - BMD1T1T
RPEMRARBE - XARTHNEEXZBBEEERNREBEFPALESHG - BRER_FT_—F/NAMA
sxg-

*  For identification purpose only
* EBHBFIFS
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Mr. HU YANGUO

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND VICE PRESIDENT

Aged 55, is the Executive Director and the Vice President of the Company. He is also the Member of the
Disclosure Committee of the Board, and a director of several subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Hu is the executive
director and the chairman of the board of directors of China Everbright Water Limited (the Company’s subsidiary
and the shares of which are listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)). Mr. Hu was formerly the non-executive director of
China Everbright Greentech Limited (the Company’s subsidiary and the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange). Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Hu was the person-in-charge of the accounting department of the
Guangzhou branch of China Everbright Bank Company Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange and Shanghai Stock Exchange). Mr. Hu obtained a bachelor’s degree in mathematics and a master’s
degree in forestry economy and management from Northeast Forestry University in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”). He is a certified public accountant in the PRC. Mr. Hu joined the Board in January 2018.

AHAE B 5E 4

BITEFREIBE

BELER  RARAHITESTREAEER - WARESTEE THEZEQZKE  URAKEETHERRINESE - 48
REDRFERXAKBERABR(ARAZMBAR  ERONFMEIFIIAERABDREEHREIZMERAR
(TR EMMBITEETRESR - AELEBEFERXAGERRERAR(ARAZMBE AR - BB
EMRZERITES - ARAETEMARKE R - SEBFEARNRITEROBRAF] (ERORBRMA R LEEFRHAH
ETBEMATEFHEEA - BAEERETFEARKNE((HEDRIEMEABHBE LB IMELBEERELS
i o RATBEEMEEAED - AEER T \F—AMAZEE -

Mr. QIAN XIAODONG

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND VICE PRESIDENT

Aged 49, is the Executive Director and the Vice President of the Company. He is also the Member of the
Disclosure Committee of the Board and a director of several subsidiaries of the Group. Moreover, Mr. Qian is
an executive director and the chief executive officer of China Everbright Greentech Limited (the Company’s
subsidiary and the shares of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). He had been the
General Manager of the investment development department of the Company. He obtained a bachelor’s degree
in thermal engineering from Dalian University of Technology in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and a
master’s degree in environment engineering from the Southeast University in the PRC. Mr. Qian joined the Board
in January 2018.

BITEFR BB

BRF495  RARARTEEZREEE - WIREFSETHEZBEeNERAEEETHERARNES - LI &
RERFEAARGERRERAR(ARAZMBAR  ERNREBBARXSMBERABT LT NRITEETRITHAE
B WEREEARRRELRMPALE - REEHEARANMBE([HE ) REBTREAGTREEL2U RPERE
RERFEIRELEMN - BEAR T/ \F-ANMAZESE -
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Mr. AN XUESONG

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, VICE PRESIDENT AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Aged 51, is the Executive Director, the Vice President and the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. He is
also the Member of each of the Risk Management Committee and the Disclosure Committee of the Board,
and a director of several subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. An has comprehensive experience in mergers and
acquisitions, project investment and management, financial management and risk management. He holds a
Master of Business Administration Degree from Jinan University. He is a Certified Public Accountant in the
People’s Republic of China and a Certified International Internal Auditor. Mr. An was the executive director and
chief executive officer of China Everbright Water Limited (the Company’s subsidiary and the shares of which are
listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”)). Prior to joining the Group, Mr. An worked at the Municipal General Office of Jingzhou, Hubei
Province, China Everbright Bank Company Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange and
Shanghai Stock Exchange) and Guangdong Technology Venture Capital Group Ltd. Mr. An joined the Board in
October 2021.

ZEMELE

HITEF  BIRAFRUBAE

RES1 RARANITES - BEERVBRE RIREFEETRREEZEGIFEZEGZREKE - X
EAEEETHBERRMNES - ZAEEGERMFUE HEREREE MEEENRAREEI MAGEENER - &
RAEEEABIHERELTE  TATEARKMEIFEME 6 LB EMAEETE - 2 EEBEF BN AKEHR
RARHARRIZWEB AR ERNRIIKESKSMERAREELRARSMBER AR (TR L) AT
EERAE - EMARKENUR - REEGERILEFMTEZRAE - PRI ANRITRO AR QR (E R OB AT &
PBESXSMLET)  BEREEMARKESEER ZEER _Z_—FTAMAEERE -

Mr. FAN YAN HOK, PHILIP

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Aged 72, is the Independent Non-executive Director of the Company, the Chairman of the Risk Management
Committee of the Board, and the Member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee of the Board. Mr. Fan is an independent non-executive director of the following Hong
Kong listed public companies, namely Hysan Development Company Limited, First Pacific Company Limited and
China Aircraft Leasing Group Holdings Limited. Mr. Fan is also an external director of Sumida Corporation (the
shares of which are listed on Tokyo Stock Exchange). Mr. Fan was formerly an independent director of Goodman
Group, an Australian listed company and a member of the Asian Advisory Committee of AustralianSuper, a
pension fund established in Australia until November 2017 and February 2017 respectively. He was also formerly
an independent non-executive director of PFC Device Inc. (the shares of which are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited) until March 2022. Mr. Fan holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Industrial Engineering, a Master’s
Degree in Operations Research from Stanford University and a Master’s Degree in Management Science from
Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Before joining the Company in 1997, he was an executive director of
CITIC Pacific Limited in charge of industrial projects in China. Mr. Fan joined the Board in November 1997 and
was re-designated as a Non-executive Director and an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in
January 2010 and December 2012 respectively.

BB AL

BUINTTEE

WEFET25% ' BARRIZBYINTESRS ESCETARETEZESERF  ULKEZZES  FNZESRIERZ
B2 EAKE - BEEAZRESLTAR (A EREBRAF F—AFERAAMFERMBESEELRE
RAGTMBYINTES - BEENABEEGAGH(ERONERELFRIZALEM)MNIIBES - BEEBE
Goodman Group (—ZRBAFIE FMHIAR])H B EE MAustralianSuper (—HKFGR AR TN AR IRE S )BT
NEAEEEeKE  PHEE-Z—+tF+—AR-ZT—+F At - BEANEETHETHEERAR(ERDRE
B ARSIABR AT LT NBYIERTES BE S —F-Alt - BAERAELIERETRELH - £ 18
AEGFELEITHEAMEAETIEREERMEELN - E— AN EFMARRRZA  HETHEREARAANNITE
FOXEPHEITEER - BAAER M EF+—ANAESEE  ¥HIR - ZF—AR-_ZT——F+-AAF
BARRNBZIERITEERIBIIENITES -
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Mr. MAR SELWYN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Aged 86, is the Independent Non-executive Director of the Company, the Chairman of the Audit Committee of
the Board, and the Member of each of the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk
Management Committee of the Board. Mr. Mar graduated from the London School of Economics, University of
London. He is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of United Kingdom and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Mar was a director of Nexia Charles Mar Fan Limited, and is now a
consultant. He is also an independent non-executive director and chairman of the audit committee of Minmetals
Land Limited and Man Yue Technology Holdings Limited, and a senior adviser to the board of directors of
PanAsialum Holdings Company Limited (“PanAsialum”) (all of the aforesaid companies are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). He was an independent non-executive director and the chairman of the audit
committee of PanAsialum. He was also the President of Hong Kong Society of Accountants (now known as Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants) in 1991. Mr. Mar is an Honorary Fellow of the Lingnan University.
He joined the Board in September 2004.

FBHEELE

BUHBTTEF

BREBOH  HAERARBZBUFNITES  EFCRTERLEBEIF  ULFHEZES REZBSNARE
BZE@78AKE - SAERENRIARER/ILEZLRLER - FARBEARRETMAGREEEAMAE
BREE  -HALBREISAESHMITERATANES  RECER - FAALBEERARAALEUHHMREES
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R—NAN—FHEFTEGHMACER - FAENAELTABRRERL - BTN _TTHFNLANMAESEE -

Mr. ZHAI HAITAO

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Aged 53, is the Independent Non-executive Director of the Company, the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee of the Board, and the Member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of
the Board. He is also an independent non-executive director of China Everbright Water Limited (the Company’s
subsidiary and the shares of which are listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)) and an independent non-executive director of
China Life Insurance Company Limited (the shares of which are listed on New York Stock Exchange, the Stock
Exchange and Shanghai Stock Exchange). Mr. Zhai is the President and Partner of Primavera Capital Group. He
was formerly a Managing Director of Goldman Sachs (Asia) LLC and Chief Representative of Goldman Sachs
Beijing Office. Prior to joining Goldman Sachs, Mr. Zhai worked at the International Department of the People’s
Bank of China in Beijing, and was Deputy Representative of the People’s Bank of China Representative Office
for the Americas based in New York. He holds a Master’s Degree in International Relations from Columbia
University, a Master of Business Administration Degree from New York University and a Bachelor of Arts Degree
in Economics from Peking University. He has extensive experience and knowledge in banking, capital market and
management. Mr. Zhai joined the Board in January 2011.

EYsy. ke

BUHBTTEF

BRELR  BAERARBZBUNFNTES  EFCRTFMEZBERTR  ULBRZEERRERZBEEZEAK
B - W RPBEAAKBEERABD(ARABAZMBAR  EBRORMMEBLRZAERATDRBEBERZAERA
(B ) LM MBI FATEETUARPRASREENDERABD (ERONBOESFTZHH - BN LEES
RGMEMNBIIFATES - BRERFEEARENAEFREEA - REARSB(EM ERECATNESTAL
ERESREEILIAARKREERERER GEERSRZA  BEECERTEARRBTATERR Y EETHEARR
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Mr. SUO XUQUAN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Aged 64, is the Independent Non-executive Director of the Company, and the Member of each of the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management Committee of the Board. Mr. Suo is an
independent director of CITIC Bank International (China) Limited, Bank of Zhangjiakou Co., Ltd.* (3R &K A $R1T% 1D
&2 &), Northking Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (R1t 515 E MDA R A F)) (the shares of which are listed
on Shenzhen Stock Exchange) and Picc Asset Management Company Limited* (FE AREEEIEGR A R]). Mr.
Suo is a part-time professor of Business School of China University of Political Science and Law. Mr. Suo was an
independent director of China Satellite Communications Co., Ltd.* ((FFEI#FEEE K% EBR A 7)) (the shares of which
are listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange). He was the general manager of Credit Extension Approval Department of
Head Office of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited (“ICBC”, the shares of which are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and Shanghai Stock Exchange) prior to his retirement from the ICBC group after
33 years of services. He also worked in the Shaanxi Branch of the People’ s Bank of China before joining the ICBC
Group. Mr. Suo graduated from on-job postgraduate class of Economics and Management in the Correspondence
College of Central Party School of the Communist Party of China, and he is a senior economist and expert entitled to
special allowance of the State Council. Mr. Suo has over 37 years of relevant banking experience and has extensive
experience in bank credit management and bank credit risk management. He has expertise in business operation
and financial analysis. Mr. Suo joined the Board in August 2018.

KR L

HUINTEE

WECAR  REERARAIZBIUFNTES  UNEFSETHFNEE S  REZEGNEAREREZEGZREX
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Ms. LI CHUNJU

VICE PRESIDENT

aged 55, is the Vice President of the Company. Ms. Li is also the chairman of Everbright Greenergy and Lighting
(Shenzhen) Limited* (the Company’s subsidiary). Prior to her positions with the Group, Ms. Li was the general
manager of several departments, including the human resources, legal and compliance, retail business and
electronic banking departments, in the Shenzhen Branch of China Everbright Bank Company Limited (the shares
of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and Shanghai Stock Exchange) as well as the
vice president of Everbright Xinglong Trust Co., Ltd. Ms. Li graduated from Shanxi Educational College. She has
extensive experience in finance. Ms. Li joined the Group in November 2018.

FEHK L

EIAEE
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*  For identification purpose only
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Mr. YANG SHIQIAO

VICE PRESIDENT

aged 58, is the Vice President of the Company. Mr. Yang is also the chairman and chief executive officer
of Everbright Environmental Technical Equipment (Changzhou) Limited* (the Company’s wholly-owned
subsidiary), as well as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Previously, Mr. Yang was appointed
as the chief executive officer of Everbright Envirotech (China) Limited* and Everbright Ecological Resources
(Shenzhen) Limited*, the deputy general manager of Everbright Environmental Protection (China) Limited*®
(“Everbright Environmental Protection”), the Special Assistant to Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and
the general manager of the Department of Project Management and Environment Management under Everbright
Environmental Protection. Mr. Yang holds a Master’s degree in Environmental Science and Engineering from
Tsinghua University. He is a Senior Engineer with extensive experience in operational management, project
management and corporate management. Mr. Yang joined the Group in October 2004.
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Ms. POON YUEN LING

COMPANY SECRETARY

aged 54, is the Company Secretary of the Company. She is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and The Chartered
of Governance Institute (formerly known as the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators). She joined
the Group in April 1994, with over 25 years of experience in company secretarial affairs.
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Report of the Directors EE&€#%

The directors (the “Director(s)”) of China Everbright
Environment Group Limited (the “Company”) are pleased to
present this Annual Report together with the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company is a company incorporated and domiciled in
Hong Kong and has its registered office and principal place of
business at Room 2703, 27th Floor, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities and other particulars of the principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 51 to the financial statements.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical
locations of the operations of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) during the financial year are set out in note 4 to
the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year and
a discussion on the Group’s future business development
are provided in the Chairman’s Statement and Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 10 to 65 of this Annual
Report. In particular, description of principal risks and
uncertainties faced by the Group can be found in the section
headed “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” in the Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 55 to 62. An analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year using key performance
indicators by each business sector can be found on pages
29 to 47 of the Management Discussion and Analysis. In
addition, discussions on the Group’s environmental policies,
relationships with its key stakeholders and compliance
with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant
impact on the Group are provided in the section headed
“Environmental and Social Management” in the Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 63 and 64.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the major customers and
suppliers of the Group respectively during the financial year is
as follows:

FEEFPRMHER
AEERAVBRFEZTEREP REEHER A
™

Percentage of
the Group’s total
EAREETIREZAD L

Revenue Purchases

e HIBRE

The largest customer BARF 6% -
Five largest customers in aggregate AREFEE 20% -
The largest supplier SAMER - 6%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate hREEREE - 12%

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) (which, to
the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of
the Company’s number of issued shares) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Material related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the year are set out in note 44 to the financial
statements. Only those material related party transactions that
set out in note 44 to the financial statements also constituted
continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The Company has complied with the
relevant disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules during the year, and the details of
which have been disclosed in the below section “Continuing
Connected Transactions”. Other related party transactions do
not constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group had the following transactions
which constituted continuing connected transactions of the
Company, details of which are disclosed in compliance with
the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

China Everbright Environment Group Limited | Bl K3EE (%£8) AR AR

BEEHREZEABBEALTHEMARFBRE
(TR D (BEEMRMEAARRBEBITRD
HEASWAL)MEREARERRER REER
E B -

EPNE R

AREBNF AR L Z EXBEH T X 58N 5
FMTE44 - ERU BRI FE4M4ABEENERXN
BT RSARBR(EEME XA MERAR
(TBE P D&z EmARRADICEMRAD ) E 1M
AENFRERER S  ARARFADRE(LET
RADFE T HAZETHBRERE - LEHIR
TX [FERER S JJMnh - BB H R 51
THERCETRADE+OATNBER HAFFE
FRERS -

FER S

FR - AREATNIRZFERARRFEBER
5 BRAXRZHBEERC(ETHRADE+TA
BZREELREKE -



CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Continuing Connected Transactions

1.

Employee healthcare protection services agreement
(the "Employee Healthcare Protection Services
Agreement”) entered into between Everbright
Environmental Protection (China) Limited™* ("EEP China”,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), and Sun
Life Everbright Life Insurance Co., Ltd. (“Sun Life
Everbright”)

On 22 December 2021, EEP China and Sun Life Everbright
entered into the Employee Healthcare Protection Services
Agreement, pursuant to the which, Sun Life Everbright
will provide employee healthcare protection services for
the years of 2021 and 2022 to EEP China, which shall
include (1) management and operation of the Healthcare
Protection Entrusted Management Scheme (f& BE{R[EZ 5t
EHETEl) (the “EHP Scheme”) established by EEP China
for the employees (and their respective family members)
designated by EEP China (the “Designated Employees”);
and (2) provision of insurance services and products for
the Long-term Supplemental Medical Insurance Protection
Scheme (K7 B BRI IRESTE]) established by EEP
China for the Designated Employees (the “EMI Scheme”).
The Directors have determined the annual caps for the
Employee Healthcare Protection Services Agreement with
reference to a number of factors, including (i) the recurring
one-year medical insurance fee paid by EEP China; (i) the
current number and the expected increase of Designated
Employees; and (iii) various insurance products and
services to be provided by Sun Life Everbright and their
respective coverage. Details are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 22 December 2021.

China Everbright Group Ltd. (“China Everbright Group”),
through its wholly-owned subsidiary, holds approximately
43.01% equity interests in the Company and is a
controlling shareholder of the Company. Meanwhile, China
Everbright Group holds 50% equity interests in Sun Life
Everbright. Therefore, Sun Life Everbright is an associate
of China Everbright Group, and is a connected person of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

*  For identification purpose only
* BHEFIES
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)

1.

Employee Healthcare Protection Services Agreement
entered into between EEP China, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and Sun Life Everbright
(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the transaction
amount of the continuing connected transactions
contemplated by the Group and Sun Life Everbright
(which shall include (i) the principal deposited under
the EHP Scheme and the relevant management fee;
(ii) the insurance fees under the EMI Scheme; and
(iii) the recurring one-year medical insurance fee) was
RMB82,901,000 (equivalent to HK$99,722,000). This
amount was below the annual cap of RMB95,000,000
(equivalent to HK$114,000,000) for the year ended 31
December 2021 which was stated in the announcement of
the Company dated 22 December 2021.

The annual caps in respect of the Employee Healthcare
Protection Services Agreement have taken into account
and included the respective annual caps applicable
to China Everbright Greentech Limited (“Everbright
Greentech”, a subsidiary of the Company listed on the
Stock Exchange) and China Everbright Water Limited
(“Everbright Water”, a subsidiary of the Company listed on
the Stock Exchange and Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited).

On 22 December 2021, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of Everbright Greentech and Sun Life Everbright
entered into the employee healthcare protection services
agreement, pursuant to which, Sun Life Everbright will
provide employee healthcare protection services for the
years of 2021 and 2022. Details are set out in Everbright
Greentech’s announcement dated 22 December 2021.

On 22 December 2021, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of Everbright Water and Sun Life Everbright
entered into the employee healthcare protection services
agreement, pursuant to which, Sun Life Everbright will
provide employee healthcare protection services for the
years of 2021 and 2022. Details are set out in Everbright
Water’s announcement dated 22 December 2021.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)
2. The deposit services master agreement (the “Deposit

Services Master Agreement”) and the loan services
master agreement (the “Loan Services Master
Agreement”) entered into between the Company and
China Everbright Group

On 6 December 2019, the Company entered into the
Deposit Services Master Agreement and the Loan Services
Master Agreement with China Everbright Group, pursuant
to which China Everbright Group will, through its associate,
China Everbright Bank Company Limited (“CE Bank”),
provide deposit, loan and related services to the Group for
the three years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022.

(@) The Deposit Services Master Agreement shall be on
a non-exclusive basis and the Company is at liberty
to obtain deposit services from other third parties.
Pursuant to the Deposit Services Master Agreement,
China Everbright Group shall procure CE Bank to
provide to the Group deposit services (including
current and fixed term deposit) in accordance with
rules and regulations prescribed by the People’s Bank
of China (the “PBOC”) and/or other relevant rules and
regulations within or outside the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”). The deposit services to be
provided by China Everbright Group shall be on normal
commercial terms and no less favourable than the
terms available to the Group from independent third
parties.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
maximum daily closing balance of the Group’s
deposits (including interests accrued thereon)
placed in CE Bank amounted to HK$1,613,689,000.
This amount was below the annual cap of
HK$1,800,000,000 for the year ended 31 December
2021 which was stated in the announcement of the
Company dated 6 December 2019.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)

2. The Deposit Services Master Agreement and the Loan
Services Master Agreement entered into between the
Company and China Everbright Group (continued)

(b) The Loan Services Master Agreement shall be on a

non-exclusive basis and the Company is at liberty
to obtain loan services from other third parties.
Pursuant to the Loan Services Master Agreement,
China Everbright Group shall procure CE Bank to
provide loans (including revolving credit facility and
fixed term loan) to the Group in accordance with
rules and regulations prescribed by the PBOC and/or
other relevant rules and regulations within or outside
the PRC. The loans services to be provided by China
Everbright Group shall be on normal commercial terms
and no less favourable than the terms available to the
Group from independent third parties.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
maximum daily closing balance of the Group’s
loans (excluding loans which do not require security
over the assets of the Group) provided by CE Bank
amounted to HK$545,350,000. This amount was
below the annual cap of HK$1,800,000,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2021 which was stated in
the announcement of the Company dated 6 December
2019.

The annual caps in respect of the Deposit Services Master
Agreement and the Loan Services Master Agreement have
taken into account and included the respective annual
caps applicable to Everbright Greentech and Everbright
Water.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued) ER 5 (E)
Continuing Connected Transactions (continued) BEBERS(E)
2. The Deposit Services Master Agreement and the Loan = ~ZK2\a]E2RA B ¥ A E BTV 2 (175 R 544 1

Services Master Agreement entered into between the
Company and China Everbright Group (continued)

On 15 April 2019, Everbright Water entered into the
deposit services framework agreement and the loan
services framework agreement with China Everbright
Group, pursuant to which, China Everbright Group will
procure CE Bank to provide deposit, loan and related
services to Everbright Water for the three years ended 31
December 2019, 2020 and 2021. Details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 15 April 2019. On 22
December 2021, Everbright Water entered into the deposit
services framework agreement and the loan services
framework agreement with China Everbright Group,
pursuant to which, China Everbright Group will procure
CE Bank to provide deposit, loan and related services to
Everbright Water for the year ending 31 December 2022.
Details are set out in Everbright Water’s announcement
dated 22 December 2021.

On 6 December 2019, Everbright Greentech entered
into the deposit services master agreement and the loan
services master agreement with China Everbright Group,
pursuant to which, China Everbright Group will procure
CE Bank to provide deposit, loan and related services
to Everbright Greentech for the three years ended 31
December 2020, 2021 and 2022. Details are set out in
Everbright Greentech’s announcement dated 6 December
2019.

Save for the information disclosed above, during the year,
the Company did not enter into any other transactions
which constituted connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions that were subject to reporting
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)
Confirmation of Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Independent Non-executive Directors (the “INED(s)”) have
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and
confirmed that such transactions were:

e entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;

e conducted either on normal commercial terms or, if
there are not sufficient comparable transactions to judge
whether they are on normal commercial terms, on terms no
less favourable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third parties; and

e in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole.

Report of the Auditor

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to
report to the Group’s continuing connected transactions
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Ernst & Young has issued its unmodified
letter containing the findings and conclusions in respect of
the continuing connected transactions disclosed above to the
Board in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules
and confirming that nothing has come to its attention that
causes it to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions: (i) have not been approved by the Board; (ii)
were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing the transactions; and
(i) have exceeded the annual caps as set by the Company. A
copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company
to the Stock Exchange.
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RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
and the Group’s financial position as at that date are set out in
the financial statements on pages 151 to 353.

FINAL DIVIDEND

An interim dividend of HK19.0 cents per share (2020: HK14.0
cents per share) was paid on 4 October 2021. The board of
Directors (the “Board”) has recommended the payment of a
final dividend of HK15.0 cents per share (2020: HK16.0 cents
per share) for the year ended 31 December 2021.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity holders of the Company,
as calculated under the provisions of sections 291, 297
and 299 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), was HK$6,124,314,000 (2020:
HK$2,458,341,000). After the reporting period, the Directors
proposed a final dividend of HK15.0 cents per share (2020:
HK16.0 cents per share), amounting to HK$921,446,000
(2020: HK$982,876,000).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable donations made by the Group during the year
amounted to HK$9,734,000 (2020: HK$14,184,000).

SHARE CAPITAL

There were no movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year. Details of the share capital of the Company are
set out in note 34 to the financial statements.

DEBENTURES ISSUED

On 11 June 2021, the Company has completed the issuance of
the 2021 Medium-term Notes (series 1) (Bond Connect) in the
National Inter-bank Bond Market of the PRC. The aggregate
issuance amount was RMB2 billion with an interest rate of
3.60% per annum. The Company has received a consideration
of RMB2 billion and the proceeds were used for replenishment
of daily working capital for the subsidiaries of the Company and
repayment of bank borrowings.

Details are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 16
March 2021, 27 April 2021 and 16 June 2021.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this Annual
Report were:

Executive Directors:

Wang Tianyi (Chairman of the Board)

Luan Zusheng (Chief Executive Officer)
(Appointed on 1 June 2021)

Hu Yanguo (Vice President)

Qian Xiaodong (Vice President)

An Xuesong (Vice President and Chief Financial Officer)
(Appointed on 5 October 2021)

Wong Kam Chung, Raymond
(Vice President and Chief Financial Officer)
(Resigned on 5 October 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Fan Yan Hok, Philip

Mar Selwyn

Zhai Haitao

Suo Xuguan

In accordance with articles 77, 78 and 79 of the Company’s
articles of association (the “Articles of Association”), Mr.
Wang Tianyi, Mr. Luan Zusheng, Mr. An Xuesong and Mr. Suo
Xuquan will retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company (the “2022 AGM”) and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Mr. Mar Selwyn will retire from office by rotation and not
offer himself for re-election at the 2022 AGM as he would
like to devote more time to his other personal engagements.
Accordingly, he will cease to act as an INED and all Board
committees’ chairman/members upon the conclusion of the
2022 AGM.

The INEDs are appointed for a specific term, subject to
re-election. The current INEDs (except Mr. Mar Selwyn) hold
office for a term from 1 January 2022 until the conclusion of
the annual general meeting of the Company to be held in 2024.
They are all subject to retirement by rotation in accordance
with the Articles of Association as indicated above.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

As recommended by the Nomination Committee, the Board
has proposed to appoint Ms. Li Shuk Yin, Edwina (“Ms. Li")
as an INED and will propose a relevant resolution to the
Shareholders for approval at the 2022 AGM. Upon approval of
the Shareholders at the 2022 AGM, Ms. Li will be appointed as
the INED and will hold office for a term from the conclusion of
2022 AGM until the conclusion of the annual general meeting
of the Company to be held in 2024.

Further details are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 15 March 2022.

A list of names of all the directors of the Company’s
subsidiaries during the year and up to the date of this
Report are available on the website of the Company
www.cebenvironment.com under the “Directors & Senior
Management” section.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes
in information of the Directors since the date of the Company’s
2021 interim report are as follows:

Mr. Wang Tianyi, an Executive Director and the Chairman of
the Board of the Company, resigned as the non-executive
director, the chairman of the board of directors, the chairman
of the strategy committee, a member of the remuneration
committee and a member of the nominating committee of
Everbright Water, with effect from 5 October 2021;

Mr. Wong Kam Chung, Raymond resigned as an Executive
Director, a Vice President and the Chief Financial Officer,
a member of each of the Risk Management Committee
and the Disclosure Committee and an Alternate Authorised
Representative of the Company with effect from 5 October
2021;

Mr. An Xuesong, a Vice President of the Company, was
appointed as an Executive Director and the Chief Financial
Officer, a member of the Risk Management Committee and
an Alternate Authorised Representative of the Company with
effect from 5 October 2021. With effect from the same date,
he resigned as an executive director, the chief executive
officer, a member of the strategy committee and an authorised
representative of Everbright Water;
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
(continued)

Mr. Hu Yanguo, an Executive Director and the Vice President of
the Company, resigned as a member of the Risk Management
Committee of the Company with effect from 5 October 2021.
With effect from the same date, he was appointed as an
executive director, the chairman of the board of directors,
the chairman of the strategy committee, a member of the
nominating committee and an authorised representative of
Everbright Water;

Mr. Zhai Haitao, an INED of the Company, was appointed as
an independent non-executive director of China Life Insurance
Company Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
New York Stock Exchange and Shanghai Stock Exchange),
with effect from 14 October 2021;

Mr. Luan Zusheng, an Executive Director and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, was appointed as the
director and the general manager of EEP China (a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) in replacement of Mr. Hu
Yanguo, an Executive Director and the Vice President of the
Company, with effect from 1 December 2021;

Mr. Suo Xuquan, an INED of the Company, was appointed as
an independent director of Picc Asset Management Company
Limited* (FBIAREEEEBRAF) with effect from 24
February 2022; and

Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip, an INED of the Company, ceased
to be an independent non-executive director of PFC Device
Inc. (the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange)
with effect from 24 March 2022. With effect from 25 March
2022, he was appointed as an external director of Sumida
Corporation (the shares of which are listed on Tokyo Stock
Exchange).

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2022 AGM has
an unexpired service contract which is not terminable by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without
payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

*  For identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and the Company’s chief executives and
their respective associates in shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and/or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) were as
follows:

EE=ERESITTRABERD - HERD
KREFREE 2 EmMIXR

R-ZE-—F+-_A=+—H BFEkARFZ
BERTTBRABRESEZSEBEALIRARF
R/SEAAMAEEE (TR R(BHFRBEK
BIY(TCBHAEH D) EXVES) Z B - HHER G,
MEEFHEALHN AR RILR(GESIEN ) FE352
BERTABEZECMANERSARE - RE
(CEMHRBDMEETFE EMBEITAESHETE
HFRBEZESTAN([CZESFAD ) BHG AR
BIMEE R TR SRR T

Long position in shares of the Company REQXBRGBZHFR
Approximate
Number of  percentage of
shares held total issued
Nature of (ordinary shares) shares
Name of Director Capacity interest BEZIROHEE #MEEETRD
BENA 4% Eaty (Eimiy) #EEH LD
Fan Yan Hok, Philip Beneficial Owner Personal 11,154,810 0.18%
BB EnEAA A
Note: Based on 6,142,975,292 shares of the Company in issue as at 31 Mz : BER-_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—HBHHEAQAFBE %

December 2021.

TR0 6,142,975,292 %51 & -
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ EENRSTRABERD - HERD
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN REFHHEE 2R MKR (&)

SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continued)

Long position in shares of Everbright Greentech, a REATZ LTHBARAXKREECRERGD Z
listed subsidiary of the Company e

Approximate
Number of  percentage of

shares held total issued

Nature of (ordinary shares) shares (M

Name of Director Capacity interest BEZIROHEE #HMEEETRD

BENA 4% ‘mtE (Bimik) #EEILE

Hu Yanguo Beneficial Owner Personal 287,000 0.01%
HAAEEY ExEEA A

Qian Xiaodong Beneficial Owner Personal 242,000 0.01%
IR EnfEBA A

Fan Yan Hok, Philip Beneficial Owner Personal 100,494 Below 0.01%

B EREBA A 1£720.01%

Note: Based on 2,066,078,000 shares of Everbright Greentech in issue izt : HBMER-_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—HHXAKGZEBIE
as at 31 December 2021. R BT 2,066,078,000% 51 & ©

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none B EXFratE R-E-—F+-_H=+—
of the Directors and chief executives of the Company and B @ EEZERARTSESTHAERFRER A 2
their respective associates had interests or short positions 2 A +#EAEARNRQ T EEMBE B (EE R
in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company, (&EAHEHYEXVER) 2 I&H ~ BERH X ESF
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of EABRIE(E LD Y F32E BT ABERZE
Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to A ZREZFI AR - HIBE GRESTRY B
be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or ANABIREZFFZERIOKE ©

as otherwise required to be notified to the Company and the

Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year under review was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries, holding companies or fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2021, the following persons (other than any
Directors or chief executives of the Company) were substantial
Shareholders and had interests or short positions in shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange:

EERBRDNETZET

REBEFA - ARF - HEAHBAR - ZBRA
Ak F R B AR E2EERLH - BEES
AHEBEARBRETAEMEABRROKES
M ER{S a8 o

TERRREHAMA TR D RKAEERD
B MUK R

RZBZ—F+ZA=+—H8  TFIAT(EM
EERARABZRETRAERIIN BEBRE -
WRA R B R R SARBA R D 7 B RIRCRE S
{E&PI)SE 336 IRARF 2 ELMALE NG AR AT
HER TRV ERTORB T

Number of long
position shares/

underlying long Approximate

position shares percentage of

(ordinary shares) total issued

frekG/ shares

Name of company Capacity Nature of interest HEHERHEE HNIEEBTRD

NGER! &1 EmitE (F@k)  sgaspeE

Central Huijin Investment Ltd. (“Huijin”) (o) Interest of controlled Corporate interest 2,642,112,137 43.01%
HRESHREEREFAR([ER]) W= corporation NGLS

RS ARRER
China Everbright Group (e @) Interest of controlled Corporate interest 2,642,112,137 43.01%

1:1:1 %j{%@(ﬂ’ﬁﬂsi)

corporation
b NGl 4

NAlEd
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
(continued)

Notes:

(1) Based on 6,142,975,292 shares of the Company in issue as at 31
December 2021.

(2) Huijin is indirectly wholly-owned by the State Council of the PRC and
holds 63.16% equity interests of China Everbright Group. It is deemed
to be interested in the 2,642,112,137 shares indirectly held by China
Everbright Group.

(3) China Everbright Group holds 100% of the issued shares of China
Everbright Holdings Company Limited (“CE Hong Kong”). CE Hong
Kong holds (i) 100% of the issued shares of Datten Investments
Limited (“Datten”) which in turn holds 55% of the issued shares of
Guildford Limited (“Guildford”); (i) 100% of the issued shares of
Everbright Investment & Management Limited (“EIM”); and (iii) 45% of
the issued shares of Guildford, respectively. Out of the 2,642,112,137
shares, 2,430,442,287 shares are held by Guildford. The remaining
211,669,850 shares are held by EIM. Accordingly, China Everbright
Group is deemed to be interested in 2,430,442,287 shares held by
Guildford and 211,669,850 shares held by EIM.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the
Company had not been notified of any other persons (other
than the Directors or chief executives of the Company or
substantial Shareholders) who had interests or short positions
in shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME

The Group has no share option scheme during the year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
latest practicable date before the publication of this Annual
Report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles of Association provides that every Director shall
be indemnified out of the funds of the Company against
all liabilities incurred by him in relation to the Company in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which
judgement is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.
In addition, liability insurance for the Directors and senior
management of the Company is maintained by the Company
with appropriate coverage for certain legal actions against the
Directors and senior management.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year
and subsisted at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

On 22 December 2021, EEP China, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, and Sun Life Everbright entered into the
Employee Healthcare Protection Services Agreement. Mr.
Luan Zusheng, an Executive Director and the Chief Executive
Officer, had abstained from voting to approve the relevant
resolutions in respect of the Employee Healthcare Protection
Services Agreement entered into between EEP China and
Sun Life Everbright and the annual caps in the Board meeting
due to the fact that he is a director of Sun Life Everbright.
Details are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 22
December 2021.

Save as disclosed above, no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to which the Company, or its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director or any entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at the date of this Annual Report, as far as the Directors are
aware of, none of the Directors or their respective associates
had any interests in a business which competes or may
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group or any other conflicts of interests with the Group.
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BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS
Details of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as
at 31 December 2021 are set out in note 29 to the financial
statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed
securities of the Company.

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 354
and 355 of this Annual Report.

PROPERTIES

Particulars of the major properties of the Group are shown on
page 356 of this Annual Report.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Company provides retirement benefits to all local
eligible employees in Hong Kong under an approved defined
contribution provident fund (the “ORSO Scheme”). The
ORSO Scheme is administered by trustees, the majority of
which are independent, with its assets held separately from
those of the Company. The ORSO Scheme is funded by
contributions from employees and employer at 5% each based
on the monthly salaries of employees. Forfeited contribution
(i.e. the contribution handled by employers on behalf of
employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in such
contributions) may be used to reduce the existing level of
contribution by the Company.

As from 1 December 2000, the Group also operates a
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not previously
covered by the ORSO Scheme. The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution retirement scheme administered by independent
trustees. Under the Group’s MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions to the
scheme at 10% and 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
respectively. Employees can choose to contribute with a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES (continued)

The employees of the subsidiaries of the Company in the
PRC are members of the retirement schemes operated by the
local authorities. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of their payroll to these schemes to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to these
schemes is the required contributions under the schemes.

The Group’s total contributions to these schemes charged to
the consolidated income statement during the year ended 31
December 2021 amounted to HK$431,530,000.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

In accordance with the independence guidelines set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Board is of the view
that all INEDs are independent and satisfy the requirements
under Rule 3.13 (notwithstanding that for Mr. Fan Yan Hok,
Philip under Rule 3.13(7) of the Listing Rules, he had been a
Non-executive Director prior to his re-designation as an INED)
and the Company has received an annual written confirmation
of independence from each of the INED pursuant to the Listing
Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events of the Group after the reporting
period are set out in note 49 to the financial statements.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for
reappointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst &
Young as the auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the
2022 AGM. The Company has not changed its auditor in any of
the preceding three years.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Wang Tianyi
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 15 March 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA EVERBRIGHT
ENVIRONMENT GROUP LIMITED

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Everbright Environment Group Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 151
to 353, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of
how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
R G

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter

BRgETER

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

BANFTNAEEERESEE

Service concession arrangements
RIS FFFAR S L HE

The Group has entered into Build-Operate-Transfer (“BOT”),
Transfer-Operate-Transfer (“TOT”) and Build-Operate-
Own (“BOO”) arrangements with local governments in
Mainland China in respect of its environmental energy
projects, greentech projects and environmental water
projects. The assessment on whether the BOT, TOT and
BOO arrangements fall within the scope of HK(IFRIC)
Interpretation 12 Service Concession Arrangements
requires significant management judgement. Management’s
assessment included whether the grantors control or
regulate what services the Group must provide with the
infrastructures, to whom it must provide them, and at what
price; and whether the grantors control, through ownership,
beneficial entittement or otherwise, any significant residual
interest in the infrastructures at the end of the term of the
arrangements.
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The details of the Group’s service concession arrangements
are disclosed in notes 3 and 51 to the financial statements.
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We evaluated the management’s assessment
of the BOT, TOT and BOO arrangements of
the Group by reviewing and understanding
the terms of the respective agreements. In
particular, we evaluated the management’s
assessment as to whether the grantors control
or regulate what services the Group must
provide with the infrastructures, to whom
it must provide them, and at what price. In
addition, we evaluated the management’s
assessment as to whether the grantors
control any significant residual interest in
the infrastructures at the end of the term
of the arrangements, including whether the
infrastructures for the service concession
arrangements will be used for their entire or
substantially entire useful lives.
HAPEEBERLTHE HSEEBOT TOTK
BOOZHFt A Ik - T EEREBHAML
HEFTERIETE - BRI - BHMIEEEREMEK
RARGIEHSNEE SEXENBERREMEA
RENRE  RENEHER BB EREF
EFTERIEEE © thoh - HRPITMEFEEREREK
BAEERAREENARE RS T IEGI AR R
it ) (1] B A T8R4 25 PR VE B BT (it (B2 45 AR5 455 &F
REBRTYPRSRNERRBEE SN EEMEL
RE - RERCAFRAZA) -

Annual Report 2021 | — T = — 443§

143



144

Independent Auditor’s Report
R CIE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

FAs TR FIR(E)

Key audit matter

BEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

BRFT M REEFRETER

Revenue and profit recognition for construction services

BRI 0 W 2 B T TERE

Revenue arising from construction services is measured
based on the Group’s estimation of the fair value of
construction services and the progress of construction
work completed during the year. Significant judgement
is required to determine the fair value of construction
services which involves estimation of the total construction
costs and the margin of each project. The Group engaged
independent professional valuers to assist in the estimation
of the fair value of construction services. The progress of
construction work completion is estimated based on the
survey of work performed by independent surveyors with
relevant qualifications and industry experience. Judgement
is required in estimating the progress of construction work
completed.
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The details of the Group’s revenue from construction
services in relation to its environmental energy projects,
greentech projects and environmental water projects are
disclosed in notes 2.4, 3 and 5 to the financial statements.
EXEXRBRRERER  ZERREQ RMRFRKEEE EH
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We evaluated the management’s measurement
of the revenue from construction services
by assessing the valuation methodology and
the key assumptions, such as margins, with
the assistance of our valuation specialists
who have made reference to the observable
market data and comparable companies in the
industry.
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We also evaluated the management’s
assessment of the completion progress of
construction services by discussing the status
of significant projects under construction
with the management, including finance
and technical staff of the Group, as well as
examining independent surveyors’ reports.
We tested the underlying data adopted
by independent surveyors, which included
checking to suppliers’ agreements and
invoices for construction costs of respective
construction work performed. We also
understood and reviewed the management’s
process of estimating the total budget cost and
costs to completion of incomplete construction
contracts.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

FAsERT EIH(E)

Key audit matter

BEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

BMFTNREERREFETER

Impairment assessment of debtors

JEM IR I FEIREF I

Debtors of the Group amounted to HK$13,110,600,000,
after an impairment provision of HK$661,888,000, as
at 31 December 2021. The management performed an
impairment assessment of debtors by applying the simplified
approach to provide for expected credit losses (“ECLS”),
taking into account the debtors’ financial position, historical
settlement records, past experience and other factors. The
Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment, which involved significant management’s
judgement and estimation uncertainty.
RZEZ—F+ZA=+—H  EBE5ENEKRERAELEE
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BECMEBUERRIEL BTG - AR EERMSCEERERE
RIRBTREEER  UWAHREBAZHBAMR  BEESR
i BELRKREMAZ . BEXBEEERHBEEEERE
Rt TREER  THEEBREBARKBEREEBL G
M HERRELFARE  MEPRERNERREHE REES
HEMN -

The details of the Group’s debtors are included in notes 3
and 25 to the financial statements.
BEEERKRFA IS M B w3 K ffizE25 o

We evaluated the management’s impairment
assessment of debtors by understanding
and reviewing the management’s provision
matrix, testing the debtors’ ageing analysis,
discussing with the management about
the status of significant overdue individual
debtors’ balances, and reviewing the historical
settlement pattern of individual debtors.
We also reperformed the management’s
calculation of ECLs for debtors.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

FAs TR FIR(E)

Key audit matter

BEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

BRFT M REEFRETER

Impairment assessment of goodwill

BEFERR T

The Group is required to test goodwill acquired in business
combinations for impairment annually. The goodwill of the
Group amounted to HK$2,353,687,000 as at 31 December
2021 and was allocated to the relevant individual cash-
generating units (“CGUs”) or business segments. The
management’s impairment assessment of goodwill involved
the estimation of the recoverable amounts of the CGUs or
business segments to which the goodwill was allocated.
The recoverable amount of the Group’s goodwill as at
31 December 2021 is determined using a value in use
calculation. Significant management estimates were used
to determine the key assumptions, such as future revenue
growth rate, operating margin, terminal growth rate and
discount rate, that are affected by expected future market
or economic conditions. The assessment process also
involved management appropriately identifying the CGUs.
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The details of the Group’s goodwill are included in notes 3
and 17 to the financial statements.
EEENHEFBHNMBHRRMIIRMFT7 -

Our procedures to evaluate the management’s
impairment assessment of goodwill included:
BARTHBEEENBERBTEMETHIE
FrEtE

— Assessing management’s identification of
CGUs based on the Group’s accounting
policies and our understanding of the
Group’s business;

- BE ESENgFERERERMYE E5E
EBHNTH AHEEEYHHSAERENUN
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— Assessing the value in use calculation
methodologies adopted by management;
and

- AMEEREMRANEREERSEE &

— Assessing the key assumptions, including
future revenue growth rate, operating
margin, terminal growth rate and discount
rate, based on our knowledge of the
Group’s business and the industry. We
also involved our valuation specialists to
assist in the assessment of the above key
assumptions, which included reference
to the observable market data and
comparable companies in the industry.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
R G

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
R CIE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
R G

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
R CIE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lai Wan Fung, Jacky.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

15 March 2022
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Consolidated Income Statement
SmEBRRR

Year ended 31 December 2021 E#{ZE =T ——4%+—-A=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—s- & —ECTF
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
BsE BT T BT T
REVENUE W25 B 49,895,384 42,926,426
Direct costs and operating expenses BEERARKEEER (33,432,002) (28,822,593)
Gross profit E7 16,463,382 14,103,833
Other revenue H bz 6 917,338 717,493
Other income and gains/(losses), net EmUr A R (EE)
R 6 (623,055) (621,614)
Administrative expenses THRER (3,530,840) (2,753,121)
PROFIT FROM OPERATING EEE TS AT
ACTIVITIES 13,226,825 11,446,591
Finance costs M%ER 7 (3,079,448) (2,279,149)
Share of profits of joint ventures Frih& & ERT 81,837 207,929
Share of profits of associates Fr kB & A B & F 91,377 11,353
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6 15 A &2 ) 8 10,320,591 9,386,724
Income tax Fr{S#i 11 (2,200,248) (2,159,764)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR N E B A F 8,120,343 7,226,960
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: JEG &R -
Equity holders of the Company RAFIRERTA A 6,804,099 6,015,863
Non-controlling interests FEPER R = 1,316,244 1,211,097
8,120,343 7,226,960
EARNINGS PER SHARE KAREZRA A
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY JEE TR A A
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 13
— Basic and diluted —HARNEE HK110.76 HK97.93

cents &1L cents &1l
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

GEEEBRER

Year ended 31 December 2021 E#{ZE - ——4+—-HA=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—E-—-F —TEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR NEE B F 8,120,343 7,226,960
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hip2HERA (EE)
INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that REZ BRI Al seEFH D EE
may be reclassified to profit or loss in TE mixZ EMEEKRA S
subsequent periods: (EE) :
Exchange differences: PEH =% -
Exchange differences on REBINEBEEZ
translation of foreign operations PE 5 Z=%E 2,637,744 5,085,088
Reclassification adjustments for FARBHE HERIE
foreign operations disposed of/ HEBINEBIEL R
deemed disposed of during B HERARE
the year (25,328) 12,063
Debt instrument at fair value through BEAnEfAEMEERRAZ
other comprehensive income: FIETH :
Changes in fair value DREE (131,727) -
Net other comprehensive income REZBREAEENSES
that may be reclassified to profit or BRRZHEMEmBRAFEE
loss in subsequent periods 2,480,689 5,097,151
Other comprehensive income/(loss) REZHEITZENHDEE
that will not be reclassified to profit or BRRZAEMEEWA
loss in subsequent periods: (E518) -
Other financial assets measured BEAREFAEMEEERA
at fair value through other AEZHEMPEEE
comprehensive income:
Changes in fair value NAEEE) 5,151 (11,356)
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) REZBHBET@EHHEE
that will not be reclassified to profit or BRRZHMEZEmEA
loss in subsequent periods (B18)%58 5,151 (11,356)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE AREZHEHMEEBA
INCOME FOR THE YEAR, (BHkFEE)
NET OF TAX 2,485,840 5,085,795
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE AEEEEBARTE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 10,606,183 12,312,755
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: FEMLER 1D -
Equity holders of the Company PN/ 7$¥¥TﬁﬁA 8,865,879 10,257,466
Non-controlling interests JEFERL RS 1,740,304 2,055,289
10,606,183 12,312,755
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FEMBRRR

31 December 2021 —E=-—&+=-A=+—H

2021 2020
—s- & —E-TE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 BT T BT IT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investment properties KB 14 181,512 176,860
Property, plant and equipment ME  WENEE 15 8,921,701 6,114,910
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16(a) 1,009,094 822,265
10,112,307 7,114,035
Goodwill BmE 17 2,353,687 2,016,817
Intangible assets ML EE 18 30,474,870 24,926,597
Interests in joint ventures SRPEREDS 19 811,375 1,011,847
Interests in associates N ey 20 606,970 495,616
Contract assets SEHNEE 23 101,971,151 79,619,686
Finance lease receivables BhEFHE fEW IS 24 15,464 16,100
Other financial assets HWBEEE 21 142,748 716,807
Other receivables, deposits and HmpEWFIE - ek
prepayments SEEN B 25 4,076,627 3,587,975
Deferred tax assets RIERIBE = 33 440,770 246,945
Total non-current assets FRBEERR 151,005,969 119,752,425
CURRENT ASSETS MENE E
Inventories e 22 1,258,539 1,059,140
Contract assets BHEE 23 11,907,704 12,467,366
Finance lease receivables B & A S fE U FIa 24 771 337
Other financial assets HmBr & E 21 222,880 =
Debtors, other receivables, deposits  FEURBERR + H b pEUL B -
and prepayments e RIERFIR 25 20,138,476 13,201,126
Tax recoverable AT Ui [2 77 78 96,303 668
Pledged bank deposits B FIRITER 26 553,704 837,770
Deposits with banks with maturity FREBBE=(A Z2R1T
period over three months PEE¢ 26 4,339 7,585
Cash and cash equivalents HERIELEEY 27 15,046,943 10,860,693
Total current assets MBI EEMARE 49,229,659 38,434,685
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FEMBRRR

31 December 2021 —Z=—F+=-A=+—H

2021 2020
—E- —E-TE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 BT T BT T
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENBE
Creditors, other payables and FERTBR R~ E{th B~ 30E K
accrued expenses fE=tE&H 28 25,636,846 18,193,656
Interest-bearing borrowings ATEEE 29
— Secured — B KA 3,410,134 2,989,868
— Unsecured — 4 10,530,590 7,509,306
13,940,724 10,499,174
Tax payable FEfSFEIR 190,832 212,959
Total current liabilities mENBEERE 39,768,402 28,905,789
NET CURRENT ASSETS MENE EF R 9,461,257 9,528,896
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BWEERLEAE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 160,467,226 129,281,321
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ZJExnsaE
Other payables H fth fE A~ OB 28 839,348 917,536
Interest-bearing borrowings SEEE 29
— Secured — B 44,506,065 31,420,236
— Unsecured — #E IR 40,678,875 33,059,500
85,184,940 64,479,736
Deferred tax liabilities BLEFIEEE 33 10,100,716 8,339,445
Total non-current liabilities ERBEERTE 96,125,004 73,736,717
NET ASSETS BEFHE 64,342,222 55,544,604
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FEMBRREK

31 December 2021 —Z=—F+=-A=+—H

2021 2020
—s- & —ECTF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 BT T BT IT
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to equity ZAAREZFE A
holders of the Company JE{G =
Share capital f% 72 34 17,329,537 17,329,537
Reserves s 35 34,447,950 27,732,520
51,777,487 45,062,057
Non-controlling interests FEFE AL AE S 12,564,735 10,482,547
TOTAL EQUITY BB 64,342,222 55,544,604
Wang Tianyi An Xuesong
ESPN ZER
Director Director
EFE EFE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GEERREBR

Year ended 31 December 2021 E#{ZE - ——4+—-HA=+—HIFE

Attributable to e%u\tyholdersof the Company
BRIFAAELR

Goodwill
Share arising on
capital  consolidation

FRBEEL
f LBE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
fit BETT ABTT
At 1 January 2020 RZE-EE-F—H 17,329,537 (986)
Profit for the year AEERF » - -
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year: 71@%?1@%@%{\{ (B8): _
Chan?es in fair value of other financial assets measured at fair E?}J{EEME FEMAGEY
value through other comprehensive income, net of tax HBREE 2 AR (ENRFE) - -
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations REENSREL JESZRE - -
Reclassification acjustments for foreign operations disposed of  ER5 2 K E G EHIELNER DA%
during the year - -
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year REERENA/(FR)BE = -
Dividend approved in respect of the previous year ERELEEZRE 12 - -
Transfer to reserve fund o @iﬁééﬁﬁﬁ% / - -
Capital contributions received by non wholly-owned subsidiaries  3E2EMB AT ERRRUESE 2 HEE
from non-controlling shareholders . - -
Acquisition of non-controling interests in subsiciaries WERBA T HERES 39 - -
Disposals of a subsidiary and joint ventures HENERARA %@§ 19, 38 - -
Dividend declared to non-controling shareholders of subsidiaries 2 RN BA T ERRRE R RE - -
Interim 2020 dlvidend “ECTEPHRE 12 - -
At 31 December 2020 RZE-EE+-A=1-H 17,329,537 (986)
At 1 January 2021 R-Z--F-f-H 17,329,587 (986)
Profitfor the year AREERA i - -
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year: AEER @@W% (B8
Changes in fair value of fter nancia assets measured at far (KA1 Bt AR 2 AU\ B 7
valug through other comprehensive income, net of tax ﬂﬂﬁﬁ%’ﬁﬁZ’ AEED(ENEHE) - -
Changes in far value of dbt instrument at fair value through other  #/A% [Bxf A MEWZ
comprehensive income, net of tax EIEZME 2 (B MRHE) - -
Exchange diflerences on translation of foreign operations ) 7\%1%@&2@%%%3 N - -
Reclassification adjustments for foreign operations deemed imﬁdﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁf’ﬁﬁ%/’i%ﬁ%f’ﬁﬂj HEN AR
disposed of during the year - -
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year AEEREYN/(BRAE - -
Dividend approved in respect of the previous year ERELER ZIRE 12 - -
Transfer to reserve fund BRSED - -
Capital contributions received by non wholly-owned subsidiaries ~ 3£ &% B A ARFERRER
from non-controling shareholders WG, ME S - -
Acquisition of subsidlaries WEIEAR 37 - -
Acquisition of non-controling interests in subsidiaries WENBLAEERER 39 - -
Dividend declared to non-controling shareholders of subsidiaries 2N BAR32RR R 5K 2 B8 - -
Interim 2021 dividend “E--EhiRe 12 - -
At 31 December 2021 R-B--F+-A=1-H 17,329,581 (986)*

*

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZEHEROEGCAVBMRIARATNGEEHEE
HK$34,447,950,000 (2020: HK$27,732,520,000) in the consolidated BHE34,447,950,000T (2 _FF : Bk
statement of financial position. 27,732,520,0007T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GEEREHR

Year ended 31 December 2021 E#{ZE =T ——4%+—-A=+—HIFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Gompany
RAERHE AR

Qther financial
assets and debt
instrument
measured
at fair value
Property through other Non-
revaluation Exchange  comprenensive Other Reserve Retained controling Total
reserve reserve  income reserve reserves fund profits Total interests equity
YNINEPN
q E
L Lhpiges \ ﬁ
YEE A Eiﬁﬁ REETAGE Hith e a2 2% FABER fm A%
HK$'000 $ 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
T T BT BRI AETT BT BRI BT BRI
90,512 (3,183,036) (1,004) 3,157,343 1,608,726 17,235,949 36,346,951 8,37 9628 44,726,579
- - - - - 6,015,863 6,015,363 1,211,097 7,226,960
- - (11,356) - - - (11,356) - (11,356)
- 4,240,896 - - - - 4,240,896 844,192 5,085,088
- 12,063 - - - - 12,068 - 12,068
- 4,252,959 (11,356) - - 6,015,363 10,257,466 2,055,289 12,312,755
- - - - - (798,587) (798,587) - (798,587)
- - - - 566,161 (056,161) - - -
- - - - - - - 461,372 461,372
- (22,129) - 138,373 - - 116,244 (187,068) (70,814)
- - - (978) 978 - - -
- - - - - - - (226,684) (226,684)
- - - - - (860,017) (860,017) - (860,017)
90,512 1,097,794 (12,450) 3,295,716 2,223,909 21,038,025 45,062,057 10,482,547 55,544,604
90,512 1,097,794 (12,450) 3,295,716 2,223,909 21,038,025 45,062,057 10,482,547 55,544,604
- - - - - 6,804,099 6,804,099 1,316,244 8,120,343
- - 5,151 - - - 5,151 - 5,151
- - (91,814) - - - (91,814) (39,913) (131,727)
- 2,178,111 - - - - 2,178, 463,973 2,637,744
- (25,328) - - - - (25,328) - (25,328)
- 2,148,443 (86,663) - - 6,804,099 8,865,879 1,740,304 10,606,183
- - - - - (982,876) (982,876) - (982,876)
- - - - 637,341 (637,341) - - -
- - - - - - - 267,196 267,196
- - - - - - - 406,844 406,844
- 181 - (589) - - (408) (2,113) (2,521)
- - - - - - - (330,043) (330,043)
- - - - - (1,167,165) (1,167,165) - (1,167,165)
90,512+ 3,246,418 (99,113 3,295,127 2,861,250* 25,054,742* 51,777,487 12,564,735 64,342,222
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

IIV_\éIiﬁsﬁi %%

Year ended 31 December 2021 E#{ZE - ——4+—-HA=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—B-—F —T-TF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T BET T BT T
CASH FLOWS FROM ST ETEIR &R s
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax I B3 BT & A 10,320,591 9,386,724
Adjustments for: AR R
Depreciation of property, plant and M - WE K
equipment HEITE 8 507,247 384,899
Depreciation of right-of-use assets BRHEEETE 8 70,103 60,137
Amortisation of intangible assets A E 8 1,049,614 740,592
Finance costs 158 A 7 3,079,448 2,279,149
Dividend income A& B A 6 (165) (7,966)
Interest income A B WA 6 (128,853) (97,061)
Share of profits of joint ventures Frih& & tERT (81,837) (207,929)
Share of profits of associates Fir ik Bss & A Bl & 7 (91,377) (11,353)
Fair value losses/(gains), net: AREEER (W) FE
Other financial assets — unlisted B isEE
equity investment —ELEIRAKRE 6 (968) (883)
Other financial assets — unlisted HMBEEE
investments —JEEHERE 6 58,583 48,629
Contingent consideration receivable FEW S ARE 6 - 7,814
Impairment of debtors, net FEWBR SR FE1R T 58 6 373,870 120,876
Impairment of other receivables H b fE IR IB FE1E 6 16,451 3,342
Impairment of contract assets, net BHBEEETFRE 6 135,133 66,867
Impairment of intangible assets mLEERE 6 - 216,723
Loss on disposal of contract assets  HEASXEEZ EIE 6 33,045 -
Loss on disposal of intangible assets H& &\ & 2 Eia 6 3,217 —
Loss on disposal and write-off of HERMBEME  BE &
property, plant and equipment, net B Pl b 6 4,320 28
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary ank= ) EER/N] P = 6 - 14,117
Loss on disposal/deemed disposal HE WWRELER L
of joint ventures 2 EE 6 47,366 144,087
Gain from disposal of an associate HEERE 2 W 6 (2) -
Effect of foreign exchange rates EXREH) 2 BT
changes, net (108,577) 1,220,953
15,287,209 14,369,745
Increase in inventories ZEEA0 (155,520) (179,602)
Increase in contract assets BHEEE (16,198,782) (20,222,236)
Increase in debtors, other receivables, FEUGBR R - H fth fE Uk 3k 18
deposits and prepayments BE RENR Iﬁi-jjn (5,769,855) (4,671,992)
Increase in creditors, other payables JEBRRR ~ Efb FET B K&
and accrued expenses FEET & FE N 6,236,173 3,385,735
Cash used in operations REMBACES (600,775) (7,318,350)
Interest received 2 H B 128,853 97,061
People's Republic of China ("PRC") B ffHZE A R L FE
and overseas income taxes paid ([ B ) R BINRIERS (1,090,721) (964,678)
Net cash flows used in KETHFABACRE
operating activities mE R (1,562,643) (8,185,967)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HEBEERER

Year ended 31 December 2021 E#{ZE =T ——4%+—-A=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—E-—-F —T_TF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BET T BT T
CASH FLOWS FROM KREGHFAFHREME
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Dividend received AR B 165 7,966
Purchase of items of property, plant EEYZ - BE &G
and equipment (2,148,755) (1,486,804)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME - BB RRE
property, plant and equipment P13 3K38 27,511 6,768
Principal portion of lease payments  fAEZXIB > &4 25 (62,210) (231,360)
Additions of intangible assets wERTEE (6,439,608) (5,634,799
Acquisition of subsidiaries U B B 8 A A 37 (1,855,996) (83,132)
Capital contributions to joint ventures ;T && L% (73,404) (361,378)
Capital contributions to associates B SN A - (83,578)
Disposal of a subsidiary HEHB AT 38 - 64,966
Proceeds from disposal of HEFRAEEE SR
right-of-use assets 15,474 =
Proceeds from disposal of joint HEEEDEFEHIE
ventures, net of related expenses (BEHBREMHEREREYS)
paid 19 - 709,839
Proceeds from disposal of an HEBERNE) 25K E
associate 1,222 -
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due  FEUHEE S A B RIBER A
from an associate (3&0) 8,201 (733)
Increase in non-current portion of TE{S 3R A FE RN HAEB 19 32 41
prepayments (211,461) (933,741)
Repayment from finance lease B E 1 S R BGRIEE R
receivables 727 665
Purchase of other financial assets BEAMIEERE (74,660) (236,900)
Proceeds from disposal and HE & B B H At B i & B
redemption of other financial assets P15 3A 147,471 -
Decrease in other financial assets H B 5 & B 236,900 -
Decrease in deposits with banks with 1ZEfFRE =18 A 2
maturity period over three months RITEFR A 3,488 16,105
Net cash flows used in KETHMEBEZIRE
investing activities mEFE (10,424,935)  (8,246,116)

Annual Report 2021 | —2——&4% 159



160

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HEBEERER

Year ended 31 December 2021 E#{ZE - ——4+—-HA=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—E-—-F —T_FTF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T BT T BT
CASH FLOWS FROM BMEEHFS
FINANCING ACTIVITIES RERE
Proceeds from issue of asset-backed ZETBEXZEEA([BEX
securities (“ABS”), medium-term BFEE]) PEHIZE(
notes (“MTN”), and super and short- HIZ=4Z |) & #8452 HAGL & 5
term commercial papers (“SCP”), net ([ HRE S )5
of related expenses paid FIB(BHMBRE R 30, 31, 32,
F) 40(b) 5,787,413 2,531,608
Repayment of corporate bond, ERARES BEXH
ABS and SCP EH RBE R E 5 (1,041,289) (378,889)
New bank and other loans FTIERITREMER 33,536,609 33,275,767
Repayment of bank and other loans i R1T R HEMER (17,409,971)  (16,376,8393)
Capital contributions received by non  3E2 &M B A &4 IE1Z %
wholly-owned subsidiaries from A% R UGB FT1S 2 i & &8
non-controlling shareholders 267,196 456,313
Acquisition of non-controlling interests U &% FE12 A& e 25 39 (2,521) (70,814)
Decrease in amounts due to JE A~ BT /BB~ R FEIE AR AR R
non-controlling shareholders of RIER D
subsidiaries - (16,869)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank B XRITERR L
deposits (3#0) 310,801 (263,1595)
Interest paid BEFLE 40(a) (3,039,268) (2,246,018)
Interest portion of lease payments FE A 2 A BB 7 (4,154) (4,264)
Principal portion of lease payments  fHE I8 2 K& &n (53,981) (55,296)
Dividend paid to equity holders of BNAARIERIEEAZ
the Company B B (2,150,041) (1,658,604)
Dividend paid to non-controlling ERHE AR EZERRR
shareholders of subsidiaries % & (347,417) (226,684)
Net cash flows from MEEHERERE
financing activities R 15,853,377 14,966,266
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) ReMREEFEY
IN CASH AND CASH #an, Gl ) F58
EQUIVALENTS 3,865,799  (1,465,817)
Cash and cash equivalents FYHE RIBESEEY
at beginning of year 10,860,693 11,742,819
Effect of foreign exchange fE RS E) 2 BT
rates changes, net 320,451 583,691
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS #4R4e KRS EEY
AT END OF YEAR 27 15,046,943 10,860,693
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Notes to Financial Statements
gt e IR

31 December 2021 —Z=—F+=-A=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
China Everbright Environment Group Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated
in Hong Kong. The registered office of the Company
is located at Room 2703, 27th Floor, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

During the year, the principal activities of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are construction, environmental energy project
operation (waste-to-energy plants, food and kitchen
waste treatment projects, sludge treatment and disposal
projects, leachate treatment projects, methane-to-energy
plants, fecal treatment project, fly ash landfill project,
medical waste treatment project and solid waste treatment
project), greentech project operation (integrated biomass
utilisation projects, hazardous and solid waste treatment
projects, solar energy projects and wind power projects,
and provision of environmental remediation services),
environmental water project operation (waste water
treatment plants, water supply, reusable water treatment
plants, sludge treatment, sponge city construction,
river-basin ecological restoration, waste water source
heat pump projects, leachate treatment, research and
development of water environment technologies and
engineering projects), conduct of environmental protection
technology research and development, provision of
environmental-related technological services, design
of environmental protection projects, provision of
environmental protection project equipment construction
and installation services and sales of related equipment,
provision of waste sorting, renewable resources utilisation,
sanitation operation services, sales of energy-saving
street lamps, energy management contract projects, and
investment holding.

The immediate holding company of the Company is
Guildford Limited, a limited liability company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands. In the opinion of the directors,
the ultimate holding entity of the Company is China
Investment Corporation, an entity established in the PRC.

1

ne| REEER

hEX ARG (RE)BRAA(AREN) A
—REREBEEMALZBRAA - KRB Z
AMBEECRESERET A ARERSR
PO+ EEEEER -

FA - ARAREMBAR(5HE [ AEE])
ZEBXRBREE  RRERERBABESE (1
REER EFRESRNIFREIER )5k
RIERERA  Z2RREREERE  BREE
W EEREIER RIEEFIER - BE
BEYEREREAREEREERER) SZERRA
HRHEZ(EVESEANAER - EERE
BERERAE  KAREEBEBLREATHEE - A
REHBRBEERS)  RAEKKHERBES
O5KEER ~ Kk~ FKEIAHEER - 75
RERIE - BRMTmER - REUARE - 5KIR
RRIAR - BRI A KIRRKIBE M
BRTIEEREAR) BETRERMAE
RERFBBRMRY - RFREER - &
HRAREB RERER KRS M EEHEH
£ RENESE  BEERGASNA -
REERRY - SHEDHREE - ARERE
BIHEARKREER -

NN R ZEEZEKR A A A Guildford
Limited * EARABHEBREES MK Z
EREMTEAR - BEERA W ARE ZRRE
RERATBRIGEAREERR - HARH
B 2 BEE -
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Notes to Financial Statements
gt EL IR

31 December 2021 —Z=—F+=-A=+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for investment properties, financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.
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Notes to Financial Statements
gt e IR

31 December 2021 —Z=—F+=-A=+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 21 RBIELAE ()

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

22 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

22

REEE(E)

B kA2 E KA ZEEKED R BN A
KERRREE ARHERES - AELE
SEIOFER R L IREAEHRITA - B
SEARFHZEERAE  #xm WA
SXHUARBEREEKBE R ZENRZER
MRS RED R MK B TR -

HMEERBERLBRR L =BEGEEREH
—RRZEAE  ERAKEERGENIG
HRGDAZEHNRRERTE - MEARHESR
ks 2 B8 (W EmAREEHE)RAKRES
1EHERR S

WAEEXE—ZRMBRAR ZZHE  Fe
RIFEROZMBARZEE(BERE) R
BfE  (i)ERFEIERERE ZBREE - R(i)®
ARG 2FTENY =5 RIERHE K
REZARE  (VEFRDAREZIEZEZ R
B R (B RATHIER E I E A 2 B
SRS AL o A E AT (L R 2 70 E 2 A
R EREBEAEBEERLERBEEE
REEMAKRKEZR—EEEFHEZIER
RIRBAMNCEWEEA) °

SRR ZEYH LW E

AEEERANFEZHMBHRRERERATI
RIEFTBBH RS LR -

Amendments to HKFRS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark BSMBRELENFEOR - FIEE R = —
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, Reform — Phase 2 BRLHERE395N - E-BR

HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent

Concessions

BEMBREEANETR -

BEMBREEEIR R

BEMBREENE165 BT
BEMBRERINE6K BT COVID-19458
HEHE
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Notes to Financial Statements
gt EL IR

31 December 2021 —Z=—F+=-A=+—H

22 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)
The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are
described below:

(@ Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,

HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt
with in the previous amendments which affect financial
reporting when an existing interest rate benchmark
is replaced with an alternative risk-free rate (“RFR”).
The amendments provide a practical expedient to
allow the effective interest rate to be updated without
adjusting the carrying amount of financial assets
and liabilities when accounting for changes in the
basis for determining the contractual cash flows of
financial assets and liabilities, if the change is a direct
consequence of the interest rate benchmark reform
and the new basis for determining the contractual
cash flows is economically equivalent to the previous
basis immediately preceding the change. In addition,
the amendments permit changes required by the
interest rate benchmark reform to be made to hedge
designations and hedge documentation without the
hedging relationship being discontinued. Any gains
or losses that could arise on transition are dealt
with through the normal requirements of HKFRS 9
to measure and recognise hedge ineffectiveness.
The amendments also provide a temporary relief
to entities from having to meet the separately
identifiable requirement when an RFR is designated
as a risk component. The relief allows an entity,
upon designation of the hedge, to assume that the
separately identifiable requirement is met, provided
the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk component
to become separately identifiable within the next 24
months. Furthermore, the amendments require an
entity to disclose additional information to enable users
of financial statements to understand the effect of
interest rate benchmark reform on an entity’s financial
instruments and risk management strategy.
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22 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a)

(continued)

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank
borrowings denominated in Hong Kong dollars based
on the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”)
and United States dollars based on the London
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) as at 31 December
2021. The Group expects that HIBOR will continue
to exist and the interest rate benchmark reform has
not had an impact on the Group’s HIBOR-based
borrowings. For the LIBOR-based borrowings, since
the interest rates of these instruments were not
replaced by RFRs during the year, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group. If the interest rates of these
borrowings are replaced by RFRs in a future period,
the Group will apply the above-mentioned practical
expedient upon the modification of these instruments
provided that the “economically equivalent” criterion is
met.

Amendment to HKFRS 16 provides a practical
expedient for lessees to elect not to apply lease
modification accounting for rent concessions arising as
a direct consequence of the covid-19 pandemic. The
practical expedient applies only to rent concessions
occurring as a direct consequence of the pandemic
and only if (i) the change in lease payments results in
revised consideration for the lease that is substantially
the same as, or less than, the consideration for the
lease immediately preceding the change, (ii) any
reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and (iii)
there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease. The amendment did not have
any significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.
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23 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendment to HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16
Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June
20217

Insurance Contracts?®

Insurance Contracts® ¢

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current® ®

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies?®

Definition of Accounting
Estimates?®

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction®

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?

Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and
HKAS 412
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23 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

23 EEMIBRARER CBEEHERE

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

5 As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October 2020 to
align the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

® As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in
October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary
exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than
HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a
reference to the previous Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements with a reference
to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (the
“Conceptual Framework”) issued in June 2018 without
significantly changing its requirements. The amendments
also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition
principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework
to determine what constitutes an asset or a liability. The
exception specifies that, for liabilities and contingent
liabilities that would be within the scope of HKAS 37 or
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were incurred separately rather
than assumed in a business combination, an entity
applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent
assets do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition
date. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
prospectively from 1 January 2022. Since the amendments
apply prospectively to business combinations for which the
acquisition date is on or after the date of first application,
the Group will not be affected by these amendments on the
date of transition.
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23 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

23 EEMEBRARER CBEH RS

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address
an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS
10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest
in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016
and a new mandatory effective date will be determined
after the completion of a broader review of accounting for
associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments
are available for adoption now.

Amendment to HKFRS 16 issued in April 2021 extends
the availability of the practical expedient for lessees
to elect not to apply lease modification accounting for
rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of
the covid-19 pandemic by 12 months. Accordingly, the
practical expedient applies to rent concessions for which
any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2022, provided the
other conditions for applying the practical expedient
are met. The amendment is effective retrospectively for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 with
any cumulative effect of initially applying the amendment
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits at the beginning of the current accounting
period. Earlier application is permitted.
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23 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

23 BEEMIBRARER CBEEH RS

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The
amendments specify that if an entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying
with specified conditions, the entity has a right to defer
settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting
period if it complies with those conditions at that date.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of
the liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that
are considered a settlement of a liability. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier
application is permitted.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting
policy information rather than their significant accounting
policies. Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in
an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance
on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and earlier application is permitted. Since the guidance
provided in the amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an effective date for these
amendments is not necessary. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments on the Group’s
accounting policy disclosures.
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23 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

23 EEMEBRARER CBEH RS

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined as
monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject
to measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify
how entities use measurement techniques and inputs
to develop accounting estimates. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
20283 and apply to changes in accounting policies and
changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the
start of that period. Earlier application is permitted.

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the
initial recognition exception so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are
required to recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred
tax liability for temporary differences arising from these
transactions. The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and shall be applied to transactions related to leases
and decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented, with any cumulative
effect recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained profits or other component of equity as
appropriate at that date. In addition, the amendments shall
be applied prospectively to transactions other than leases
and decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is
permitted.
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23 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

23 BEEMIBRARER CBEEH RS

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds
from selling any such items, and the cost of those items,
in profit or loss. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be
applied retrospectively only to items of property, plant and
equipment made available for use on or after the beginning
of the earliest period presented in the financial statements
in which the entity first applies the amendments. Earlier
application is permitted.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37,
the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that
relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to
a contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that
contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge
for an item of property, plant and equipment used in
fulfilling the contract as well as contract management and
supervision costs). General and administrative costs do
not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless
they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the
contract. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied
to contracts for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its
obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting period
in which it first applies the amendments. Earlier application
is permitted. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening equity at the date of initial application without
restating the comparative information.
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23 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

23 EEMEBRARER CBEH RS

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the
Group are as follows:

e HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that
an entity includes when assessing whether the terms
of a new or modified financial liability are substantially
different from the terms of the original financial
liability. These fees include only those paid or received
between the borrower and the lender, including fees
paid or received by either the borrower or lender on
the other’s behalf. An entity applies the amendment to
financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged on
or after the beginning of the annual reporting period
in which the entity first applies the amendment. The
amendment is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2022. Earlier application is
permitted.

e HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of
payments from the lessor relating to leasehold
improvements in lllustrative Example 13 accompanying
HKFRS 16. This removes potential confusion regarding
the treatment of lease incentives when applying
HKFRS 16.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial
application, but is not yet in a position to state whether
these new and revised HKFRSs would have any significant
impact on its results of operations and financial position.

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of
the investee, but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

China Everbright Environment Group Limited | Bl K3EE (%£8) AR AR

R ()

TE-N\EFE_Z_SFEFPFEUNBERE
ER| 7 FEBGESH BB SRS ERE
5 BAETEREEAFIN BEM KR
HAERIE165EMEMN 2 MRS G R BB E
B4R 2R - BB ERRAERZE
BER] 2 BT ¢

o BAYUKMEERFIFEHMTE : EF
ERAGHEENEKEENTBEE
ZIEFEREHREREEEZIERBEBAR
Hr TR IR2ER ZEZERER
BZEREFIARERAZHEE X5k
Wl ER(BREEFRARERAREKE
TSR ER) - BN E XE
REBEI 2FERERIH ZEEE
BRI RN BEERAZIERZE] - A
BTN —_E-_—F— A —H%2%&H
M2 FEEEER - BAFIREER -

o FEMBHREEREIHKEE - M=
BEP B RELRFE16RREN 2 B
FI13AHBEANBRHEEMERER
HZBE - WBEETERRAEENS
HEEAE1REAHREARERE
BEZBERSE °

AEEEENEERERAZZN RGBT
RV BHEEN ZFE - ERIEREBUORRE
BB MEERI TN HERE LS
BYHARNEE 2 KEXE MM BA R B M
BEA¥E-

24 TESITBERME

REBERAREEEEZIRE
BERRAARERMBEBEERARER—
BRADR20%Em HERHETEERTE
N2ER - BERAFENREERZERERE
BRAZHBREBEBR - L IREFI KK
I % TR



Notes to Financial Statements
gt e IR

31 December 2021 —Z=—F+=-A=+—H

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FERHBEMEE)

POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity
method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates and joint
ventures is included in the consolidated income statement
and consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint
venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes,
when applicable, in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its associates
or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s investments in the associates or joint ventures,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included
as part of the Group’s investments in associates or joint
ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joi